Alma Mater Studiorum – Università di Bologna

DOTTORATO DI RICERCA IN INGEGNERIA BIOMEDICA, ELETTRICA E DEI SISTEMI

Ciclo XXXI

Settore Concorsuale: SC 09/E1 - Elettrotecnica Settore Scientifico Disciplinare: SSD ING-IND/31 – Elettrotecnica

Dc-link current and voltage ripple analysis in single-phase and multiphase voltage source inverters

Presentata da: Marija VUJACIC

Coordinatore Dottorato

Prof. Daniele VIGO

Supervisore

Prof. Gabriele GRANDI

Esame finale anno 2019

This page is intentionally left blank

Abstract

Dc-link switching and low-frequency current and voltage ripple components in twolevel single-phase and multiphase voltage source inverters have been analyzed in this thesis. Analysis of dc-link inverter variables is important for estimating dc voltage ripple profiles that affect all the dc-link components. These ripple profiles can be used to size the dclink capacitor properly and to assess the life-span or degradation of components such as battery packs and the dc-link capacitor itself. Hence, simple and effective methods for designing the dc-link capacitor are proposed in this thesis, relating the value of capacitance to the maximum required peak-to-peak value of the dc voltage ripple.

Voltage ripple components are calculated based on the corresponding dc-link current components and by considering a non-ideal dc voltage source, representing an input filter (such as a dc reactor) or a resistive dc supply (such as a PV system). However, switching ripple analyses are also valid in most of the dc power supplies since the dc source impedance usually becomes much higher than the dc-link capacitor reactance at the inverter switching frequency. The peak-to-peak voltage switching ripple amplitude is derived over a fundamental period as a function of operational conditions: modulation index, the amplitude of phase current and power phase angle. For all presented multiphase topologies reference is made to the two most commonly applied modulation techniques, sinusoidal PWM and space vector modulation.

The initial investigation of the dc-link variables has been focused on single-phase Hbridge inverter, considering both, switching and low-frequency dc ripple components. The analysis has been further extended to the case of two-level multiphase inverters with balanced load. Some general steps in the analysis of the dc-link current and voltage switching ripple in multiphase inverters have been presented considering an odd number of phases. The approach has been specifically developed for three-, five- and seven-phase inverters. To present the behavior of the peak-to-peak dc voltage ripple amplitude, different diagrams are shown covering full range of modulation index and power phase angle. Maximum of the peak-to-peak voltage ripple amplitude is determined as a function of modulation index. The cases with different phase numbers are compared and the effect of increasing the number of phases on the dc-link capacitor sizing has been discussed.

The final analysis has also included the impact of a slight load unbalance on the dclink variables in multiphase inverters. Considered unbalance is present in practice in every multiphase ac motor, it is in order of a few percent, and introduces a low frequency instantaneous power oscillation. This reflects in low frequency (i.e. double-fundamental) current and voltage ripple on the dc-link inverter side. Therefore, the amplitudes of both ripple components are calculated and the importance of taking them into consideration for the dclink capacitor design has been discussed.

All analytical developments are validated with detailed simulations and experimental results.

This page is intentionally left blank

Acknowledgments

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to several people who have had a great impact on me and my work during my PhD studies.

First of all, my deepest gratitude goes to my supervisor, Prof Gabriele Grandi, who has led me throughout this PhD endeavor. I consider the chance to join his research group as of an immense importance for my professional and personal developments. His professional mentoring and vast technical knowledge that he has unselfishly shared with me, helped me to develop and conclude this research, as well as challenged myself, to improve and grow professionally and academically. I am particularly grateful for his dedication of time, prompt and precise feedbacks, and the moral support. I do consider myself privileged and fortunate to have had opportunity to work with him.

I wish to express my special gratitude to Prof. Emil Levi, Liverpool John Moores University, for providing me with the opportunity to spend my three-months research period within his "Electric Machines and Drives" research group. During my stay in Liverpool, I had a great opportunity to broaden my views and expend my knowledge in the area of multiphase systems. The time I spent there was an unforgettable experience for me, and I would like to thank all people from the group for making my stay that much pleasurable.

Particularly, I would like to thank Dr. Obrad Đorđević for all the help he provided to me during performed experiments in Liverpool. I appreciate his time, dedication and expertise he shared with me. I hope to keep our collaboration and friendship also in the future.

I thank the reviewers Dr. Martin Jones and Prof. Marco Mussetta for dedicating their time to review the thesis and providing helpful comments and constructive feedbacks.

I wish to express my appreciation for the support I have received during my studies as a fellow of the Institute of the Advanced Studies (ISA) and for the great opportunity to meet my beloved "Brains-in 2015" companions with whom I shared all the best and the most challenging moments during this PhD journey. I am happy to call Tatjana, Vilma, Ankush, Julija, Sandra and Vidak my *Bolognese* family today. I am also thankful to Andrea and Stefan for the warm welcome and all the help at my beginnings in Bologna.

I would like to thank to all the colleagues that I have had a chance to collaborate with from the Department of Electrical, Electronic and Information Engineering, University of Bologna, for their friendship and willingness for discussion. It is a great privilege to be a part of such an institution as an Alma Mater.

Finally, I owe the biggest gratitude to my family who has always been a source of inspiration and motivation for me. Thank you for the love and immense support, for the most important life lessons, and for your unique way to make me not feeling the distance from home wherever I am.

This page is intentionally left blank

A	bstract	I		
Acknowledgments				
ContentsV				
1.	Introduction	1		
	1.1 Motivation for Research	1		
	1.2 Research objectives and main contributions	3		
	1.3 Thesis Outline	5		
	1.4 Authored papers	6		
2.	Dc-link analysis in single-phase H-bridge inverters	7		
	2.1 Introduction	7		
	2.2 Dc-link current analysis	9		
	2.2.1 General assumptions	9		
	2.2.2 Dc-link current components	10		
	2.3 Dc-link voltage ripple analysis	12		
	2.3.1 Low-frequency voltage component	12		
	2.3.2 Switching frequency voltage component	13		
	2.4 Dc-link capacitor design	18		
	2.5 Simulation and experimental results	21		
	2.6 Discussion	28		
	References	29		
3.	Dc-link current and voltage switching ripple analysis in three-phase			
	inverters	31		
	3.1 Introduction	31		
	3.2 Modulation techniques	33		
	3.3 Dc-link current analysis	38		
	3.4 Dc-link voltage ripple analysis	40		
	3.4.1 Voltage switching ripple evaluation	40		
	3.4.1.1 Peak-to-peak voltage switching ripple with sinusoidal PWM	42		
	3.4.1.2 Peak-to-peak voltage switching ripple with SVM	43		

Contents

	3.4.2 Maximum of the voltage switching ripple	46
	3.5 Dc-link capacitor design	47
	3.6 Simulation and experimental results	49
	3.7 Discussion	58
	References	
4	Dc-link current and voltage switching rinnle analysis in multinhase	
	inverters	61
	4.1 Introduction	61
	4.2 Modulation techniques	63
	4.3 Dc-link current analysis	72
	4.4 Dc-link voltage ripple analysis	73
	4.4.1 Five-phase inverter	73
	4.4.1.1 Peak-to-peak voltage switching ripple with sinusoidal PWM	74
	4.4.1.2 Peak-to-peak voltage switching ripple with SVM	76
	4.4.2 Seven-phase inverter	78
	4.4.2.1 Peak-to-peak voltage switching ripple with sinusoidal PWM	78
	4.4.2.2 Peak-to-peak voltage switching ripple with SVM	81
	4.5 Voltage switching ripple comparison in multiphase inverters	83
	4.5.1 Maximum of the peak-to-peak voltage ripple amplitude	85
	4.5.2 Dc-link capacitor design	87
	4.6 Simulation and experimental results	88
	4.6.1 Five-phase inverter	90
	4.6.2 Seven-phase inverter	94
	4.7 Discussion	97
	References	98
_		
5.	Dc-link low-frequency voltage ripple analysis in three-phase and multi-	101
	phase myerters with unbaranceu loau	.101
	5.1 General consideration of voltage and current unbalance	101
	5.2 Three-phase inverters with unbalanced load	102
	5.2.1 Basic definitions and transformations for three-phase systems	103
	5.2.2 Low-frequency current and voltage ripple analysis	105
	5.2.3 Assessment of current sequence components	106
	5.2.4 Definitions of the current unbalance level	110

	5.2.5 Simulation and experimental results	112
	5.3 Multiphase inverters with unbalanced load	116
	5.3.1 Extended transformations for multiphase systems	116
	5.3.2 Low-frequency current and voltage ripple analysis	119
	5.3.3 Assessment of current sequence components	121
	5.3.4 Simulation and experimental results	122
	5.3.4.1 Five-phase inverter	122
	5.3.4.2 Seven–phase inverter	125
	5.4 Dc-link capacitor design based on low-frequency voltage ripple component	128
	5.5 Discussion	130
	References	131
6.	Conclusion	133
	6.1 Summary and conclusions	133
	6.2 Outlook	134

This page is intentionally left blank

Chapter 1 <u>Introduction</u>

1.1 Motivation for Research

Move to a more energy efficient and sustainable society is an objective shared by many countries worldwide. One of the key technologies in that transition is power electronics which enable conversion of electrical energy from one stage to another. Due to the continuous improvements and new developments in power electronics components, the range of their applications has greatly expended over the last years, such as in electrical power generation, transmission, distribution and end-user electricity consumption.

In recent years, the major requirements that have been set by industrial and energy sector are high reliability and efficiency of power electronics systems, as well as low operational and maintenance cost. To achieve the desired electrical performance of the system, within acceptable price, it is necessary to properly size and design power electronics components. Besides active semiconductor power devices, capacitors are another type of components that fail more frequently than other parts in power electronics systems.

Dc-link capacitors in voltage source inverters (VSIs) have multiple and critical role in the system. They serve to balance the instantaneous power difference between the input source and output load, as well as to reduce the emission of electromagnetic interference (EMI) and to limit voltage/current ripple both for steady-state and transient. As a consequence of the high-frequency PWM switching in an inverter, high frequency current ripple component is injected to the dc-link. On the other side, depending on the source and inverter topology, low frequency ripple component can be injected from the source side. The presence of high ripple currents on the dc-link side causes the increase of capacitor's core temperature, and thus accelerates the degradation of the capacitor itself. The dc-link voltage ripple results in undesirable impact on the reliability of the dc-link capacitors. Therefore, current and voltage dc-link ripple components are considered as crucial factors for the dc-link capacitor design and its lifetime prediction analyses.

The research effort related to the selection on the dc-link capacitor type in voltage source inverters has been mainly focused on the investigation of the current ripple spectrum. By calculating the current ripple stress and depending on the required capacitance, a preliminary capacitor design can be determined. There are, however, different perspectives on the challenges in the design and selection of dc-link capacitors. Some of them are the reduction of weight and volume, the ensurement of high reliability for exposure to harsh environments (in emerging applications, high ambient temperature, excessive humidity, etc.), the prevention of overheating, the extension of life time and cost reduction. For instance, in real-world applications, such as the applications of renewable energy, the ambient temperature profile and the degradation of the power electronic components, such as the dc-link capacitor itself and the switching devices, could affect the dc-link current ripple components and should be also taken into account. Hence, considering various factors such as the ambient temperature, energy dump handling capability, capacitor parasitics, the maximum tolerable dc-link voltage, overall system stability when multiple power converters and sources/loads are connected to a common dc-link capacitor, the sizing of this capacitor turns to be complex task.

Usually, in order to simplify the theoretical analysis, the power converters are assumed to be lossless and parasitic elements of the dc-link capacitors - an equivalent series resistor (ESR) and the equivalent series inductor (ESL or L_s) - are neglected. The equivalent series resistance represents the conducting and dielectric losses of the capacitor while the inductance is introduced by the leads or terminals of the capacitor as well as the inner construction of the capacitor itself. However, depending on a given application and the type of the capacitor, the parasitic elements can significantly affect capacitor's performance for high frequencies. To understand if said parameters have the effect on the dc-link current and voltage ripple, a capacitor is most commonly modelled as a series connection of an ideal capacitor (C) and its parasitic elements. By comparing the inverter's switching frequency with the self-resonance frequency of the dc-link capacitor, the effect of L_s can be established. Similarly, to establish the effect of ESR, a comparison between the ESR and the value of $sqrt(L_s/C)$ should be also made. For the switching frequencies well below the self-resonant frequency of the dc-link capacitor, its inductive reactance is negligible comparing to the capacitive reactance, and the same applies to ESR if it has similar or lower value compared to $\operatorname{sqrt}(L_s/C)$. Usually, in application such as inverter-fed drives an adopted dc-link capacitor is in the order of few hundred or thousand uF, and the resulting selfresonant frequency is always higher comparing to the switching frequency. This means that, for said application, the effects of capacitor's parasitic elements on the dc-link voltage ripple are negligible at the switching frequency.

Depending on the wide range of power electronics applications different inverter topologies are utilized and consequently various types of capacitors are adopted. Singlephase voltage source inverters cover mostly the low-power range applications. With simple structure they are widely used in industry applications such as uninterruptible power supply (UPS), power supplies and renewable energy conversion system. In medium- and highpower applications, such as three-phase variable speed drives, flexible ac transmission systems (FACTs), stand-alone and grid-connected power generation systems, the most frequently utilized power inverters by far are the three-phase two-level ones. This is mainly due to the wide off-the-shelf availability of both three-phase machines and converters. However, for some specialized applications, such as the high-power industrial applications, electric and hybrid electric vehicles (EVs), railway traction, ship propulsion, "moreelectric" aircraft, etc., three-phase drives usually do not satisfy certain specifications and the multiphase inverter-fed variable-speed drives appear as a preferable solution. Multiphase power inverters can be built with an arbitrary number of phases and from the hardware point of view the only necessity is to have equal number of inverter legs and phases. Among many beneficial features of multiphase inverter-fed drives which make them highly desirable solutions for aforementioned high-power applications, particularly important ones are reduced current (power) rating of the semiconductor switches and excellent faulttolerant operation features.

The type selection and design of the capacitor in the dc-link of inverters is dictated by the application requirements and circuit parameters. Generally, fundamental and widely used capacitors are: aluminum electrolytic and film capacitors. They are used in both low and high-power applications covering the wide range of size, voltage and capacitance variations. Conventional capacitor design strategies have been using the set of aluminum electrolytic capacitors due to their high capacitance per unit volume and good price over performance ratio. This type of capacitor is particularly suitable in the applications such as the diode/thyristor rectifier front-end where the low-frequency current ripple is imposed at the input (dc-link) side, consequently introducing the large dc-link voltage ripple. However, in case of high frequency ripple current, a single low-inductance high-current film capacitor could be a good alternative option reducing its size, improving reliability and significantly reducing voltage spikes. Moreover, a use of film capacitor allows the life expectancy to be extended and lower value of capacitance is needed in comparison with an electrolytic counterpart. The reason is that a film capacitor is limited by the maximum dc-link voltage ripple rather than by the ripple current rating.

Most of the analysis related to the dc-link current and voltage ripple of the inverters are based on RMS calculations. However, there is a lack of analysis related to the peak-topeak voltage ripple behavior particularly for two-level multiphase inverters. This thesis is devoted towards the analysis of the dc-link current and voltage ripple components in twolevel single-phase and multiphase voltage source inverters aiming to provide simple guidelines for designing the dc-link capacitor based on developed strategy.

1.2 Research objectives and main contributions

The principal objective of this research has been the development of a novel methodology to mathematically model and analyse the dc-link peak-to-peak voltage switching and low-frequency ripple components that could be used for the dc-link capacitor design. It has been focused on two-level single-phase and multiphase inverters with an odd number of phases. Initially, only balanced loads have been considered such as multiphase ac motors. Postliminary, a small degree of unbalance, always present in real-world applications, has been also examined. Theoretical approach has been verified by numerical simulations and comprehensive experimental tests for all considered inverter topologies.

The main objectives of this research can be summarized as follows:

1. To calculate the dc-link current ripple components in single-phase and multiphase inverters with the dc-source impedance, considering balanced and (slightly) unbalanced load conditions.

2. To perform theoretical investigation of the dc-link voltage switching and low-frequency ripple components in single-phase H-bridge inverter, and to calculate the peak-to-peak dc-link voltage ripple envelopes. To prove theoretical analysis by means of numerical simulations and experimental tests.

3. To extend the analysis of the dc-link peak-to-peak voltage switching ripple component to multiphase inverters with an odd number of phases, with special emphasize on three-, five- and seven-phase inverters. To apply two most popular modulation techniques to all examined inverter configurations and to make a comparison within different cases. To verify the analytical approach by numerical simulations and experimental tests.

4. To investigate the impact of slightly unbalanced load on the dc-link variables in threephase inverters. To calculate the current sequence components and to estimate the current unbalance level. To determine the amplitudes of the dc-link low-frequency current and voltage ripple components. To verify the analytical developments by numerical simulations and experimental tests.

5. To extend the analysis of low-frequency current and voltage ripple components to the general *n*-phase case. To calculate the current sequence components and the amplitude of the low-frequency voltage ripple. To provide numerical and experimental tests for five-and seven-phase inverters and to make comparison within considered cases.

5. To propose the dc-link capacitor design based on the dc-link switching and lowfrequency voltage ripple requirements for all mentioned inverter topologies. To investigate the impact of increasing the number of phases on the dc-link capacitor sizing.

Significant new knowledge and original contribution have been produced by achieving the objectives listed above. A particular contribution has been achieved by the development of the dc-link variables for the two-level seven-phase inverters. Also, important is the comparison of the maximum peak-to-peak value of the dc-link voltage switching ripple amplitude within different inverter topologies and its effect on the dc-link capacitor design. The effect of slightly unbalanced load to the dc-link variables in multiphase inverters has been also investigated for the first time in this thesis. The original contribution is partially evidenced by the already published journal and conference papers that are given in the following sub-section 1.4.

1.3 Thesis outline

The thesis is structurally divided into six chapters and original contribution is provided by Chapters 2-5.

Chapter 1 presents the main concepts of the thesis together with the motivations supporting the study performed, research objectives and original contributions which have been produced by achieving them.

Chapter 2 introduces the dc-link current and voltage ripple analysis for the most fundamental configuration used for dc/ac power conversion – single-phase H-bridge inverter with dc source impedance. Both low-frequency and switching frequency dc-link voltage ripple components are analyzed. Based on the dc-link voltage ripple requirements, the design of the dc-link capacitor is proposed. The theoretical analysis is accompanied with the numerical simulations and experimental results.

Chapter 3 extends the analysis of the dc-link current and voltage ripple to two-level three-phase inverters with balanced load. A brief overview of two most commonly applied modulation techniques is provided. Dc-link voltage switching ripple envelope is derived and its maximum peak-to-peak value is calculated. The dc-link capacitor design is proposed relating the value of capacitance to the maximum value of the voltage switching ripple amplitude. Numerical simulations and experimental results are included to support the theoretical developments.

Chapter 4 deals with the analysis of the dc-link variables in two-level multiphase inverters with an odd number of phases, considering balanced load. A short review of two most popular PWM techniques for multiphase inverters, sinusoidal and space vector, is given. The dc-link voltage switching ripple envelope is calculated focusing on five- and seven-phase inverters. The comparison in terms of the peak-to-peak voltage switching ripple amplitude is made considering different number of phases, two modulation techniques and different operational conditions. The impact of the dc-link capacitor's parasitic elements on the dc-link voltage ripple has been also examined. Simple guidelines for designing the dc-link capacitor are proposed. Obtained theoretical results are verified by numerical and experimental tests.

Chapter 5 examines the impact of slightly unbalanced load on the dc-link current and voltage ripple in three-phase and multiphase inverters. An overview of the most popular transformations applied for the analysis of three-phase and multiphase systems is provided. Different methods for calculating the current sequence components, as well as for estimating the current unbalance level are presented. Furthermore, the methods are adopted, and the amplitude of low-frequency voltage ripple component is calculated on the basis of the corresponding dc-link current component. Although theoretical findings are general, the focus is set on three-, five- and seven-phase inverter configurations. A dc-link capacitor design methodology is proposed based on the low-frequency voltage ripple requirements. The numerical simulations and experimental results are included.

Chapter 6 gives the main conclusions of the thesis and discuss future perspectives.

1.4 Authored papers

- Journal Publications
 - **M. Vujacic**, M. Hammami, M. Srndovic and G. Grandi, "Analysis of dc-link voltage switching ripple in three-phase PWM inverters," *Energies*, vol. 11, Feb. 2018.
 - **M. Vujacic**, M. Hammami, M. Srndovic and G. Grandi, "Theoretical and experimental investigation of switching ripple in the dc-link voltage of single-phase H-bridge PWM inverters," *Energies*, vol.10, Aug. 2017.
- International Conference Proceedings
 - D. X. Llano, **M. Vujacic**, R. A. McMahon, "Dc voltage ripple estimation in high performance electric power-trains," *in Proc. IEEE ICIT*, Melbourne, Australia, Feb 2019.
 - **M. Vujacic**, O. Dordevic and G. Grandi, "Evaluation of dc-link voltage ripple in seven-phase PWM voltage source inverters," *in Proc. IEEE INTELEC*, Torino, Italy, Oct. 2018.
 - **M. Vujacic**, M. Hammami, O. Dordevic and G. Grandi, "Evaluation of dc-link voltage ripple in five-phase PWM voltage source inverters," *in Proc. IET PEMD*, Liverpool, U.K., Apr. 2018.
 - M. Hammami, **M. Vujacic** and G. Grandi, "Dc-link current and voltage ripple harmonics in three-phase three-level flying capacitor inverter with sinusoidal carrier-based PWM," *in Proc. IEEE ICIT*, Lyon, France, Feb. 2018.
 - **M. Vujacic**, M. Hammami, M. Srndovic and G. Grandi, "Evaluation of dc voltage ripple in three-phase PWM voltage source inverters," *in Proc. IEEE ISIE*, Edinburgh, U.K., June 2017.
 - M. Vujacic, M. Srndovic, M. Hammami and G. Grandi, "Evaluation of dc voltage ripple in single-phase H-bridge PWM inverters," *in Proc. IEEE IE-CON*, Florence, Italy, Oct. 2016.

Chapter 2

Dc-link analysis in single-phase H-bridge inverters

2.1 Introduction

Single-phase full-bridge (H-bridge) inverter is the most fundamental configuration used for DC/AC power conversion. It presents the basis for other various power topologies such as three-phase and multiphase inverters with different output voltage levels. Essentially, it is made up of two single-phase legs connected to the common dc bus. Each leg consists of two series connected switches, which are formed by the parallel combination of an insulated gate bipolar transistor (IGBT) type controlled switch and inverse conducting diode. Such a switch combination permits bidirectional current flow but requires only one polarity of voltage blocking activity. The general structure of a single-phase full-bridge (Hbridge) inverter is shown in Fig. 2.1.

The single-phase configuration is used in many low-power applications, either grid connected or stand-alone, with special emphasis on the interface of renewable energy sources in distributed generation systems, such as photovoltaic (PV) power plants. A comprehensive survey of different inverter topologies for connecting PV modules to a single-phase grid has been given by [2.1]. Different standards that inverters for PV and grid applications must fulfill have been covered too, focusing on power quality, the maximum allowable amount of injected dc current into the grid, detection of islanding operation, and system grounding. One interesting thing that has been pointed out is that the voltage ripple amplitude should not be above 8.5% of the maximum power point (MPP) in order to reach a utilization ratio of 98%.

The efficiency and power quality of the inverter operation is directly related to its modulation. For the single-phase H-bridge inverters the simplest and the most widely used control method is the high frequency sinusoidal pulse width modulation (SPWM). The two switches in each phase leg are modulated in a complementary pattern by a simple comparison between a high-frequency triangular carrier waveform and a low-frequency sinusoidal reference waveform. When the reference waveform is greater than the carrier, the phase leg should be switched to the upper (positive) side of the dc-link. In contrary, if the carrier waveform is greater than the reference waveform the phase leg should be switched to the lower (negative) side of the dc-link. The resultant phase leg output should have the reference waveform as a fundamental component. Detailed analysis of carrier-based PWM

techniques for two level and multilevel, single-phase and three-phase VSIs is given in [2.2] where the techniques are compared analytically using two-dimensional Fourier approach for signal spectrum calculation.

When SPWM is applied to single-phase inverters, employed switching frequency is usually much higher than fundamental frequency. As a result, the low order harmonics are very small and the total harmonic distortion (THD) in the line current is a function of switching frequency, with higher frequency resulting in lower THD and smaller filter requirements. On the other side, the switching losses in the inverter increase proportionally to the switching frequency. In order to achieve good compromise between the switching losses and the ripple requirements, optimal variable switching frequency scheme is proposed on the basis of the peak-to-peak and RMS values of current ripple [2.3]. The current quality of PWM based inverter is evaluated in [2.4] for a single-phase inverter with an arbitrary number of voltage levels. The analysis is carried out in time domain using current ripple normalized mean squared (NMS) criterion.

Referring to the input side of single-phase inverters, a critical characteristic seems to be the double-fundamental frequency harmonic on the dc-link. The conventional way to deal with the input current ripple, and in general to maintain the dc-link stability in singlephase inverters, is to connect a considerably large capacitor (usually aluminum electrolytic) to the dc-link. Consequently, it leads to a massive converter volume and low power density. In order to avoid the use of a large capacitor, the minimum energy and capacitance requirements for the dc-link capacitor are discussed in [2.5]. A comprehensive dc-link voltage control strategy for minimizing the dc-link capacitance in single-phase gridconnected photovoltaic inverters has been proposed in [2.6]. The development is based on the analysis of a double fundamental frequency voltage ripple across the dc-link. Another control technique aiming to reduce the power oscillation and, consequently, the dc-link capacitor size in a single-phase full-bridge converter has been proposed in [2.7]. However, the technique is suitable for applications with the same input and output converter frequency. Analysis of the dc-link capacitor current harmonics in single-phase H-bridge inverters is given in [2.8], where the individual harmonics of the dc-link current with sinusoidal and overlaid harmonic output currents are calculated based on the double Fourier analysis. Investigations of voltage and current ripples in the dc supply voltage of PV arrays, considering only double-fundamental frequency, are presented in [2.9]. The dc-link switching harmonic current RMS equations have been derived in [2.10] under arbitrary low-order harmonics in the AC current.

In this chapter, the dc-link voltage ripple is analyzed in terms of the peak-to-peak value. Namely, the peak-to-peak voltage ripple envelope has been calculated considering both voltage ripple components: low (double-fundamental) frequency and high (switching) frequency. The voltage ripple components are analytically calculated based on the corresponding dc-link current components and by considering the total dc-link impedance.

Peak-to-peak value is defined as the difference between the maximum and the minimum value of the voltage ripple within the considered period. Based on voltage ripple requirements simple guidelines when designing the dc-link capacitor have been presented. Numerical simulations and experimental results are included to verify the analytical analysis. Finally, the results are briefly discussed in the last section of the chapter.

Original contribution of this chapter has been presented, and the content of the following sections has been used, in one conference [2.11] and one journal paper [2.12].

2.2 Dc-link current analysis

2.2.1 General assumptions

The general configuration of a single-phase full-bridge (H-bridge) inverter is shown in Fig. 2.1. The inverter is connected to a constant dc voltage supply (V_{dc}). The equivalent series dc source impedance is modelled by Z_{dc} , representing an input filter (such as a dc reactor) or a resistive dc supply (such as a PV system). The dc-link capacitor C is required to maintain the dc-link voltage and to handle current and voltage ripple. The power semiconductor switches are assumed to be ideal in order to simplify theoretical analysis. The load is represented by a passive R_L - L_L load or, if the inverter is connected to the electrical grid, by a sinusoidal grid voltage v_g . In case of the grid connection R_L and L_L would present a liking inductance with its inner resistance.



Fig. 2.1: A single-phase full-bridge (H-bridge) inverter.

Considering the linear region of modulation and neglecting the dc-link voltage oscillations compared to its average value ($v \approx V$), the desired inverter output voltage, averaged over the switching period T_{sw} , is sinusoidal and defined as:

$$v_0^* = mV\sin(9),$$
 (2.1)

where $\vartheta = \omega t$, $\omega = 2\pi/T$ is the fundamental angular frequency and *T* is the fundamental period. Modulation index *m* is defined as the ratio of the fundamental output phase voltage magnitude and the dc supply voltage. When the switching frequency is much higher than the fundamental frequency, the reference signal is considered constant over one switching period. The output voltage and its fundamental component (averaged value) are shown in Fig. 2.2.



Fig. 2.2: Ideal PWM inverter output voltage (instantaneous component, blue trace) and its averaged counterpart (fundamental component, red trace) in case of $V_{dc} = 100$ V and m = 1.

Considering sinusoidal output voltage (2.1) and neglecting the switching ripple, the inverter output current is expressed as a sinusoid as well:

$$i_0 = I_0 \sin(\vartheta - \varphi), \qquad (2.2)$$

where I_0 is the output current amplitude, and φ is the power phase angle.

2.2.2 Dc-link current components

The instantaneous dc-link current i(t), shown in Fig. 2.3, is composed of three components: dc (average) component $I = I_{dc}$, low-frequency (double-fundamental frequency, i.e. 100Hz) component $\tilde{i}(t)$ and switching frequency component $\Delta i(t)$. Therefore, the dclink current is expressed as:

$$i(t) = I_{dc} + \tilde{i}(t) + \Delta i(t).$$
(2.3)

The dc-link current averaged over the switching period T_{sw} represents the low-frequency input current harmonics and can be expressed as:

$$\bar{i} = I_{dc} + \tilde{i} \ . \tag{2.4}$$

Under the assumption of ideal circuit conditions such as constant dc-link voltage equal to *V*, and lossless switches, the input/output power balance can be written as:

$$V\,\overline{i} = v_0\,i_0\,. \tag{2.5}$$

Introducing (2.1) and (2.2) in (2.5), the averaged dc-link current is calculated as:

$$\overline{i} = m I_0 \sin \vartheta \sin (\vartheta - \varphi) = \frac{m I_0}{2} \Big[\cos \varphi - \cos \left(2\vartheta - \varphi \right) \Big].$$
(2.6)

The average and the low-frequency (double-fundamental frequency) dc-link current components, can be simply expressed and readily obtained by (2.4) and (2.6) as:

$$I_{dc} = \frac{mI_0}{2}\cos\varphi, \qquad (2.7)$$

$$\tilde{i} = -\frac{1}{2}mI_0\cos(2\vartheta - \phi).$$
 (2.8)

Further, the amplitude of the low-frequency dc-link current component can be expressed as:

$$\tilde{I}_{pk} = \frac{1}{2}mI_0 \ . \tag{2.9}$$

According to the expressions for the dc-link current and its components given by (2.3), (2.4) and (2.6), the switching frequency current component can be calculated as:

$$\Delta i = i - \overline{i} = I_0 \sin(\vartheta - \varphi) \left(1 - m \sin \vartheta\right). \tag{2.10}$$



Fig. 2.3: Dc-link inverter current (red trace), its averaged counterpart (green trace), and average component (dashed line) in case of m = 1, $I_0 = 5$ A and $\varphi = 60^\circ$.

2.3. Dc-link voltage ripple analysis

Similarly to the inverter dc-link current, the instantaneous dc-link voltage can be expressed by three relevant components: dc (average) component V, low-frequency (double-fundamental) component \tilde{v} and switching frequency component Δv :

$$v(t) = V + \tilde{v}(t) + \Delta v(t) .$$
(2.11)

Each voltage component can be calculated on the basis of the corresponding current component and by considering the dc-link equivalent impedance calculated at the relevant frequency component, as it will be shown in the following.

2.3.1 Low-frequency voltage component

The average component V is calculated by subtracting the voltage drop on the series dc source resistance R from the dc supply voltage V_{dc} as:

$$V = V_{dc} - RI_{dc} \,. \tag{2.12}$$

The low-frequency dc-link voltage component \tilde{v} can be calculated on the basis of the corresponding input current component, given by (2.8), and the dc-link equivalent impedance Z_{2f} , as follows:

$$\tilde{v} = Z_{2f} \frac{m I_0}{2} \cos(29 - \phi + \phi_z).$$
 (2.13)

Subscript 2*f* stands to highlight that the frequency at which the impedance is calculated is double-fundamental (i.e. 100 Hz). Being Z_{2f} the parallel between the dc source impedance Z_{dc} and the reactance of the dc-link capacitor, following equations are obtained for the magnitude and the phase angle of the dc-link equivalent impedance:

$$Z_{2f} = \frac{1}{2\omega C} \sqrt{\frac{R^2 + (2\omega L)^2}{R^2 + \left(2\omega L - \frac{1}{2\omega C}\right)^2}},$$
 (2.14)

$$\varphi_z = \arctan\left[\frac{2\omega L}{R} \left(1 - 4\omega^2 L C - \frac{R^2 C}{L}\right)\right].$$
(2.15)

Finally, the amplitude or the peak value of the low-frequency voltage ripple component is given by:

$$\tilde{V}_{pk} = Z_{2f}\tilde{I}_{pk} \quad . \tag{2.16}$$

2.3.2 Switching frequency voltage component

Instantaneous dc-link current (red trace) and voltage ripple (blue trace) are depicted in Fig. 2.4 over the switching period T_{sw} . Considering sinusoidal PWM, the "on-time" interval t_{on} can be calculated as:

$$t_{on} = m\sin \vartheta T_{sw}. \tag{2.17}$$

Being the switching frequency much higher than the double-fundamental frequency, the variation of the low-frequency dc-link voltage component within the switching period T_{sw} can be neglected. The peak-to-peak amplitude of the switching frequency dc-link voltage component Δv_{pp} can be defined as the difference between its maximum and minimum value within the switching period:

$$\Delta v_{pp} = \max\left\{\Delta v(t)\right\}_{T_{SW}} - \min\left\{\Delta v(t)\right\}_{T_{SW}}.$$
(2.18)



Fig. 2.4: Dc-link current and voltage ripple in one switching period T_{sw} .

In order to obtain the peak-to-peak voltage switching ripple Δv_{pp} , the dc-link switching frequency current component Δi has to be determined first. For determining the switching ripple components, an equivalent circuit of the dc-link inverter side is introduced in Fig. 2.5, with the reactances referred to the switching frequency ($\omega_{sw} = 2\pi f_{sw}$).

One can see that the equivalent dc source impedance, $Z_{dc}(\omega_{sw})$, and the reactance of the dc-link capacitor *C*, $1/(\omega_{sw}C)$, are connected in parallel. Assuming that the capacitor reactance is much smaller than the equivalent dc source impedance (calculated at the switching frequency), the whole switching frequency current ripple component (Δi) circulates only through the dc-link capacitor. In this case, only the capacitance value is determining the amplitude of the voltage switching ripple. Note that this assumption is generally considered for the analysis of the dc voltage switching ripple component in this thesis. As a consequence, the dc-link equivalent impedance becomes:



Fig. 2.5: Equivalent circuit of the inverter dc-bus for switching frequency components.

Introducing the "on-time" interval t_{on} calculated in (2.17), the corresponding peakto-peak switching voltage ripple over the interval (0– t_{on}) is given by:

$$\Delta v_{pp} = \frac{1}{C} \int_{0}^{t_{on}} \Delta i \, dt \,. \tag{2.20}$$

The peak-to-peak dc-link voltage switching ripple amplitude can be calculated utilizing the switching frequency current component (2.10), the "on-time" interval t_{on} (2.17), and (2.20). Finally, it is expressed as:

$$\Delta v_{pp} = \frac{I_0 T_{sw}}{C} m \left| \sin \vartheta \sin (\vartheta - \varphi) (1 - m \sin \vartheta) \right|.$$
(2.21)

The normalization of Δv_{pp} can be introduced as follows:

$$\Delta v_{pp} = \frac{I_0 T_{sw}}{C} r_{pp} (m, \vartheta, \varphi) , \qquad (2.22)$$

leading to the simplified expression of the normalized peak-to-peak voltage switching ripple amplitude $r_{pp}(m, \vartheta, \varphi)$:

$$r_{pp}(m, \vartheta, \varphi) = \left| m \sin \vartheta \sin (\vartheta - \varphi)(1 - m \sin \vartheta) \right|.$$
(2.23)

In order to predict the behavior of the dc voltage switching ripple, the distribution of the normalized peak-to-peak voltage switching ripple amplitude r_{pp} is shown in Fig. 2.6.



Fig. 2.6: Normalized peak-to-peak dc-link voltage ripple amplitude $r_{pp}(\vartheta)$ over the halffundamental period [0, 180°] for different modulation indices, m = 0.25, 0.5, 0.75 and 1, and power phase angle $\varphi = 0^{\circ}$ (**a**), 30° (**b**), 60° (**c**) and 90° (**d**).

Dc voltage switching ripple component is calculated by (2.23) and shown over the half-fundamental period i.e., $\vartheta = [0, 180^{\circ}]$. In order to cover full range of operational con-

ditions, four values of modulation index have been selected m = 0.25, 0.5, 0.75 and 1, and four power phase angles have been considered, $\varphi = 0, 30^{\circ}, 60^{\circ}$, and 90°.

It can be seen in Fig. 2.6 that the amplitude of the normalized peak-to-peak voltage switching ripple $r_{pp}(\vartheta)$ ranges between 0 (minimum) and 0.25 (maximum). In each of four considered cases of power phase angle, the $r_{pp}(\vartheta)$ minimum and $r_{pp}(\vartheta)$ maximum appear at different angles ϑ for different values of modulation index *m* over the half-fundamental period. For two phase angles $\varphi = 0^{\circ}$ and $\varphi = 90^{\circ}$, voltage ripple distributions are symmetrical with regard to the middle of the considered half-fundamental period. For other values of phase angle, no symmetry in the voltage ripple distributions is noticed. The maximum of the peak-to-peak voltage switching ripple amplitude changes with different operational conditions what will be examined in the following analysis.

In the case of a unity output power factor ($\varphi = 0^{\circ}$), which corresponds to most of the grid-connected applications, the maximum of the normalized peak-to-peak voltage switching ripple amplitude is obtained from (2.23) as:

$$r_{pp}^{\max}(m,\phi=0^{\circ}) = \begin{cases} m(1-m) & \text{for } 0 \le m \le \frac{2}{3} \\ \frac{4}{27} \frac{1}{m} & \text{for } \frac{2}{3} \le m \le 1 \end{cases}.$$
(2.24)

Fig. 2.7 shows the maximum of the normalized peak-to-peak voltage ripple amplitude r_{pp}^{max} over the whole modulation index range, for $\varphi = 0^{\circ}$, 30° , 60° , and 90° . In the case of $\varphi = 0^{\circ}$, r_{pp}^{max} is analytically determined by (2.24) (blue trace), while for the other three cases it is obtained numerically.



Fig. 2.7: Maximum of normalized peak-to-peak voltage switching ripple amplitude for different power phase angles $\varphi = 0^\circ$, 30° , 60° and 90° .

It can be noticed that for the modulation index range $(0\div0.5)$ the maximum of voltage switching ripple amplitude increases with increasing modulation index. The behavior is the same for all considered power phase angles. However, for the higher values of modulation index, the maximum changes variously for different phase angles. Namely, in case of lower phase angles the maximum decreases with increasing the modulation index value and increases for the higher values of phase angle. However, the global maximum is always in 0.25 except for $\phi = 90^{\circ}$ when it is in 0.22.

Since the instantaneous dc-link voltage switching ripple $\Delta v(t)$ is a symmetric triangular waveform with the amplitude corresponding to the half of the peak-to-peak ripple envelope ($\Delta v_{pp}/2$), the root mean square (RMS) value of the triangular signal ΔV_{rms} can be easily determined by dividing its peak value by $\sqrt{3}$. In the case of variable amplitude, the RMS over a (half) fundamental period can be calculated as:

$$\Delta V_{rms} = \sqrt{\frac{1}{\pi} \int_{0}^{\pi} \Delta v^2 \, d\vartheta} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}} \sqrt{\frac{1}{\pi} \int_{0}^{\pi} \left(\frac{1}{2} \Delta v_{pp}\right)^2 \, d\vartheta} \,. \tag{2.25}$$

Introducing (2.21) into (2.25), yields:

$$\Delta V_{rms} = \frac{I_0 T_{sw}}{C} \frac{m}{4\sqrt{3}} \sqrt{\left(\frac{m^2}{2} - \frac{16}{5\pi}m + \frac{1}{2}\right)} \cos\left(2\varphi\right) + \left(\frac{3}{4}m^2 - \frac{16}{3\pi}m + 1\right)}.$$
(2.26)

After normalization of (2.26) as in (2.22), one has for the normalized dc-link voltage switching ripple RMS:

$$r_{rms}(m,\varphi) = \frac{m}{4\sqrt{3}} \sqrt{\left(\frac{m^2}{2} - \frac{16}{5\pi}m + \frac{1}{2}\right)} \cos\left(2\varphi\right) + \left(\frac{3}{4}m^2 - \frac{16}{3\pi}m + 1\right)}.$$
(2.27)

Fig. 2.8 shows the normalized dc-link voltage switching ripple RMS given by (2.27) as a function of the modulation index *m* for different power phase angles φ . It can be noted that there is one value of the modulation index when $r_{\rm rms}$ becomes completely independent on the power phase angle φ , and it depends only on *m*. By exploiting (2.27), this specific value of *m* corresponds to the following condition:

$$\frac{m^2}{2} - \frac{16}{5\pi}m + \frac{1}{2} = 0.$$
(2.28)

Solving (2.28) results to:

$$m = \frac{16 - \sqrt{256 - 25\pi^2}}{5\pi} = 0.825 . \tag{2.29}$$

Introducing (2.29) into (2.27), the corresponding normalized dc-link voltage switching ripple RMS is: $r_{\rm rms}$ (m = 0.825) $\cong 0.04$, according to the diagram in Fig. 2.8.



Fig. 2.8: RMS of normalized voltage switching ripple as a function of modulation index for $\phi = 0^{\circ}$, 30° , 60° and 90° .

2.4 Dc-link capacitor design

In this section, simple and effective guidelines when selecting the dc-link capacitor in single-phase H-bridge inverters are proposed. The capacitance can be calculated taking into account requirements or restrictions on the switching frequency or the double- fundamental frequency voltage ripple component. A brief discussion on the results and some practical considerations of presented calculations follow the analysis.

As discussed earlier, concerning the dc-link voltage ripple at the switching frequency in the order of kHz, the capacitive reactance $(1/\omega_{sw}C)$ is certainly much lower than the dc source impedance Z_{fsw} (calculated at the switching frequency). Hence, the amplitude of the voltage switching ripple is determined only by the size of the dc-link capacitor.

Following the analytical developments presented in the previous sections, the selection of the dc-link capacitor can be performed on the basis of one of the following constraints: based on the maximum amplitude of the peak-to-peak voltage switching ripple; or based on the RMS of the voltage switching ripple ΔV_{rms} . Of course, in both cases the worst scenario should be considered for final choice of the capacitor. As the worst scenario, the global maximum in the Figs. 2.7 and 2.8 is logically taken.

According to Fig. 2.7, the maximum amplitude of the normalized peak-to-peak ripple is 0.25 and therefore the global maximum peak-to-peak voltage switching ripple can be expressed as:

$$r_{pp}^{\max} \approx \frac{1}{4} \rightarrow \Delta v_{pp}^{\max} \cong \frac{1}{4} \frac{I_0}{f_{sw}C}$$
 (2.30)

On the basis of (2.30) and by considering the maximum output current I_0 , the dc-link capacitance can be readily calculated as a function of the required peak-to-peak voltage switching ripple amplitude Δv_{pp}^* :

$$C \ge \frac{1}{4} \frac{I_0}{f_{sw} \Delta v_{pp}^*} .$$
(2.31)

If, however, the focus is on the voltage switching ripple RMS rather than on the peak-to-peak voltage switching ripple amplitude, a reasonable approximation of ΔV_{rms} for the whole range of the modulation index and power phase angle corresponds to the condition given by (2.29), i.e. the operating point emphasized in Fig. 2.8. Hence, the dc-link voltage switching ripple RMS can be simplified as:

$$r_{rms} \approx 0.04 = \frac{1}{25} \rightarrow \Delta V_{rms} \cong \frac{1}{25} \frac{I_0}{f_{sw}C}$$
 (2.32)

Therefore, given as conditions the RMS of the switching ripple and the maximum output current I_0 (2.32), the dc-link capacitor can be sized basing on:

$$C \ge \frac{1}{25} \frac{I_0}{f_{sw} \Delta v_{rms}} .$$
(2.33)

Unlike the switching ripple voltage component, if the low-frequency dc-link voltage ripple is concerned, i.e., the double fundamental frequency, its amplitude generally depends not only on the capacitance C, but also on the parameters of the dc source impedance Z_{dc} . According to (2.9), (2.14) and (2.16), the dc-link low-frequency voltage ripple amplitude is calculated as:

$$\tilde{\mathbf{V}}_{pk} = \frac{m I_0}{2} \frac{1}{2\omega C} \sqrt{\frac{R^2 + (2\omega L)^2}{R^2 + \left(2\omega L - \frac{1}{2\omega C}\right)^2}} \quad .$$
(2.34)

The expression given by (2.34) could be adopted to design the dc-link capacitance. However, it is a rather cumbersome calculation. A reasonable simplification can be introduced if one of the following assumptions for inductively or resistively dc source can be made:

$$\begin{cases} 2\omega L \gg \frac{1}{2\omega C} & \text{inductively dominant } dc-\text{link}; \\ R \gg \frac{1}{2\omega C}, 2\omega L & \text{resistively dominant } dc-\text{link}. \end{cases}$$
(2.35)

Assuming that one of two conditions in (2.35) is satisfied, i.e., a photovoltaic dc supply having a high equivalent series resistance *R* (around the MPP is $R_{PV} = V_{mpp}/I_{mpp}$), or

a dc-link inductive filter having a high series reactance $2\omega L$, the double-fundamental frequency dc-link voltage ripple can be calculated by simplifying (2.34) as:

$$\tilde{V}_{pk} \cong \frac{m I_0}{2} \frac{1}{2\omega C}$$
(2.36)

Finally, given the amplitude of the double-fundamental dc voltage ripple component \tilde{V} and the maximum output current I_0 as the conditions, the dc-link capacitor can be sized by reversing (2.36):

$$C \ge \frac{m I_0}{2} \frac{1}{2\omega \tilde{V}_{pk}}.$$
(2.37)

In order to illustrate the proposed dc-link capacitor design/selection process, a simple flowchart is introduced in Fig. 2.9.



Fig. 2.9: A flow-chart of the proposed capacitor design/selection process.

The previous analysis shows that the dc-link capacitor sizing based on switching or low-frequency voltage ripple component results in different values of capacitance. Therefore, a brief discussion on the reasons for taking into account restrictions referred to one or the other voltage ripple component follows.

Namely, if comparable voltage ripple amplitude restrictions are set, the design of the dc-link capacitor C based on the double-fundamental frequency voltage ripple component (2.37) results in higher value comparing to the value obtained by considering only the switching frequency voltage ripple component ((2.31) or (2.33)). On the other hand, considering the same dc-link capacitor as in the real circuit, the ratio between the two ripple amplitudes is practically given by the inverse ratio between the corresponding frequencies, which could be in the range 20–200, making the voltage switching ripple obviously much smaller than the voltage double-fundamental ripple.

However, the voltage switching ripple amplitude could have additional specific restrictions to limit switching noise, electromagnetic interferences and voltage stress on the dc bus components. In this case, the capacitor could be oversized considering (2.31) or (2.33) instead of (2.37). Moreover, there are specific cases in which the voltage switching ripple amplitude exceeds the double-fundamental ripple amplitude. In particular, this situation could occur in the case of small dc source impedance at the double-fundamental frequency, when condition (2.35) would not be satisfied. This is the case of an almost ideal dc source when the double-fundamental frequency ripple practically disappears, and the voltage switching ripple can be evaluated by (2.31) or (2.33).

Finally, if the amplitudes of the two voltage ripple components are comparable and the restriction is set on the maximum amplitude of the total dc-link voltage ripple, both ripple components should be taken into consideration for the final dc-link capacitor sizing. In this case, sum of the maximum of the two voltage ripple amplitudes could be taken into account as the worst case scenario.

2.5 Simulation and experimental results

In this section, selected simulation and experimental results for the single-phase Hbridge inverter are given. The confirmation of the analytical developments, as well as the comparison of simulations and experiments have been shown and commented.

The circuit simulations have been carried out by MATLAB/Simulink. The inverter was controlled by the sinusoidal PWM with the switching frequency f_{sw} set to 2.5 kHz. Only linear PWM region is analyzed and the maximum modulation index is 1. The parameters in simulations are set in the mind to match the corresponding values used in experiments.

The input terminals of inverter are connected to external dc source and dc supply voltage is set to V_{dc} =96V. The dc source impedance is modelled using the following parameters: dc source resistance R=5.5 Ω and dc source inductance L=19mH. The dc-link ca-

pacitor is connected in parallel to the dc source having a capacitance C = 1.1mF. Two different kinds of load are considered in order to obtain two different power phase angles $\varphi = 0^{\circ}$ and $\varphi = 60^{\circ}$. In Fig. 2.10 the electrical circuit scheme of the load is presented. The corresponding load parameters are determined by the LCR meter Agilent 4263B. In case of power phase angle $\varphi = 60^{\circ}$, passive *R*-*L* load is used having the following parameters: $R_L=13.9\Omega$ and $L_L=76.5$ mH. In order to simulate grid-connected application and obtain the power phase angle $\varphi = 0^{\circ}$, in series to *R*-*L* load with the following parameters $R_L=4.7 \Omega$ and $L_L=43.3$ mH, resistor $R_0=29.7 \Omega$ and a parallel capacitor $C_0=43.3 \mu$ F are added. Using these parameters, the output current ripple is small and can be neglected, and the analysis presented in previous sections can be applied.



Fig. 2.10: Load configuration for the experimental setup

In Figs. 2.11 and 2.12, the instantaneous dc-link voltage switching ripple $\Delta v(t)$ (blue trace) is compared with the half peak-to-peak voltage switching ripple envelope $\pm \Delta v_{pp}/2$ calculated by (2.21) (red traces), over one fundamental period (T = 20ms). Two different power phase angles $\varphi = 0^{\circ}$ (Fig. 2.11) and $\varphi = 60^{\circ}$ (Fig. 2.12) are considered, and the four sub-cases (a)-(d) correspond to different modulation indexes *m*: 0.25, 0.5, 0.75, and 1. The switching ripple $\Delta v(t)$ have been numerically obtained by properly high-pass filtering the instantaneous dc-link voltage, according to (2.11).

It is possible to observe a good agreement between the analytically calculated dclink voltage switching ripple envelopes and the simulated dc voltage ripple shown in Figs. 2.11 and 2.12, in terms of the absolute amplitude as well as the dc-link voltage ripple profile. Moreover, behavior of the maximum peak-to-peak voltage switching ripple amplitude shown in Fig. 2.7 has been confirmed for two power phase angles $\varphi = 0^{\circ}$ and $\varphi = 60^{\circ}$ by the results given in Figs. 2.11 and 2.12, respectively. It can be noted that in case of $\varphi = 60^{\circ}$ increasing the modulation index also the maximum of the switching ripple amplitude increases, more noticeable for lower values of modulation index and less noticeable for the higher modulation index values. On contrary, in case of $\varphi = 0^{\circ}$ the global maximum of the voltage switching ripple amplitude is achieved around m = 0.5 and it decreases when modulation index further increases.



Fig. 2.11: Dc-link voltage switching ripple: simulation results (blue trace) and calculated peak-to-peak envelope (red trace) over a fundamental period for $\varphi = 60^{\circ}$, (a) m = 0.25, (b) m = 0.5, (c) m = 0.75, and (d) m = 1.



Fig. 2.12: Dc-link voltage switching ripple: simulation results (blue trace) and calculated peak-to-peak envelope (red trace) over a fundamental period for $\varphi = 0^\circ$, (a) m = 0.25, (b) m = 0.5, (c) m = 0.75, and (d) m = 1.

Fig. 2.13 shows the total instantaneous dc-link voltage ripple $\tilde{v}(t) + \Delta v(t)$ (double-fundamental and switching frequency ripple, blue trace) and its envelopes (red traces), calculated on the basis of (2.13) and (2.21) as

$$\tilde{v} \pm \frac{1}{2} \Delta v_{pp} = \frac{mI_0}{2} \Big[Z_{2f} \cos\left(2\vartheta - \varphi + \varphi_z\right) \pm 2\pi X_{f_{sw}} \sin\vartheta \sin\left(\vartheta - \varphi\right) (1 - m\sin\vartheta) \Big], \qquad (2.38)$$

where Z_{2f} is the parallel between the equivalent dc source impedance (Z_{dc}) and the reactance of the dc-link capacitor calculated at double-fundamental frequency (i.e. 100Hz) and X_{fsw} is the dc-link capacitive reactance calculated at the switching frequency.



Fig. 2.13: Total dc voltage ripple: simulation results (blue trace) and calculated peak-to-peak envelopes (red traces) over a fundamental period for m = 0.5, (**a**) $\phi = 0^{\circ}$, (**b**) $\phi = 60^{\circ}$.

Fig. 2.13 confirms the good agreement between the theoretical dc-link voltage ripple developments and numerically simulated total dc-link voltage ripple. It can be concluded that the effectiveness of the proposed analytical developments is proved by means of simulation results shown in Figs. 2.11-2.13.

In order to prove both, theoretical developments and numerical results, experimental verifications have been carried out. Experimental setup is illustrated in Fig. 2.14. It consists of a custom-made three-phase inverter with Mitsubishi power IGBT module IPM PS22A76 (1200 V, 25 A), where only two legs are connected on the PCB board and the third one is properly grounded. The inverter was controlled by an "Arduino DUE" microcontroller board (84 MHz Atmel, SAM3X83 Cortex-M3 CPU). Communication between microcontroller board and inverter is established through an optical interface board. Experimental results are shown by Yokogawa DLM 2024 oscilloscope. For the voltage and current measurements, the PICO TA057 differential voltage probe (25 MHz, $\pm 1400 \text{ V}, \pm 2\%$) and LEM PR30 current probe (DC to 20 kHz, $\pm 20 \text{ A}, \pm 1\%$) were used. Additionally, an air-core inductor (*R-L*) is adopted representing a dc source impedance connected in series with the external TDK-Lambda GenesysTM 2U 3.3kW DC source.



Fig. 2.14: Experimental setup

The first set of measured variables is shown in Fig. 2.15. The load voltage and current and the total dc-link voltage ripple are presented for the case m = 0.75 and $\varphi = 0^{\circ}$, over five fundamental periods (5T = 100 ms). The load voltage and current are presented in the top part of the oscilloscope screenshot, the dc-link voltage is shown in the middle part and one zoomed part of the dc-link voltage emphasizing the presence of 100 Hz and switching ripple components is presented in the bottom part. The zoomed part of the dc bus voltage is marked with the rectangle in the middle part of the screenshot, showing five periods of the 100 Hz components.



Fig. 2.15: Output load voltage and current (upper part), dc-link voltage (middle part), and zoomed dc-link ripple components (lower part), for m=0.75 and ϕ =0°.

In Figs. 2.16 and 2.17, experimental verifications were carried out considering four different values of the modulation index m = 0.25, 0.5, 0.75, and 1, for two power phase angles $\varphi = 0^{\circ}$ and $\varphi = 60^{\circ}$, respectively. In both figures, there are five traces displayed over one fundamental period: top traces present load voltage (green trace) and corresponding load current (red trace), lower blue trace presents the dc-link voltage switching ripple. The two orange traces present the peak-to-peak dc voltage switching ripple envelopes of said ripple ($\pm \Delta v_{pp}/2$), obtained by implementing (2.21) in the microcontroller board and sending to an output DAC channel, with a proper scale factor. Similarly to simulations, the switching ripple component of the dc-link voltage has been obtained by filtering the instantaneous dc-voltage using the "ac coupling" built-in function of the oscilloscope together with the built-in low-pass filter. In that way, electromagnetic noise in the signals was attenuated without affecting any relevant frequency component.



Fig. 2.16: Experimental results for $\varphi = 0^\circ$: upper half - output voltage and current, lower half – analytically calculated envelope and measured dc voltage switching ripple for (a) m = 0.25, (b) m = 0.5, (c) m = 0.75, and (d) m = 1.


Fig. 2.17: Experimental results for $\varphi = 60^{\circ}$: upper half - output voltage and current, lower half – analytically calculated envelope and measured dc voltage switching ripple for (a) m = 0.25, (b) m = 0.5, (c) m = 0.75, and (d) m = 1.

It can be noticed from Figs. 2.16 and 2.17 that the experimental voltage ripple matches the theoretical envelopes in a very satisfactory way for all the considered cases, both in the absolute amplitude and the dc-link voltage ripple profile, confirming the effectiveness of the proposed analytical developments given by (2.21). Small difference between the measured ripple and the simulated and calculated envelopes is due to the parasitic resistance of electrolytic dc-link capacitor.

Table 2.1 summarizes the calculated, simulated and experimental results for RMS values of dc-link voltage switching ripple ($\Delta V_{\rm rms}$). All considered cases of modulation index and the power phase angles are shown. As it can be seen, the agreement is generally satisfying within the expected resolution and considering the non-idealities of the experimental implementation.

т	Load angle $\phi = 0^{\circ}$			Load angle $\phi = 60^{\circ}$		
	Calc.	Sim.	Exp.	Calc.	Sim.	Exp.
0.25	9.7	9.6	9.1	7.8	7.8	7.7
0.50	27.5	26.8	27.1	23.6	23.6	21.6
0.75	37.4	35.6	33.4	37.5	37.5	35.1
1.00	29.9	28.7	28.1	44.23	44.3	40.3

Table 2.1. Comparison of obtained dc-link voltage switching ripple RMS

2.6 Discussion

In this chapter, dc-link current and voltage ripple analysis of single-phase H-bridge inverter with dc source impedance is presented. The inverter dc-link current, as well as the dc-link voltage, consists of three relevant components and therefore, all of them have been investigated. First, the low-frequency (double-fundamental) current and voltage ripple components are derived. The next, peak-to-peak dc voltage switching ripple amplitude is obtained as a function of operational conditions (modulation index, the amplitude of the output current and power phase angle). Further, the maximum and the RMS of the dc-link voltage switching ripple are determined. In order to show the behavior of the dc voltage ripple components different diagrams are introduced. A simple and effective methodology for designing the dc-link capacitor has been proposed on the basis of the dc-link voltage ripple requirements.

Simulation and experimental results are given considering different values of modulation index and power phase angle. Given results are aimed to show the correctness of analytical calculations comparing the amplitude and the profile of the dc-voltage ripple components with calculated dc-link voltage envelopes.

References

- [2.1] S. B. Kjaer, J. K. Pedersen, and F. Blaabjerg, "A review of single-phase gridconnected inverters for photovoltaic modules," *IEEE Trans. on Industry Applications*, vol. 41, no. 5, pp. 1291-1306, Sept.-Oct. 2005.
- [2.2] G.D. Holmes, T.A. Lipo (2003), "Pulse width modulation for power converters principles and practice", *IEEE Press Series on Power Engineering*, John Wiley and Sons, Piscataway, NJ, USA.
- [2.3] X. Mao, R. Ayyanar, and H. K. Krishnamurthy, "Optimal variable switching frequency scheme for reducing switching loss in single-phase inverters based on timedomain ripple analysis," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 24, no. 4, pp. 991-1001, April 2009.
- [2.4] B. Reznikov, M. Srndovic, Y. L. Familiant, G. Grandi, and A. Ruderman, "Simple time averaging current quality evaluation of a single-phase multilevel PWM inverter," *IEEE Trans. on Industrial Electronics*, vol. 63, no. 6, pp. 3605-3615, June 2016.
- [2.5] P. T. Krein, R. S. Balog, and M. Mirjafari, "Minimum energy and capacitance requirements for single-phase inverters and rectifiers using a ripple port," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 27, no. 11, pp. 4690–4698, Nov. 2012.
- [2.6] Y. Hu, Y. Du, W. Xiao, S. Finney, W. Cao, "DC-link voltage control strategy for reducing capacitance and total harmonic distortion in single phase grid-connected photovoltaic inverters," *IET Power Electronics*, vol. 8, no. 8, pp. 1386-1393, 2015.
- [2.7] I. S. de Freitas, C. B. Jacobina, and E. C. dos Santos, "Single-phase to single-phase full-bridge converter operating with reduced AC power in the DC-link capacitor," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 25, no. 2, pp. 272–279, Feb. 2010.
- [2.8] F. Renken, "The DC-link capacitor current in pulsed single-phase H-bridge inverters," *in Proc. of Eur. Conf. Power Electron. Appl.*, 2005, pp. 1-10.
- [2.9] J. D. Flicker, R. Kaplar, M. Marinella and J. Granata, "PV inverter performance and reliability: what is the role of the bus capacitor?" in Proc. of IEEE Photovoltaic Specialists Conference (PVSC), June 2012, pp. 1-3.
- [2.10] T. Wang, S. Lu, "A comprehensive analysis of DC-link current for single phase Hbridge inverter under harmonic output currents" in Proc. of IEEE Energy Conversion Congress and Exposition (ECCE), Oct. 2017, pp. 1-7.

Authored papers

- [2.11] M. Vujacic, M. Srndovic, M. Hammami, G. Grandi, "Evaluation of DC voltage ripple in single-phase H-bridge PWM inverters" in Proc. of the 42nd Conference of the IEEE Industrial Electronics Society (IECON), Oct. 2016, pp. 3235-3240.
- [2.12] M. Vujacic, M. Hammami, M. Srndovic and G. Grandi, "Theoretical and experimental investigation of switching ripple in the DC-link voltage of single-phase Hbridge PWM inverters," *Energies*, vol.10, Aug. 2017.

Chapter 3

Dc-link current and voltage switching ripple analysis in three-phase inverters

3.1 Introduction

Three-phase two-level voltage source inverters are the most frequently utilized power electronic converters. They are widely used in medium- and high-power applications, such as variable speed drives, uninterruptable power supplies (UPS), flexible AC transmission systems (FACTs), stand-alone and grid-connected power generation systems, etc. The standard three-phase inverter consists of six power switches the switching of which depends on the modulation technique.

In the last decade, various modulation techniques have been proposed in order to improve inverter's performances. Primarily target is the reduction of total harmonic distortion (THD) of output currents, but also the dc bus utilization, electromagnetic interference (EMI), switching losses reduction etc. In essence there are two main approaches to VSI PWM control – carrier-based (CB PWM) and space vector PWM (SVM) [3.1]. CB PWM is more popular for implementation due to its simplicity. It has well-defined harmonic spectrum, fixed switching frequency and less computational time. On the other side, SVM is nowadays more popular for investigation and offers a maximum transfer ratio with lower THD. It is proven that CB PWM can work identically as SVM if a proper zero-sequence signal is injected. Regarding this, both techniques may lead to the same results [3.2].

Recently, output characteristics (voltage and current) of three-phase inverters have been extensively studied. Current ripple is studied in terms of RMS minimization as well as its maximum (peak-to-peak) value. The current ripple analysis in SVM-controlled induction motor drive has been presented in [3.3]. The optimal SVM technique is proposed, characterized by the minimum RMS value of the current ripple over the fundament period. The current ripple RMS has been studied over a subcycle in [3.4] and three hybrid PWM techniques are proposed. The current ripple reduction is achieved by involving multiple switching sequences. The current ripple peak and RMS values are calculated and compared for SVM and discontinues PWM (DPWM) in [3.5]. It has been shown that the current ripple could be predicted in the controller before pulses are generated and so, the switching period could be adaptive to certain ripple requirements. In order to achieve better efficiency and reduce electromagnetic interference (EMI) of three-phase converters while satisfying the ripple current requirements, variable switching control method is proposed in [3.6]. The complete analysis of the peak-to-peak current ripple amplitude distribution over a fundamental period for three-phase VSIs has been given in [3.7]. The peak-to-peak current ripple amplitude is calculated as a function of modulation index, emphasizing its maximum and minimum values.

For three-phase VSIs, input current and voltage characteristics are usually estimated by Fourier series analysis or by root-mean-square (RMS) calculations. The RMS values of the input current and voltage ripple have been calculated in [3.8]. It has been shown no dependency of the inverter input current ripple on the selected PWM scheme, however the optimum reference signal in respect to the inverter input voltage ripple varies with the load power factor angle. In [3.9], the effect of space vector modulation (SVM) and discontinues PWM techniques (DPWM) on the RMS value of the dc-link capacitor current is studied. It is shown that the use of the SVM results in lower dc-link current stress. A simple analytical expression for the current stress on the dc-link capacitor and the experimental verification have been presented in [3.10]. The aim was to reduce the effort for designing the capacitor meeting at the same time the sufficient accuracy for practical inverter system.

Applying a double Fourier series, the dc-link current harmonics are calculated in [3.11], for any kind of conventional modulation strategy with a fixed pulsed frequency. Based on the Fourier analysis, the impact of the harmonic ripple current of the filter circuit on the dc-link capacitor has been investigated in [3.12]. It has been shown that the impact is considerable only in case of small output currents. However, in case of larger loads, it is enough to consider sinusoidal output currents for the dc-link capacitor dimensioning. A general method to calculate dc-link current taking into account ac current ripple has been proposed in [3.13]. This method requires access to various control variables (i_{dq} currents and duty cycles) in real time (sampling time) and this makes it not feasible for some applications, such as in automotive drives.

In order to avoid complex double Fourier integral approach, an approximation for spectral components is provided in [3.14]. The carrier and sideband dc capacitor current harmonics are modeled with an equivalent harmonic at the center, so the dominant harmonics and their effects are better understood. A generalized approach for determining the harmonic spectrum of the dc-link capacitor currents in different two- and three-level VSI topologies has been developed in [3.15]. In [3.16] and [3.17] different modulation methods aiming at reduction of the input current harmonics flowing through the dc-link capacitor have been proposed. The analysis and calculation of the dc-link current and voltage ripple for three-phase inverter under unbalanced load conditions has been presented in [3.18]. The dc-link average and harmonic RMS currents are calculated, and the dc voltage ripple is compared between the balanced and the unbalanced loads.

As it has been shown, the input current and voltage ripple are studied mostly in terms of the RMS minimization, rather than the peak-to-peak value. Two conference papers [3.19] and [3.20] and one journal paper [3.21] that show peak-to-peak dc-link voltage switching ripple distribution over a fundamental period are results of this thesis. The evaluation of the dc-link voltage switching ripple has been done in case of sinusoidal PWM and space vector modulation, being the two most-commonly applied inverter control techniques. Hence, a short review of both modulations is given in section 3.2. The detailed analytical analysis of the inverter's dc-link current and voltage ripple is shown in the next sections 3.3 and 3.4, respectively. The maximum peak-to-peak value of voltage switching ripple amplitude is shown as a function of modulation index for different power phase angles. The dc-link voltage switching ripple requirements are used for the dc-link capacitor design in section 3.5. Simulations and experimental results are further included in section 3.6. Finally, a brief discussion of obtained results is given in section 3.7.

3.2 Modulation techniques

The most widely utilized modulation strategy for *n*-phase voltage source inverters is carrier-based PWM, where the reference waveform of each leg v_n^* is compared with a high-frequency triangular carrier waveform and, as a result, switching signals are generated per each inverter leg. Fig. 3.1 shows generalized concept of the carrier-based modulation including the zero-sequence signal injection.



Fig. 3.1: Principle of carrier-based PWM.

ſ

Based on Fig. 3.1, three reference signals $v_n^*(t)$ (n = 3) can be expressed as:

$$\begin{cases} v_1^*(t) = mV\cos(\theta) + v_z(t) \\ v_2^*(t) = mV\cos(\theta - \frac{2\pi}{3}) + v_z(t) \\ v_3^*(t) = mV\cos(\theta - \frac{4\pi}{3}) + v_z(t) \end{cases}$$
(3.1)

where $v_z(t)$ is the zero-sequence signal summed with the three sinusoidal fundamental signals displaced in time by $2\pi/3$ degrees. $\vartheta=\omega t$, $\omega=2\pi f$ is the fundamental angular frequency, and *m* is the inverter modulation index defined as the ratio of the fundamental output phase voltage magnitude and the dc supply voltage. Hence, fundamental signals are in the range (-0.5 ÷ 0.5) and for the sake of comparison, the same range is assumed for triangular carrier waveforms. In general, zero-sequence signal can be considered as a degree of freedom and can be used to improve the output current ripple and to increase the dc-bus utilization. Various modulation techniques have been proposed in last years, considering different selections of the zero-sequence. In this thesis, sinusoidal PWM (SPWM) and so called centered PWM (CPWM), obtained by centering the reference voltages with "min-max" injection, equivalent to space vector modulation (SVM), have been used. Therefore, a short review of two modulation strategies will be given in what follows.

Carrier-based PWM

According to Fig. 3.1 and in order to obtain SPWM, the zero-sequence signal is set to:

 $v_z(t) = 0$.

٢

Three reference signals become equal to the sinusoidal fundamental signals, displaced in time by $2\pi/3$ degrees as

$$\begin{cases} v_1^*(t) = mV\cos\left(\vartheta\right) \\ v_2^*(t) = mV\cos\left(\vartheta - \frac{2\pi}{3}\right) \\ v_3^*(t) = mV\cos\left(\vartheta - \frac{4\pi}{3}\right) \end{cases}$$
(3.2)

Fig. 3.2 shows reference signals of (3.2), compared with the triangle carrier waveforms, for one fundamental period and for modulation index set as m=0.5. It is noticeable that fundamental period can be divided into six sectors, each spanning $\pi/3$ degrees.



Fig. 3.2: Reference signals for three-phase VSIs over one fundamental period (SPWM).

When the frequency of the carrier (switching frequency) is much higher than the frequency of reference signals, the reference signals can be assumed constant during one carrier period (regular sampled PWM). Considering the first sector, as an example, Fig. 3.3 shows three reference signals over one switching period (T_{sw}) together with a carrier signal, and generated PWM switching patterns (switching functions).



Fig. 3.3: Principle of generation of switching pattern for three-phase VSIs.

The application times t_k , k=0,1,..3 can be calculated based on Fig. 3.3 and by means of simple trigonometry. It is expressed as:

$$t_0 = \frac{T_{sw}}{2} \left(\frac{1}{2} - m\cos(9) \right),$$
(3.3)

$$t_1 = mT_{sw} \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2} \left(\sqrt{3} \cos(\vartheta) - \sin(\vartheta) \right), \tag{3.4}$$

$$t_2 = mT_{sw}\sqrt{3}\sin(9),\tag{3.5}$$

$$t_3 = \frac{T_{sw}}{2} \left(\frac{1}{2} + m \cos\left(9 - \frac{4\pi}{3}\right) \right) \,. \tag{3.6}$$

According to Fig. 3.1, centered PWM (CPWM) can be achieved by adding to the three sinusoidal reference signals the zero-sequence signal expressed as:

$$v_z(t) = -0.5 \left(v_{\text{max}}^* + v_{\text{min}}^* \right).$$
(3.7)

Signals inside the brackets are determined based on the maximum and minimum values of the input set of fundamental signals. Such a zero-sequence signal is known as "min-max" injection. Comparing to the SPWM, an increase of around 15.47% in the dc bus utilization, in the linear modulation region, is achieved if CPWM is applied to three-phase system. Thus, in case of three-phase inverters, the modulation limit becomes m_{max} =0.577.

The effect of a "min-max" injection is shown in Fig. 3.4 where three reference signals are shown over one fundamental period.



Fig. 3.4: Reference signals for three-phase VSIs over one fundamental period (CPWM).

It can be noted that after the injection (Fig. 3.4) the ordering of the reference signals remains the same as before injection (Fig. 3.2). Thus, it can be concluded that the switching sequences (and so, the application times) of the active space vectors will be the same as in case of SPWM. The difference is in the application times of two zero space vectors. Based on (3.2), (3.7) and Sector 1 (Fig. 3.4), the application times of two zero space vectors are calculated as:

$$t_{0} = \frac{T_{sw}}{2} \left[\frac{1}{2} - m\cos(9) + \frac{1}{2} \left(m\cos(9) + m\cos(9 - \frac{4\pi}{3}) \right) \right],$$
(3.8)

$$t_3 = \frac{T_{sw}}{2} \left[\frac{1}{2} + m\cos\left(9 - \frac{4\pi}{3}\right) - \frac{1}{2} \left(m\cos\left(9\right) + m\cos\left(9 - \frac{4\pi}{3}\right)\right) \right].$$
(3.9)

Applying basic trigonometric equations, the following simplification is obtained:

$$t_0 = t_3 = \frac{T_{sw}}{2} \left[1 - \sqrt{3} m \sin\left(\frac{\pi}{3} + \vartheta\right) \right].$$
 (3.10)

Space vector modulation

Although the CBPWM is significantly simpler for implementation, space vector modulation (SVM) offers better performances and is nowadays more popular for investigation. The SVM for three-phase inverters is based on the fact that there are 2^3 =8 possible switching configurations (or "switching states"). Fig. 3.5 represents the eight output voltage space vectors corresponding to the switching configurations. Vectors $\vec{V_1}$ to $\vec{V_6}$ are called active vectors, and $\vec{V_o}$, $\vec{V_7}$ are called zero vectors. In one switching period, the reference space vector \vec{v}^* can be given by [3.2]

$$\vec{v}^{*}(t) = \frac{t_{o}}{T_{sw}}\vec{V}_{o} + \frac{t_{1}}{T_{sw}}\vec{V}_{1} + \dots + \frac{t_{7}}{T_{sw}}\vec{V}_{7}, \qquad (3.11)$$

where $t_0, t_1, ..., t_7$ are the application times of the vectors $\vec{V}_0, \vec{V}_1, ..., \vec{V}_7$ and $\sum_{i=0}^7 t_i = T_{sw}$.

In general, the decomposition of the reference output voltage space vector \vec{v}^* into the output voltage space vectors has infinite ways. However, the most commonly, two nearest adjacent active vectors and two zero vectors (\vec{V}_o, \vec{V}_7) are used in each switching period to synthetize the reference space vector \vec{v}^* . The switching sequence begins and ends with the zero-space vector (so called "null switching state"). The center switching pattern is realized when the total application time of the zero vector is equally shared between two zero space vectors (\vec{V}_o, \vec{V}_7) . It has been proven in [3.2] that the center switching pattern is equivalent to zero-sequence signal injection defined by (3.7) in carrier based PWM.

In case of symmetrical SVM, the sequence can be determined in $T_{sw}/2$ and symmetrically repeated in the next half of the switching period. The application times of the active and zero space vectors in the first sector (colored triangle in Fig. 3.5), are identical to those of (3.4), (3.5) and (3.10) obtained for CPWM.



Fig. 3.5: Space vector diagram of inverter output voltage.

3.3 Dc-link current analysis

Configuration of the analyzed topology, the two-level three-phase VSI with balanced passive- or motor-load, is shown in Fig. 3.6. The inverter is supplied by a dc voltage source (V_{dc}) through an equivalent series dc source impedance Z_{dc} . The parallel capacitor C is connected to the dc bus to smooth the voltage ripple.



Fig. 3.6: Analyzed topology of a two-level three-phase VSI.

Neglecting the dc-link voltage oscillations ($v \approx V$) and considering the operations in the linear modulation region, the inverter output phase voltages averaged over the switching period correspond to the reference phase voltages given by (3.2).

Considering (3.2), in case of balanced load and neglecting the output current ripple, the corresponding three-phase sinusoidal output currents can be written as:

ſ

$$\begin{cases} i_1 = I_0 \cos(\vartheta - \varphi), \\ i_2 = I_0 \cos\left(\vartheta - \frac{2\pi}{3} - \varphi\right), \\ i_3 = I_0 \cos\left(\vartheta - \frac{4\pi}{3} - \varphi\right), \end{cases}$$
(3.12)

where I_0 is the output current amplitude and φ is the phase angle between the phase voltage and current, respectively.

As introduced in the section 2.3, the dc-link current i(t) can be expressed by three key components, the dc (average) component, the low-frequency, and the high-frequency (switching frequency) component. When the load is balanced, low-frequency component is zero. Consequently, the inverter input current only contains the dc (average) component $I = I_{dc}$, which comes from the dc supply, and the high-frequency component $\Delta i(t)$ which is bypassed through the dc-link capacitor. Thus, the instantaneous dc-link current of three-phase inverter supplying balanced load can be expressed as:

$$i(t) = I_{dc} + \Delta i(t) . \tag{3.13}$$

Under the assumption that inverter power switches are ideal and by considering the input/output power balance as:

$$VI_{dc} = 3\frac{mV}{\sqrt{2}}\frac{I_0}{\sqrt{2}}\cos\phi,$$
(3.14)

the dc-link current averaged over the switching period T_{sw} can be obtained on the basis of (3.14) and it is finally given by:

$$I_{dc} = \frac{3}{2}mI_0\cos\phi.$$
 (3.15)

An instantaneous value of the inverter input current *i* can be calculated as the sum of three inverter leg currents which are dependent on the inverter switching state. Considering the switching states of each leg through the binary switching function S_k :

$$S_{k} = \begin{cases} 1 \rightarrow \text{upper switch ON, lower switch OFF} \\ 0 \rightarrow \text{upper switch OFF, lower switch ON}, \quad k = 1, 2, 3, \end{cases}$$
(3.16)

the input current of each inverter leg can be calculated from switching function and corresponding output current. Consequently, the total inverter input current can be expressed by summing the individual leg currents as:

$$i = \sum_{k=1}^{3} S_k i_k . ag{3.17}$$

The switching frequency dc-link current component can be easily calculated utilizing equations (3.13) - (3.16) as:

$$\Delta i(t) = i - I_{dc} = \sum_{k=1}^{3} S_k i_k - \frac{3}{2} m I_0 \cos \varphi \,. \tag{3.18}$$

Due to the symmetry of the inverter input current, the following analysis can be limited to one sixth of the fundament period (T/6 or $\pi/3$ rad).

3.4 Dc-link voltage ripple analysis

3.4.1 Voltage switching ripple evaluation

Similar to the dc-link current, the instantaneous dc-link voltage can be expressed by three following components: the dc (average) component *V*, the low-frequency component, and the high-frequency component Δv . The low-frequency component is zero since it is determined on the basis of the corresponding current component that is zero when the load is balanced. Correspondingly, the instantaneous dc-link voltage is expressed as:

$$v(t) = V + \Delta v(t). \tag{3.19}$$

The average voltage component V is simply determined by the supply voltage V_{dc} and the voltage drop on the dc source resistance R as:

$$V = V_{dc} - R I_{dc} \,. \tag{3.20}$$

The peak-to-peak amplitude Δv_{pp} of the dc-link voltage switching ripple component can be calculated as the difference between its maximum and minimum value within the switching period, as it was shown in the sub-section 2.3.2 and given by (2.18). The same assumption for the dc-link equivalent impedance calculated at the switching frequency, and therefore for the dc-link current switching frequency component that circulates through the dc-link capacitor, applies to the three-phase case as well.

However, in the three-phase case, the corresponding dc voltage excursion is determined by integrating Δi over the specific application time interval t_k . The application times are calculated in section 3.2 for used modulation strategies and will be correspondingly applied in the following. An effective simplification is obtained by considering Δi constant (ΔI) within the considered application time interval, leading to:

$$\Delta v_{pp}^{k} = \left| \frac{1}{C} \int_{0}^{t_{k}} \Delta i(t) \, dt \right| \cong \frac{1}{C} \Delta I \, t_{k} \,. \tag{3.21}$$

Due to the inverter input current i(t) periodicity, the evaluation of the voltage ripple can be reduced to the phase angle range $0 \le \vartheta \le 60^\circ$, i.e. the first $\pi/3$ rad.

Within the first sector, depending on the value of I_{dc} , two different cases can be distinguished according to Fig. 3.7. The global peak-to-peak dc-link voltage ripple amplitude Δv_{pp} is obtained by combining different Δv_{pp}^{k} and finding the maximum within the switching period, as it will be shown in following.



Fig. 3.7: Dc-link current and voltage ripple in one switching period: (a) Case A ($0 \le \vartheta \le \pi/3$, $i_1 \ge I_{dc}$), (b) Case B ($0 \le \vartheta \le \pi/3$, $i_1 < I_{dc}$).

The dc-link voltage switching ripple for three-phase VSI is investigated under the sinusoidal PWM and space vector modulation (equivalent to CPWM) as shown in following two sub-sections.

3.4.1.1 Peak-to-peak voltage switching ripple with sinusoidal PWM

Case A.1 – Evaluation in the range: $i_1 \ge I_{dc}$

The dc-link voltage ripple Δv and its peak-to-peak value Δv_{pp} are depicted in Fig. 3.7 (blue line), together with the instantaneous input current i(t) (red staircase line). According to Fig. 3.7(a) two subcases can be distinguish regarding the application time intervals $t_{pp} = t_0$ and $t_{pp} = t_3$ (bold blue trace).

In the first subcase, when $t_{pp} = t_0$, the peak-to-peak voltage ripple can be written on the basis of (3.21) as

$$\Delta v_{pp}^{A1} = \frac{2}{C} I_{dc} t_0 . aga{3.22}$$

Introducing (3.3) and (3.15) into (3.22) leads to

$$\Delta v_{pp}^{A1} = \frac{3}{2} \frac{I_0 T_{sw}}{C} m \cos \varphi \left(\frac{1}{2} - m \cos \left(\vartheta \right) \right). \tag{3.23}$$

In the same way, but considering $t_{pp} = t_3$ time interval, the peak-to-peak voltage ripple is calculated as

$$\Delta v_{pp}^{A2} = \frac{2}{C} I_{dc} t_3 . \tag{3.24}$$

Introducing (3.4) and (3.15) into (3.24) leads to

$$\Delta v_{pp}^{A2} = \frac{3}{2} \frac{I_0 T_{sw}}{C} m \cos \varphi \left(\frac{1}{2} + m \cos \left(9 - \frac{4\pi}{3} \right) \right).$$
(3.25)

Case B.1 – Evaluation in the range: $i_1 < I_{dc}$

According to Fig. 3.7(b) and considering application interval $t_{pp} = t_0+t_1$ (bold blue trace), peak-to-peak voltage ripple can be written on the basis of (3.21) as:

$$\Delta v_{pp}^{B} = \frac{2}{C} \left(I_{dc} t_{0} + (I_{dc} - i_{1}) t_{1} \right).$$
(3.26)

Introducing (3.3), (3.4), and (3.15) in (3.26) leads to

$$\Delta v_{pp}^{B} = \frac{3}{2} \frac{I_0 T_{sw}}{C} m \left[\cos \varphi \left(\frac{1}{2} - m \cos(\vartheta) \right) + \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}} \left(\sqrt{3} \cos(\vartheta) - \sin(\vartheta) \right) \left(\frac{3}{2} m \cos \varphi - \cos(\vartheta - \varphi) \right) \right].$$
(3.27)

The global peak-to-peak dc-link voltage ripple amplitude Δv_{pp} is obtained by merging the results corresponding to the cases A.1 and B.1:

$$\Delta v_{pp}^{SPWM} = \max\left\{\Delta v_{pp}^{A1}, \Delta v_{pp}^{A2}, \Delta v_{pp}^{B}\right\}.$$
(3.28)

Finally, from Equation (3.28), one can see that the magnitude of the dc-link voltage ripple is always determined by the maximum value of those three.

Dc-link peak-to-peak voltage ripple amplitude can be normalized according to:

$$\Delta v_{pp}^{SPWM} = \frac{I_0 T_{sw}}{C} r_{pp} (m, \vartheta, \varphi).$$
(3.29)

Applying (3.29) to the case A and the case B, the normalized peak-to-peak voltage ripple amplitude is given by:

$$r_{pp}^{SPWM} = \max\left\{ r_{pp}^{A1}, r_{pp}^{A2}, r_{pp}^{B} \right\},$$
(3.30)

being

$$r_{pp}^{A1}(m,\vartheta,\varphi) = \frac{3}{2}m\cos\varphi\left(\frac{1}{2} - m\cos(\vartheta)\right),\tag{3.31}$$

$$r_{pp}^{A2}(m, \vartheta, \varphi) = \frac{3}{2}m\cos\varphi\left(\frac{1}{2} + m\cos\left(\vartheta - \frac{4\pi}{3}\right)\right),\tag{3.32}$$

$$r_{pp}^{B}(m,\vartheta,\varphi) = \frac{3}{2}m\left|\cos\varphi\left(\frac{1}{2} - m\cos(\vartheta)\right) + \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}}\left(\sqrt{3}\cos(\vartheta) - \sin(\vartheta)\right)\left(\frac{3}{2}m\cos\varphi - \cos(\vartheta - \varphi)\right)\right|.$$
 (3.33)

3.4.1.2 Peak-to-peak voltage switching ripple with SVM

As it was discussed in section 3.2, when space vector modulation is applied the total application time of the zero space vector is equally shared between two zero space vector. It means that the application times t_0 and t_3 (Fig. 3.7) are equal and given by (3.10). Therefore, as in sub-section 3.4.1.1, evaluation of dc voltage switching ripple is further presented for two different ranges according to the average current I_{dc} value and Fig. 3.7.

Case A.2 – Evaluation in the range: $i_1 \ge I_{dc}$

According to Fig. 3.7(a) and considering application interval $t_{pp} = t_0$ (bold blue trace), peak-to-peak voltage ripple can be written on the basis of (3.21) as

$$\Delta v_{pp}^{A} = \frac{2}{C} \left(I_{dc} \frac{t_{0}}{2} \right) = \frac{1}{C} I_{dc} t_{0} \,. \tag{3.34}$$

Introducing (3.4) and (3.15) into (3.34) leads to

$$\Delta v_{pp}^{A} = \frac{3}{4} \frac{I_{dc} T_{sw}}{C} m \cos \varphi \left(1 - \sqrt{3} m \sin \left(\frac{\pi}{3} + \vartheta \right) \right). \tag{3.35}$$

Case B.2 – Evaluation in the range: $i_1 < I_{dc}$

According to Fig. 3.7(b) and considering application interval $t_{pp} = t_0/2 + t_1$ (bold blue trace), peak-to-peak voltage ripple can be written on the basis of (3.21) as:

$$\Delta v_{pp}^{B} = \frac{2}{C} \left(I_{dc} \frac{t_{0}}{2} + (I_{dc} - i_{1}) t_{1} \right).$$
(3.36)

$$\Delta v_{pp}^{B} = \frac{3}{4} \frac{I_0 T_{sw}}{C} m \cdot \left| \cos \varphi \left(1 - \sqrt{3} m \sin \left(\frac{\pi}{3} + \vartheta \right) \right) + \frac{4}{\sqrt{3}} \sin \left(\frac{\pi}{3} - \vartheta \right) \left(\frac{3}{2} m \cos \varphi - \cos(\vartheta - \varphi) \right) \right|. (3.37)$$

The global peak-to-peak dc-link voltage ripple amplitude Δv_{pp} is obtained by merging the results corresponding to the cases A.2 and B.2:

$$\Delta v_{pp}^{SVM} = \max\left\{\Delta v_{pp}^{A}, \Delta v_{pp}^{B}\right\}.$$
(3.38)

Applying the same normalization as in (3.29), the normalized peak-to-peak voltage ripple amplitude is given by

$$r_{pp}^{SVM} = \max\left\{r_{pp}^{A}, r_{pp}^{B}\right\},\tag{3.39}$$

where

$$r_{pp}^{A}(m,\vartheta,\varphi) = \frac{3}{4}m\cos\varphi \left(1 - \sqrt{3}m\sin\left(\frac{\pi}{3} + \vartheta\right)\right),\tag{3.40}$$

$$r_{pp}^{B}(m,\vartheta,\varphi) = \frac{3}{4}m \cdot \left| \cos\varphi \left(1 - \sqrt{3}m\sin\left(\frac{\pi}{3} + \vartheta\right) \right) + \frac{4}{\sqrt{3}}\sin\left(\frac{\pi}{3} - \vartheta\right) \left(\frac{3}{2}m\cos\varphi - \cos(\vartheta - \varphi) \right) \right|. (3.41)$$

In order to show the behavior and make a comparison of the peak-to-peak voltage switching ripple amplitudes over the fundamental period, when sinusoidal PWM and space vector modulation (equivalent to "centered" PWM) are applied, Fig. 3.8 depicts the normalized peak-to-peak voltage switching ripple amplitude.



Fig. 3.8: Normalized peak-to-peak dc-link voltage ripple amplitude $r_{pp}(\vartheta)$ over the fundamental period $[0, \pi/3]$, when SPWM (left) and SVM (right) are applied, for different modulation indices, m = 1/6, 1/4, 1/3 and 1/2, and power phase angles $\varphi = 0^{\circ}$ (**a**), 30° (**b**), 60° (**c**) and 90° (**d**).

Four power phase angles $\vartheta = 0$, 30° , 60° and 90° have been considered. Four cases that correspond to the operation with m = 1/6, 1/4, 1/3, and 1/2, respectively, are illustrated for each power phase angle.

It can be seen a wide excursion of the dc voltage ripple amplitude, generally ranging between 0 (minimum) and 0.22 (maximum). An increase in the maximum peaks of the voltage ripple occur with the increase of the modulation index. A slight increase of the peak-to-peak voltage switching ripple amplitude is also noticeable with the increase of the power phase angle in case of both SPWM and SVM. It can be seen that for the same values of power phase angles and modulation index, the peak-to-peak voltage ripple amplitude significantly decreases when SVM is applied instead of SPWM. Only for the power phase angle $\varphi = 90^{\circ}$ both techniques are equal.

3.4.2 Maximum of the voltage switching ripple

For the dc-link capacitor design and selection purposes, it is of importance to show the maximum of the normalized peak-to-peak voltage switching ripple amplitude. Fig. 3.9 shows the maximum as a function of modulation index. To provide an illustrative comparison, the maximum voltage ripple amplitude is shown together for SPWM and SVM, considering different power phase angles. Bold traces represent the case when SPWM is applied and dashed traces represent the case when SVM is applied.

For the power phase angle $\phi = 90^{\circ}$ the maximum is analytically determined. It is the same for both modulations, SPWM and SVM, and it is expressed as:

$$r_{pp}^{\max}(m,\phi=90^{\circ}) = r_{pp}^{B}\Big|^{\max} = \frac{\sqrt{3}}{4}m.$$
 (3.42)

For the power phase angles $\phi = 0^{\circ}$ the maximum is analytically determined in case of SPWM (3.43) and SVM (3.44) as:

$$r_{pp}^{\max}(m,\phi=0,SPWM) = r_{pp}^{B}\Big|^{\max} = \frac{3}{4}m - \frac{3}{4}m^{2},$$
(3.43)

$$r_{pp}^{\max}(m,\phi=0,SVM) = r_{pp}^{B}\Big|^{\max} = \frac{3}{4}m - \frac{9}{8}m^{2}.$$
(3.44)

Due to the cumbersome calculations, for other presented values of power phase angles ($\vartheta = 60^{\circ}$ and 30°) the maximum is obtained by properly interpolating data with reasonable degree of approximation. The following equations are obtained:

$$r_{pp}^{\max}(m, \varphi = 30^{\circ}, SPWM) \cong 0.62 \, m - 0.5 \, m^2,$$
(3.45)

$$r_{pp}^{\max}(m, \varphi = 60^{\circ}, SPWM) \cong 0.375 \, m \,,$$
(3.46)

$$r_{pp}^{\max}(m, \varphi = 30^{\circ}, SVM) \cong 0.55 \, m - 0.54 \, m^2 \,,$$
(3.47)



 $r_{nn}^{\max}(m, \varphi = 60^\circ, SVM) \cong 0.45m - 0.13m^2.$ (3.48)

Fig. 3.9: Maximum of normalized peak-to-peak voltage ripple amplitude vs. modulation index for different power phase angles and two modulation techniques (SPWM – bold traces, SVM – dashed traces).

It can be seen from Fig. 3.9 that the maximum voltage ripple amplitude is significantly lower in case of SVM, especially for lower phase angles. Only in case of $\varphi=90^{\circ}$ both techniques give the same results. Moreover, in case of SPWM there is no significant difference in terms of global maximum value when different power phase angles are considered. In all considered cases, except the case of $\varphi=0^{\circ}$, the maximum is nearly linear function of the modulation index. When SVM is applied, the maximum of peak-to-peak voltage ripple amplitude is more dependent on the power phase angle and it is double reduced for $\varphi = 0^{\circ}$ comparing to $\varphi = 90^{\circ}$. It can be finally concluded that from the point of view of the maximum value of the voltage ripple, SVM is preferable in the considered case of three-phase inverters. Note that for the reason of comparison the maximum modulation index in Fig. 3.9 is 0.5 for both PWM strategies, although in case of SVM $m_{max}=0.577$.

3.5 Dc-link capacitor design

In this section, the dc-link capacitor design is proposed on the basis of the maximum dc voltage switching ripple shown in Fig. 3.9 for different operational conditions. Two boundary conditions ($\varphi = 0^\circ$ and $\varphi = 90^\circ$) have been chosen for the following analysis. The first case ($\varphi = 0^\circ$) corresponds to the most of grid-connected applications. The second case

 $(\varphi = 90^{\circ})$ has the highest peak-to-peak voltage ripple value, hence, it requires the biggest dc-link capacitor. The global maximum values of the voltage switching ripple for the corresponding two cases are depicted in Table 3.1, considering both modulation techniques.

Table 3.1: Global maximum of r_{pp}^{max} as a function of PWM for different power phase angles.

angle	SPWM	SVM
$\phi = 0^{\circ}$	0.19	0.125
$\phi = 90^{\circ}$	0.22	

By observing Fig. 3.9, and considering r_{pp}^{max} given in Table 3.1, a simple expressions for the dc-link capacitor design are obtained on the basis of (3.29) as a function of the required peak-to-peak voltage switching ripple amplitude Δv_{pp}^* . For two cases of interest, and considering both modulation techniques, the following formulas are obtained.

For $\varphi = 0^{\circ}$, when SPWM is applied, the capacitance can be calculated as:

$$C \ge 0.19 \frac{I_o}{f_{sw}} \frac{1}{\Delta v_{pp}^*},$$
 (3.49)

On the other side, when SVM is applied and $\phi = 0^{\circ}$ considered, the capacitance can be calculated as:

$$C \ge 0.125 \frac{I_o}{f_{sw}} \frac{1}{\Delta v_{pp}^*}.$$
(3.50)

Note that the coefficients in the equations (3.49) and (3.50) clearly suggest the need for higher capacitance value when SPWM is applied instead of SVM, when the same peak-to-peak voltage ripple requirements are set.

For $\varphi = 90^{\circ}$, when either SPWM or SVM is applied, the capacitance is given by:

$$C \ge 0.22 \frac{I_o}{f_{sw}} \frac{1}{\Delta v_{pp}^*} \,. \tag{3.51}$$

It can be noted that the designing procedure is simple and straightforward. Similarly to presented cases, the dc-link capacitor can be designed for any other operational conditions of interest.

3.6 Simulation and experimental results

To validate analytical developments, both simulations and experiments are conducted. The results are presented in Fig. 3.10-3.18, for both PWM techniques, SPWM and SVM (equivalent to CPWM). Numerical simulations have been carried out by Matlab/Simulink. The simulation circuit parameters are set in order to match the corresponding experimental setup parameters and are summarized in Table 3.2. Only linear modulation index is analyzed, and the maximum modulation index is 0.5 and 0.577 for SPWM and SVM, respectively.

Label	Description	Parameters	
$V_{ m dc}$	Dc voltage supply	90 V	
R	Dc source resistance	5 Ω	
L	Dc source inductance	10.15 mH	
С	Dc-link capacitance	100 µF	
f	Fundamental frequency	50 Hz	
f_{sw}	Switching frequency	2.5 kHz	

Table 3.2: Simulation circuit and experimental setup parameters.

Fig. 3.10 and 3.11 show simulation results in case of SVM and SPWM, respectively. The peak-to-peak envelopes calculated by (3.30) in case of SPWM, and (3.39) in case of SVM, as the half of peak-to-peak dc-link voltage ripple amplitude $\Delta v_{pp}/2(t)$ (red traces) are shown together with the instantaneous dc-link voltage switching ripple $\Delta v(t)$ (blue trace) over a fundamental period (T = 20 ms). Two values of the power phase angles $\varphi = 0^{\circ}$ (left column in the Figs. 3.10 and 3.11) and $\varphi = 50^{\circ}$ (right column in the Figs. 3.10 and 3.11) are considered and four sub-cases (a) - (d) correspond to different values of modulation index *m*: 0.25, 0.33, 0.5, and 0.577 (from top to bottom) when CPWM is applied, and *m*: 0.25, 0.33, 0.4, and 0.5 (from top to bottom) when SPWM is applied.

A good agreement between the analytically calculated dc-link voltage switching ripple envelopes and the simulated dc voltage ripple is shown for all considered cases, proving the effectiveness of the proposed analytical developments. Also, the behavior of the maximum peak-to-peak voltage switching ripple amplitude shown in Fig. 3.9 has been confirmed. It can be observed that, when the lower value of the modulation index (i.e. m <0.4) is considered, the global maximum decreases when the power phase angle increases. On contrary, if the maximum modulation index is considered, the voltage switching ripple reaches the maximum at the highest considered power phase angle.



Fig. 3.10: Dc-link voltage switching ripple (SVM): simulation results (blue trace) and calculated peak-to-peak envelope (red trace) over a fundamental period for $\phi = 0^{\circ}$ (left column) and $\phi = 50^{\circ}$ (right column), (**a**) m = 0.25, (**b**) m = 0.33, (**c**) m = 0.5, and (**d**) m = 0.577.

Chapter 3 Dc-link current and voltage switching ripple analysis in three-phase inverters



Fig. 3.11: Dc-link voltage switching ripple (SPWM): simulation results (blue trace) and calculated peak-to-peak envelope (red trace) over a fundamental period for $\varphi = 0^{\circ}$ (left column) and $\varphi = 50^{\circ}$ (right column), (**a**) m = 0.25, (**b**) m = 0.33, (**c**) m = 0.4, and (**d**) m = 0.5.

In order to prove both, theoretical developments and numerical results, experimental tests have been carried out. The whole experimental setup is shown in Fig. 3.12. The main hardware unit is the three-phase custom-made inverter with the Mitsubishi PS22A76 intelligent power IGBT module (1200V, 25A) which is controlled by the DSP microcontroller board. Control signals are transferred to the inverter through an optical interface board. DSP board TMS320F28379D is programmed by Code Composer Studio (CCS), with the possibility of real-time adjustment of modulation parameters by computer interface. For the voltage measurements a PICO TA057 differential probe (25MHz, \pm 1400V, \pm 2%) was used. For the current measurements a LEM PR30 current probe (DC to 20kHz, \pm 20A, \pm 1%) was used.



Fig. 3.12: Experimental setup.

For the experimental verification, two different power phase angles ($\varphi = 0^{\circ}$ and $\varphi = 50^{\circ}$) are obtained using two different loads. Fig. 3.13 shows the electrical circuit scheme of the experimental load.



Fig. 3.13: Three-phase load circuit.

In the case of the power phase angle $\varphi = 50^{\circ}$, 0.5 kW star-connected three-phase induction motor (at stand-still) is used having the following parameters: $R_L=26.8 \Omega$ and $L_L=103$ mH. In the case of the power phase angle $\varphi = 0^{\circ}$, another 2.2 kW star-connected three-phase induction motor is used having $R_L=3.16 \Omega$ and $L_L=20$ mH per phase and adding in series to each phase a resistor $R_0=20 \Omega$ and a parallel capacitor $C_0=58 \mu$ F in order to obtained the desired angle ($\varphi = 0^{\circ}$) (at stand-still) which represents the grid-connected application. All load parameters are estimated using an AC power source/analyzer and direct measurements supplying the load by a 50 Hz three-phase balanced voltage source. Two three-phase motors can be seen in Fig. 3.14.



2.2 kW three-phase IM

0.5 kW three-phase IM

Fig. 3.14: Two three-phase IM

Experimental results are shown by Yokogawa DLM 2024 oscilloscope screenshots and collected in Fig. 3.15 and 3.16 in the case of SVM, and in Fig. 3.17 and 3.18 in the case of SPWM. Two values of the power phase angles $\varphi = 50^{\circ}$ (Fig. 3.15 and Fig. 3.17) and $\varphi = 0^{\circ}$ (Fig. 3.16 and Fig. 3.18) and four values of modulation index are considered. In all screenshots, two upper traces present the load voltage and current (green and red traces, respectively) and the bottom (blue) trace presents the measured dc-link voltage switching ripple $\Delta v(t)$. The additional two orange traces present the calculated envelopes of the voltage ripple ($\Delta v_{pp}/2(t)$) provided by the DSP board and displayed using DAC block with a proper voltage scaling.

The switching ripple $\Delta v(t)$ has been obtained both numerically and experimentally by properly filtering the instantaneous dc-link voltage, according to (3.19). In case of experimental results the "ac coupling" function of the oscilloscope has been used together with a built-in second-order low-pass filter.



Fig. 3.15: Experimental results for $\varphi = 50^{\circ}$ (CPWM): upper half - output voltage and current, lower half – analytically calculated envelope and measured dc voltage switching ripple for (**a**) m = 0.25, (**b**) m = 0.33, (**c**) m = 0.5, and (**d**) m = 0.577.

Chapter 3 Dc-link current and voltage switching ripple analysis in three-phase inverters



Fig. 3.16: Experimental results for $\varphi = 0^\circ$ (CPWM): upper half - output voltage and current, lower half – analytically calculated envelope and measured dc voltage switching ripple for (**a**) m = 0.25, (**b**) m = 0.33, (**c**) m = 0.5, and (**d**) m = 0.577.



Fig. 3.17: Experimental results for $\phi = 50^{\circ}$ (SPWM): upper half - output voltage and current, lower half – analytically calculated envelope and measured dc voltage switching ripple for (**a**) m = 0.25, (**b**) m = 0.33, (**c**) m = 0.4, and (**d**) m = 0.5.

Chapter 3 Dc-link current and voltage switching ripple analysis in three-phase inverters



Fig. 3.18: Experimental results for $\varphi = 0^{\circ}$ (SPWM): upper half - output voltage and current, lower half – analytically calculated envelope and measured dc voltage switching ripple for (a) m = 0.25, (b) m = 0.33, (c) m = 0.4, and (d) m = 0.5.

Experimentally obtained results show good matching between theoretically calculated envelopes and peak-to peak dc-link voltage ripple for all considered cases of modulation indices and power phase angles, proving the effectiveness of the proposed approach.

3.7 Discussion

In this chapter, dc-link current and voltage ripple analysis is presented for two-level three-phase voltage source inverters with balanced load. A short review of carrier-based and space vector PWM for three-phase inverters is provided. The dc-link voltage ripple components are calculated on the basis of the corresponding dc-link current components. The voltage switching ripple amplitude has been derived for two modulation techniques – sinusoidal and centered ("min-max" injection, equivalent to SVM) PWM as a function of operational conditions: modulation index, phase current and power phase angle. The maximum (peak-to-peak) value of voltage ripple amplitude has been evaluated as a function of modulation index for different power phase angles. The comparison between different cases has been made in terms of different operational conditions and applied modulation techniques. Simple and effective expressions for the dc-link capacitor design are proposed based on the maximum dc-link voltage switching ripple amplitude.

Simulations and experimental results for both SPWM and CPWM, considering two power phase angles and different values of modulation index, are given. Given results are aimed to show the matching between analytically calculated dc-link voltage ripple envelope and measured instantaneous dc-link voltage switching ripple. The comparison of dclink voltage switching ripple between different phase numbers will be given in Chapter 4.

References

- [3.1] G.D. Holmes, T.A. Lipo (2003), "Pulse width modulation for power converters principles and practice, *IEEE Press Series on Power Engineering*, John Wiley and Sons, Piscataway, NJ, USA.
- [3.2] Zhou, K., Wang, D., (2002), Relationship between space-vector modulation and three-phase carrier-based PWM: a comprehensive analysis, *IEEE Trans. on Industrial Electronics*, vol. 49, no. 1, pp. 186-196.
- [3.3] D. Casadei, G. Serra, A. Tani, and L. Zarri, "Theoretical and experimental analysis for the RMS current ripple minimization in induction motor drives controlled by SVM technique," *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics*, vol. 51, no. 5, October 2004, pp. 1056-1065.
- [3.4] G. Narayanan, D. Zhao, H. K. Krishnamurthy, R. Ayyanar, and V. T. Ranganathan, "Space vector based hybrid PWM techniques for reduces current ripple," *IEEE Transaction on Industrial Electronics*, vol. 55, no. 4, April 2008, pp. 1614-1627.
- [3.5] D. Jiang, F. Wang, "Current-ripple prediction for three-phase PWM converters," *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Applications*, vol.50, no.1, Jan/Feb 2014, pp. 531-538.
- [3.6] D. Jiang and F. Wang, "Variable switching frequency PWM for three-phase converters based on current ripple prediction," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 28, no. 11, pp. 4951–4961, Nov. 2013.
- [3.7] G. Grandi, J. Loncarski, "Evaluation of current ripple amplitude in three-phase PWM voltage source inverters," in Proc. of IEEE Conference on Compatibility and Power Electronics (CPE), Ljubljana, Slovenia, 5-7 June 2013.
- [3.8] P.A. Dahono, Y. Sato, T. Kataoka, "Analysis and Minimization of ripple components of input current and voltage of PWM inverters," *IEEE Trans. Ind. Appl.* 1996, 32, 945–950.
- [3.9] G. Gohil, L.Bede, R. Teodorescu, T. Kerekes, F. Blaabjerg, "Analytical method to calculate the DC link current stress in voltage source converters," in Proc. of IEEE International Conference on Power Electronics, Drives and Energy Systems (PED-ES), Mumbai, India, 16–19 December 2014.
- [3.10] J.W.Kolar, S.D. Round, "Analytical calculation of the RMS current stress on the DC-link capacitor of voltage-PMW converter systems," *in IEE Proc. Electr. Power Appl.* 2006, 153, 535–543.

- [3.11] M.H. Bierhoff, F.W. Fuchs, "DC-link harmonics of three-phase voltage source converters influenced by the pulsewidth-modulation strategy—An analysis," *IEEE Trans. Ind. Electron.* 2008, 55, 2085–2092.
- [3.12] F. Renken, "Analytic calculation of the DC-link capacitor current for pulsed threephase inverters," in Proc. of the 11th International Conference on Power Electronics and Motion Control, Riga, Latvia, 2–4 September 2004.
- [3.13] Q. Li, D. Jiang, "DC-link current analysis of three-phase 2L-VSI considering AC current ripple," *IET Power Electr.*, vol 11, pp. 202-211, Feb. 2018.
- [3.14] U. Ayhan, A.M. Hava, "Analysis and characterization of DC bus ripple current of two-level inverters using the equivalent centered harmonic approach," in Proc. of the IEEE Energy Conversion Congress and Exposition (ECCE), Phoenix, AZ, USA, 12–22 September 2011.
- [3.15] B.P. McGrath, D.G. Holmes, "A general analytical method for calculating inverter DC-link current harmonics," *IEEE Trans. Ind. Appl.* 2009, 45, 1851–1859.
- [3.16] K. Nishizawa, J.I. Nagaoka, A. Odaka, A. Toba, H. Umida, "Reduction of input current harmonics based on space vector modulation for three-phase VSI with varied power factor," *in Proc. of the IEEE Energy Conversion Congress and Exposition* (ECCE), Milwaukee, WI, USA, 18–22 September 2016.
- [3.17] J. Hobraiche, J.P. Vilain, P. Macret, N. Patin, "A New PWM Strategy to Reduce the Inverter Input Current Ripples," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.* 2009, 24, 172–180.
- [3.18] X. Pei, W. Zhou, Y. Kang, "Analysis and calculation of DC-link current and voltage ripples for three-phase inverter with unbalanced load," *IEEE Trans. Ind. Electron*. 2015, 30, 5401–5412.

Authored papers

- [3.19] M. Vujacic, M. Hammami, M. Srndovic and G. Grandi, "Evaluation of DC voltage ripple in three-phase PWM voltage source inverters," *in Proc. IEEE ISIE*, Edinburgh, U.K., 2017, pp. 711-716.
- [3.20] D. X. Llano, R. A. McMahon, M. Vujacic, "Dc voltage ripple estimation in high performance electric power-trains," *in Proc. IEEE ICIT*, Melbourne, Australia, 2019.
- [3.21] M. Vujacic, M. Hammami, M. Srndovic and G. Grandi, "Analysis of dc-link voltage switching ripple in three-phase PWM inverters," *Energies*, vol.11, Feb 2018.

Chapter 4

Dc-link current and voltage switching ripple analysis in multiphase inverters

4.1 Introduction

The area of multiphase machines (machines with the number of phases greater than three) has gained widespread attention in the last decade. The interest in multiphase machines is rising due to some very specific applications, such as electric and hybrid electric vehicles (EVs), railway traction, ship propulsion, "more-electric" aircraft, remote offshore wind farms for electric energy generation, and the high-power industrial applications (rolling mills, compressors etc). The main reason for utilization of multiphase machines in these applications is the existence of additional degrees of freedom when compared to their three-phase counterparts. The "classical" use of additional degrees of freedom are torque enhancement using low-order stator current harmonic injection and fault-tolerant operation. In addition, the possibility of splitting the motor power across a higher number of phases enables a reduction in the voltage/current rating of power semiconductors of the converters which are used to drive multiphase machines. A comprehensive survey of multiphase machines, covering their basic characteristics, types and variety, advantages over their three-phase counterparts, modelling, vector control, direct torque control, PWM control of multiphase inverters, postfault operating strategies, multiphase multi-motor drive systems, etc. are available in [4.1] and [4.2]. The latest contributions and significant new research results in the multiphase machines' field is available in [4.3], [4.4] and [4.5]. The focus is on innovative uses of the additional degrees of freedom of multiphase drives.

Multiphase machines are predominantly based on utilization of two-level multiphase voltage source inverters with equal number of phases. In order to fully exploit the potential of inverter-fed multiphase machines, a suitable modulation strategy has to be applied. As for the three-phase case, two most common modulation techniques for multiphase inverters are carrier-based PWM (CBPWM) and space vector PWM (SVPWM). The extension from three- to multi- phase VSIs is simple and rather straightforward in case of CBPWM techniques. The improvement of the dc-bus utilization can be easily achieved by appropriate zero-sequence injection into leg voltage references. However, as the number of phases in-

creases, the improvement rapidly reduces. Unlike CBPWM, the application of SVPWM becomes more complicated when the number of phases increase. Space vector PWM methods for symmetrical multiphase machines with an odd number of phases have been extensively discussed in the literature. A generic SVPWM algorithm, applicable to two-level multiphase VSIs, where the number of phases is an odd number, has been presented in [4.8]. Feasibility of generalization has been verified for five-, seven- and nine-phase systems. A comprehensive relationship between SVPWM and CBPWM, followed by the practical implementation issues is provided in [4.9].

Recently, the research focus in the area of multiphase inverters has been placed on the output side of inverters. The output current ripple is studied in terms of RMS minimization and its maximum peak-to-peak value. Referring to two-level five-phase VSIs, the analytical study of the output current ripple RMS, based on space vector theory has been presented in [4.10]. Three different modulation techniques, aimed at sinusoidal output generation, are compared and the results show that, in terms of the output current ripple RMS, the best modulation technique is the sinusoidal PWM. The superiority of the sinusoidal PWM in balanced sinusoidal operating conditions has been confirmed for an odd number of phases in [4.11] using so called "polygon approach". In [4.12], the zero-sequence component of the modulating signals is optimized in each switching period leading to the minimization of the output current ripple for any output voltage waveform. Furthermore, the comparison among several continuous and discontinuous modulation techniques, in terms of output current ripple, has been made and SVPWM shows the nearly-optimal behavior in each operating condition. The analysis related to the output current ripple peak-to-peak value in five-phase inverters has been presented in [4.13], where the peak-to-peak current ripple amplitude is analytically determined as a function of the modulation index, and a simplified expression for its maximum value is obtained. An extension of the analysis and an experimental verification is provided in [4.14]. A further extension to the seven-phase case and derivation of the peak-to-peak current ripple amplitude as a function of modulation index is given in [4.15]. A similar idea is presented in [4.16], where the current ripple prediction method for multiphase PWM converters is proposed based on the equivalent single-phase circuit.

Analysis of input current and dc-link voltage, presented so far, mainly refers to twolevel three-phase inverters. However, the input (dc-link) side of multiphase inverters has not been investigated widely. With reference to five-phase inverters, RMS calculations of input current and voltage ripple have been reported in [4.17]. Different modulation techniques are considered and no dependency of the RMS value of the inverter input current ripple on the selected PWM scheme has been shown. It has been shown in [4.18] for a square-wave VSI control that the RMS value of the dc-link current can be decreased by increasing the number of phases. Comparison of square-wave and a PWM control through spectral analysis is conducted for a seven-phase drive. The impact of classical PWM mod-
ulation, with and without common mode injection on the RMS value of the dc current has been studied in [4.19] for dual-three phase induction machine. A PWM strategy dedicated to minimization of the RMS of the dc-link current in dual three-phase drive has been compared in [4.20] with more conventional PWM techniques. It has been shown that PWM strategies have different effect on the RMS of the dc current and on the quality of the output current. However, both constraints must be considered for the dc-link capacitor sizing. The RMS calculations of input current ripple in nine-phase PWM inverter are carried out in [4.21]. Referring to a six-phase drive system, the RMS value of the input current ripple is derived in [4.22]. As an alternative solution to six-phase drive system, double winding and dual inverter fed ac drive systems are considered and the input current ripple is compared among several modulations. In [4.23] is shown that the input current ripple is achieved.

As it can be noted, the analysis of the dc-link current and voltage ripple in multiphase inverters is mostly based on the RMS calculations. In this chapter, the dc-link voltage switching ripple in two-level multiphase VSIs with balanced load, where the number of phases is an odd number greater than three, is evaluated in terms of the maximum (peak-to-peak) value. Two most popular PWM techniques – sinusoidal and space vector PWM are applied and compared. A short review of both modulations is given in section 4.2. The theoretical analysis of the inverter's dc-link current is presented in section 4.3 for general *n*-phase case. The voltage ripple is evaluated in section 4.4 and the focus is placed on five-and seven- phase two-level VSIs. The comparison of voltage switching ripple for higher number of phases is made in section 4.5 in terms of the voltage ripple envelope and its maximum value. Dc-link voltage switching ripple requirements are further used for the dc-link capacitor design. Simulations and experimental results are included in section 4.6. Finally, a brief discussion of obtained results is given in section 4.7.

The content of this chapter, based on theoretical analysis and experimental results, has been used in [4.28] and [4.29].

4.2 Modulation techniques

For the dc-link voltage ripple evaluation that follows, a brief review of sinusoidal PWM (SPWM) and space vector modulation (SVM) for multiphase VSIs is given. The multiphase (*n*-phase, *n* is considered as an add number) VSI topology supplying a starconnected balanced passive- or motor-load is presented in Fig. 4.1. The inverter is supplied by a dc voltage source (V_{dc}) via an equivalent series dc source impedance Z_{dc} , representing an inductive filter (*L*) and/or an equivalent series resistance (*R*).



Fig. 4.1: Circuit scheme of *n*-phase voltage source inverter.

Carrier-based PWM

For reason of simplicity, sinusoidal PWM is introduced first. According to Fig. 3.1, the zero-sequence signal is set to zero to obtain SPWM. The *n* reference signals become equal to the sinusoidal fundamental signals, displaced in time by $2\pi/n$ degrees as

$$v_k^*(t) = mV\cos\left(\vartheta - (k-1)\frac{2\pi}{n}\right), k = 1, 2, ...n.$$
 (4.1)

In the following, two multiphase inverter topologies are analyzed, five- and sevenphase two-level inverters. Fig. 4.2 shows reference signals of (4.1) for five-phase case compared with the triangle carrier waveforms, for one fundamental period and for modulation index set as m=0.5.



Fig. 4.2: Reference signals for five-phase VSIs over one fundamental period (SPWM).

It is noticeable that fundamental period can be divided into 10 sectors, each spanning $\pi/5$ degrees. Considering the first sector, as an example, Fig. 4.3 shows five reference signals over one switching period (T_{sw}) together with a carrier signal, and generated PWM switching patterns (switching functions).



Fig. 4.3: Principle of generation of switching pattern for five-phase VSIs.

The application times t_k , k=0,1,..5 can be calculated based on Fig. 4.3 and by means of simple trigonometry as:

$$t_0 = \frac{T_{sw}}{2} \left(\frac{1}{2} - m\cos(9) \right), \tag{4.2}$$

$$t_1 = mT_{sw}\sin\left(\frac{\pi}{5}\right)\sin\left(\frac{\pi}{5} - \vartheta\right),\tag{4.3}$$

$$t_2 = mT_{sw}\sin\left(\frac{2\pi}{5}\right)\sin(\vartheta), \qquad (4.4)$$

$$t_3 = mT_{sw}\sin\left(\frac{2\pi}{5}\right)\sin\left(\frac{\pi}{5} - \vartheta\right),\tag{4.5}$$

$$t_4 = mT_{sw}\sin\left(\frac{\pi}{5}\right)\sin\left(\vartheta\right),\tag{4.6}$$

$$t_{5} = \frac{T_{sw}}{2} \left(\frac{1}{2} - m \cos\left(\frac{\pi}{5} - 9\right) \right).$$
(4.7)

According to Fig. 3.1, centered PWM (CPWM) can be achieved by adding to the five sinusoidal reference signals the zero-sequence signal expressed as:

$$v_{z}(t) = -0.5 \left(v_{\max}^{*} + v_{\min}^{*} \right)$$
(4.8)

Comparing to the SPWM, an increase of around 5.15% in the dc bus utilization, in the linear modulation region, is achieved if CPWM is applied to five-phase system. Thus, the modulation limit is m_{max} =0.526. The effect of a "min-max" injection is shown in Fig. 4.4 where five reference signals are shown over one fundamental period.



Fig. 4.4: Reference signals for five-phase VSIs over one fundamental period (CPWM).

It can be noted that after the injection (Fig. 4.4) the ordering of the reference signals remains the same as before injection (Fig. 4.2). Thus, keeping in mind that with high enough switching frequency those reference signals are still constant during one carrier period, it can be concluded that the switching sequences (and so, the application times) of the active space vectors will be the same as in case of SPWM. The difference is in the application times of two zero space vectors. Based on (4.1), (4.8) and Sector 1 (Fig. 4.4), the application times of two zero space vectors are calculated as:

$$t_0 = \frac{T_{sw}}{2} \left[\frac{1}{2} - m\cos\left(\vartheta\right) + \frac{1}{2} \left(m\cos\left(\vartheta\right) + m\cos\left(\vartheta - \frac{8\pi}{5}\right) \right) \right],\tag{4.9}$$

$$t_3 = \frac{T_{sw}}{2} \left[\frac{1}{2} + m\cos\left(\vartheta - \frac{8\pi}{5}\right) - \frac{1}{2} \left(m\cos\left(\vartheta\right) + m\cos\left(\vartheta - \frac{8\pi}{5}\right)\right) \right].$$
(4.10)

Applying basic trigonometric equations, the following simplification is obtained:

$$t_{0} = t_{5} = \frac{T_{sw}}{2} - (t_{1} + t_{2} + t_{3} + t_{4}) =$$

$$= \frac{T_{sw}}{2} \left[1 - m \left(1 + \cos\left(\frac{\pi}{5}\right) \right) \cos \vartheta - m \sin\left(\frac{\pi}{5}\right) \sin \vartheta \right].$$
(4.11)

Similarly to the five-phase case, Fig. 4.5 shows reference signals of (4.1) for sevenphase case compared with the triangle carrier waveforms, for one fundamental period and for modulation index set as m=0.5. It is noticeable that in this case fundamental period can be divided into 14 sectors, each spanning $\pi/7$ degrees.



Fig. 4.5: Reference signals for seven-phase VSIs over one fundamental period (SPWM).

Assuming the same (high) ratio of the switching over fundamental frequency as before, and considering the first sector as an example, Fig. 4.6 shows seven reference signals over one switching period (T_{sw}) together with a carrier signal, and generated PWM switching patterns (switching functions).

The application times t_k , k=0,1,..7 can be calculated similarly to the case of fivephase inverters, referring to Fig. 4.6 and by means of simple trigonometry as:

$$t_0 = \frac{T_{sw}}{2} \left(\frac{1}{2} - m\cos(9) \right), \tag{4.12}$$



Fig. 4.6: Principle of generation of switching pattern for seven-phase VSIs.

$$t_1 = mT_{sw}\sin\left(\frac{\pi}{7}\right)\sin\left(\frac{\pi}{7} - \vartheta\right),\tag{4.13}$$

$$t_2 = mT_{sw}\sin\left(\frac{5\pi}{7}\right)\sin(\vartheta), \qquad (4.14)$$

$$t_3 = mT_{sw}\sin\left(\frac{3\pi}{7}\right)\sin\left(\frac{\pi}{7} - \vartheta\right),\tag{4.15}$$

$$t_4 = mT_{sw}\sin\left(\frac{3\pi}{7}\right)\sin\left(9\right),\tag{4.16}$$

$$t_5 = mT_{sw}\sin\left(\frac{5\pi}{7}\right)\sin\left(\frac{\pi}{7} - 9\right),\tag{4.17}$$

$$t_6 = mT_{sw} \sin\left(\frac{5\pi}{7}\right) \sin\left(\frac{\pi}{7} - 9\right),\tag{4.18}$$

$$t_7 = \frac{T_{sw}}{2} \left(\frac{1}{2} - m \cos\left(\frac{\pi}{7} - \vartheta\right) \right).$$
(4.19)

Centered PWM (CPWM) can be achieved by adding to the seven sinusoidal reference signals the zero-sequence signal given by (4.8). An increase of around 2.57% in the DC bus utilization, in the linear modulation region, is achieved comparing to the SPWM [4.26]. Thus, in case of seven-phase VSIs, the modulation limit is m_{max} =0.513. The effect of a "min-max" injection is shown in Fig. 4.7 where seven reference signals are shown over one fundamental period.



Fig. 4.7: Reference signals for seven-phase VSIs over one fundamental period (CPWM).

As in the five-phase case, the switching sequences (and so, the application times) of the active space vectors, in the first sector, are identical to those given by (4.13) - (4.18) for SPWM. The difference is in the application times of two zero space vectors which are finally calculated as:

$$t_{o} = t_{7} = \frac{T_{sw}}{2} - (t_{1} + t_{2} + t_{3} + t_{4} + t_{5} + t_{6}) =$$

= $\frac{T_{sw}}{2} \left[1 - 2m \left(\sin(\pi/7) + \sin(3\pi/7) + \sin(5\pi/7) \right) \left(\sin(\pi/7) \cos(9) + \left(1 - \cos(\pi/7) \sin(9) \right) \right) \right]$. (4.20)

Space vector modulation

Due to the large number of space vectors in multiphase machines there is a lot of flexibility in choosing the proper combination of them. SVPWM method for a symmetrical five-phase machine was first presented in [4.6]. By combining the utilization of two large and two medium length neighbouring space vectors sinusoidal output voltages are obtained without any low-order harmonics. The same dwell times, although calculated in a different way, are obtained in [4.7]. Different schemes based on use of only large active space vec-

tors, two or four per switching period, have been reported as well, but no one of these methods is optimal in the sense of easy implementation and switching losses.

Space vectors in a two-level five-phase VSI can be projected into two twodimensional sub-spaces or planes. There are $2^5=32$ voltage space vectors, comprising of 30 active vectors and 2 zero vectors, and each of them appears in both planes simultaneously. However, in order to generate sinusoidal output voltages, it is enough to apply four active space vectors over a switching period. These are usually two large and two medium neighboring vectors used to reach the reference in the given sector of the first plane. These active space vectors are applied with the times of applications that provide automatically zero average voltage in the second plane. Such times of application of active space vectors can be calculated from the set of fundamental sinusoidal signals and are equal to those given by (4.3) - (4.6). The most commonly adopted - equal distribution of the application times of the zero space vectors is considered leading again to the same expression for zero space vectors time of application as the one given by (4.11). The limit of the linear modulation range is $m \le m_{max} \approx 0.526$, where m_{max} is given according to the generalized expression for n phases, (n is odd number) $m_{max} = 1 / [2 \cos(\pi/2n)]$. [4.24]

Fig. 4.8 represents the ten output voltage space vectors in planes α_1 - β_1 and α_3 - β_3 , corresponding to all possible switching configurations.



Fig. 4.8: Space vector diagram of five-phase inverter output voltage [4.14]

The SVM for a seven-phase VSIs was first introduced in [4.25]. In [4.26], a set of continuous PWM methods for sinusoidal output voltage generation is presented. The Duty-Cycle Space Vector (DCSV) approach, which combines the multiple space vector representation with traditional carrier-based PWM principle is presented in [4.27].

In seven-phase VSIs there are $2^7=128$ voltage space vectors which are obtained in three two-dimensional planes. Each vector has a unique appearance in all three planes except for the zero space vectors which appear originally in all planes. However, to generate

sinusoidal output voltages it is enough to apply six active space vectors over a switching period. The application times of active space vectors are calculated in the way to achieve the cancellation of the 5th and 3rd harmonics, in the 2nd and 3rd plane, respectively. Such times of application of active space vectors are obtained from the set of fundamental sinusoidal signals and are equal to those given by (4.13) - (4.18). The most commonly adopted - equal distribution of the application times of the zero space vectors is considered leading again to the same expression for zero space vectors time of application as the one given by (4.20). Dc bus utilization is increased by 2.57% compared to SPWM and so, the limit of the linear modulation range is $m \le m_{max} \approx 0.513$, where m_{max} is given according to the generalized expression for *n* phases, (*n* is odd number) $m_{max} = 1 / [2 \cos(\pi/2n)]$. [4.24]

Fig. 4.9 represents the fourteen output voltage space vectors in the planes α_1 - β_1 , α_3 - β_3 and α_5 - β_5 , corresponding to all possible switching configurations.



Fig. 4.9: Space vector diagram of seven-phase inverter output voltage. [4.15]

4.3 Dc-link current analysis

Considering that the inverter output phase voltages averaged over the switching period correspond to the reference phase voltages given by (4.1), in case of balanced load and neglecting the output current ripple, the corresponding *n*-phase sinusoidal output currents can be written as:

$$i_{k} = I_{0} \cos\left(\mathcal{G} - (k-1)\frac{2\pi}{n} - \varphi\right), \ k = 1, 2, ...n,$$
(4.21)

where I_0 is the output current amplitude and φ is the phase angle between the phase voltage and current.

The instantaneous input current i(t) can be generally expressed by three components: dc (average) component $I = I_{dc}$, low-frequency component and high-frequency (switching frequency) component $\Delta i(t)$. Considering balanced load conditions, the low-frequency component is zero and the inverter input current contains only the dc (average) and the high frequency component, written as:

$$i(t) = I_{dc} + \Delta i(t) . \tag{4.22}$$

Under the assumption of the ideal power switches, the input current averaged over the switching period T_{sw} can be obtained based on the input/output power balance. Therefore, the average input current is given by:

$$I_{dc} = \frac{m}{2} n I_0 \cos \varphi \,. \tag{4.23}$$

The input current is the sum of *n* inverter leg currents. Each leg current can be calculated from the binary switching function $S_k = [0, 1]$, k = 1, 2, ..., n (where '1'/'0' corresponds to the 'on'/'off' state of the upper switch in particular leg), and corresponding output current. Consequently, the input current can be expressed as:

$$i = \sum_{k=1}^{n} S_k i_k . (4.24)$$

The switching frequency input current component can be easily calculated utilizing equations (4.22) - (4.24) as:

$$\Delta i(t) = i(t) - I_{dc} = \sum_{k=1}^{n} S_k i_k - \frac{m}{2} n I_0 \cos \varphi \,. \tag{4.25}$$

Due to the symmetry of the inverter input current waveforms, the analysis can be limited to 1/2n of the fundamental period (T/2n), i.e. first π/n radians.

4.4 Dc-link voltage ripple analysis

As already emphasized in section 3.4, the dc-link voltage can be decomposed in three components. Calculation of the peak-to-peak amplitude of the switching frequency dc-link voltage ripple component Δv_{pp} is of the main interest in this chapter. It can be defined as the difference between the maximum and the minimum value of the voltage ripple within the switching period:

$$\Delta v_{pp} = \max\{\Delta v(t)\}_{T_{w}} - \min\{\Delta v(t)\}_{T_{w}}.$$
(4.26)

Assuming that the reactance $1/(2\pi f_{sw}C)$ of the dc-link capacitor *C* is much smaller comparing to the equivalent dc source impedance Z_{dc} calculated at the switching frequency $(f_{sw}=1/T_{sw})$, the whole Δi can be supposed circulating only through the dc-link capacitor. The voltage excursion can be calculated within each application interval t_k (determined in section 4.2 for SPWM and SVM) based on the equation for the voltage drop over capacitor and considering Δi constant within the considered interval:

$$\Delta v_{pp}^{k} = \frac{1}{C} \Delta i \ t_{k}. \tag{4.27}$$

The global peak-to-peak dc-link voltage ripple amplitude Δv_{pp} is finally obtained by combining different Δv_{pp}^{k} and finding the maximum within the switching period.

Due to the periodicity of the input current i(t) waveform, the evaluation of the voltage ripple can be also reduced to the phase angle range $0 \le \vartheta \le \pi/n$ (corresponding to the first sector in Fig. 4.5). Within the first sector, depending on the value of I_{dc} , *n*-1 different cases can be distinguished.

In order to analytically determine the dc-link peak-to-peak voltage switching ripple amplitude, two different multiphase schemes are further addressed. In particular, fivephase and seven-phase VSI topologies are analyzed next.

4.4.1 Five-phase inverter

Two different modulation strategies have been applied in the following analysis and the dc-link voltage switching ripple for five-phase inverter is investigated under the two of them. Some remarks on the influence of modulation technique on the voltage switching ripple distribution follow as well.

4.4.1.1 Peak-to-peak voltage switching ripple with sinusoidal PWM

In Fig. 4.10 the peak-to-peak dc-link voltage variations Δv_{pp}^k and the instantaneous input current i(t) (red staircase line) are depicted in one switching period. Note that Fig. 4.10 presents just an example of possible current and voltage ripple waveforms. In general, the instantaneous input current i(t) is calculated by (4.22). In order to cover all the possible input current profiles, the *max* function is finally applied to the calculated voltage ripple variations as it will be shown in the following.

Depending on the value of I_{dc} , and if SPWM is applied ($t_0 \neq t_5$), five different cases can be distinguished:



Fig. 4.10: Dc-link current and voltage ripple in one switching period for five-phase VSIs.

- case A: when $i_1 \ge I_{dc}$,
- case B: when $i_1 \leq I_{dc} < i_1 + i_2$,
- case C: when $i_1+i_2 \le I_{dc} < -(i_3+i_4)$,
- case D: when $-(i_3+i_4) \le I_{dc} < -i_4$,
- case E: when $i_1 \ge I_{dc}$.

According to Fig. 4.10, corresponding peak-to-peak dc-link voltage variations can be expressed as:

$$\Delta v_{pp}^{A} = \frac{1}{C} I_{dc} 2t_{0}, \tag{4.28}$$

$$\Delta v_{pp}^{B} = \Delta v_{pp}^{A} + \frac{1}{C} (I_{dc} - i_{1}) 2t_{1}, \qquad (4.29)$$

$$\Delta v_{pp}^{C} = \Delta v_{pp}^{B} + \frac{1}{C} (I_{dc} - i_1 - i_2) 2t_2, \qquad (4.30)$$

$$\Delta v_{pp}^{D} = \Delta v_{pp}^{C} + \frac{1}{C} (I_{dc} + i_3 + i_4) 2t_3,$$
(4.31)

$$\Delta v_{pp}^{E} = \Delta v_{pp}^{D} + \frac{1}{C} I_{dc} 2t_{5}.$$
(4.32)

Utilizing (4.2) - (4.7), (4.23) and (4.24), the following equations for each sub-sector within the first sector are obtained:

$$\Delta v_{pp}^{A} = \frac{5}{2} \frac{I_o}{f_{sw}C} m \cos \varphi \left(\frac{1}{2} - m \cos(\vartheta)\right), \tag{4.33}$$

$$\Delta v_{pp}^{B} = \Delta v_{pp}^{A} + 2 \frac{I_{o}}{f_{sw}C} m \sin\left(\frac{\pi}{5}\right) \sin\left(\frac{\pi}{5} - \vartheta\right) \left(\frac{5}{2} m \cos\varphi - \cos\left(\vartheta - \varphi\right)\right), \tag{4.34}$$

$$\Delta v_{pp}^{C} = \Delta v_{pp}^{B} + 2 \frac{I_{o}}{f_{sw}C} m \sin\left(\frac{3\pi}{5}\right) \sin\left(9\right) \left(\frac{5}{2} m \cos\varphi - \cos\left(9-\varphi\right) - \cos\left(9-\frac{2\pi}{5}-\varphi\right)\right), \quad (4.35)$$

$$\Delta v_{pp}^{D} = \Delta v_{pp}^{C} + 2\frac{I_{o}}{f_{sw}C}m\sin\left(\frac{3\pi}{5}\right)\sin\left(\frac{\pi}{5} - \vartheta\right)\left(\frac{5}{2}m\cos\varphi + \cos\left(\vartheta - \frac{4\pi}{5} - \varphi\right) - \cos\left(\vartheta - \frac{6\pi}{5} - \varphi\right)\right), \quad (4.36)$$

$$\Delta v_{pp}^{E} = \frac{5}{2} \frac{I_o}{f_{sw}C} m \cos \varphi \left(\frac{1}{2} - m \cos \left(\frac{\pi}{5} - \vartheta \right) \right). \tag{4.37}$$

The global peak-to-peak dc-link voltage ripple amplitude Δv_{pp} is obtained by merging the results corresponding to these five cases and finding the maximum within the switching period:

$$\Delta v_{pp}^{SPWM} = \max \left\{ \Delta v_{pp}^{A}, \Delta v_{pp}^{B}, \Delta v_{pp}^{C}, \Delta v_{pp}^{D}, \Delta v_{pp}^{E} \right\}.$$

$$(4.38)$$

Also in this case, the normalization of the dc-link peak-to-peak voltage switching ripple amplitude is done according to (3.29). Applying the normalization factor to (4.38), the normalized peak-to-peak voltage ripple amplitude is given by:

$$r_{pp}^{SPWM} = \max\{r_{pp}^{A}, r_{pp}^{B}, r_{pp}^{C}, r_{pp}^{D}, r_{pp}^{E}\}.$$
(4.39)

4.4.1.2 Peak-to-peak voltage switching ripple with SVM

As it was commented in section 4.2, the total application time of the zero space vector is equally shared between two zero space vector when space vector modulation is applied. It means that the application times t_0 and t_5 (Fig. 4.10) are equal and given by (4.11). Therefore, the evaluation of dc voltage switching ripple is identical in the following three sub-sectors within the first sector: case B, case C and case D for both modulations, SPWM and SVM. The exception is consideration of the total application time of the zero state ($t_0 + t_5$) leading to only one additional case (instead of two cases when SPWM is applied) in the peak-to-peak voltage switching ripple calculations:

- case A: when
$$i_1 \ge I_{dc}$$
,

$$\Delta v_{pp}^A = \frac{2}{C} I_{dc} t_0, \qquad (4.40)$$

Introducing (4.11) and (4.23) into (4.40) yields to

$$\Delta v_{pp}^{A} = \frac{5}{4} \frac{I_o}{f_{sw}C} m \cos \varphi \left(1 - m \left(1 + \cos\left(\frac{\pi}{5}\right) \cos\left(9\right) - m \sin\left(\frac{\pi}{5}\right) \sin\left(9\right) \right) \right).$$
(4.41)

The global peak-to-peak dc-link voltage ripple amplitude Δv_{pp} is obtained by merging the results corresponding to these four cases:

$$\Delta v_{pp}^{SVM} = \max\left\{\Delta v_{pp}^{A}, \Delta v_{pp}^{B}, \Delta v_{pp}^{C}, \Delta v_{pp}^{D}\right\}.$$
(4.42)

Normalized peak-to-peak voltage ripple amplitude r_{pp}^{SVM} can be defined by (3.29) with reference to Δv_{pp}^{SVM} as

$$r_{pp}^{SVM} = \max\left\{r_{pp}^{A}, r_{pp}^{B}, r_{pp}^{C}, r_{pp}^{D}\right\}.$$
(4.43)

To show the behavior of the peak-to-peak voltage switching ripple amplitude over the fundamental period $\vartheta = [0, \pi/5]$, Fig. 4.11 depicts the normalized peak-to-peak voltage switching ripple amplitude calculated by (4.39) and (4.43), when sinusoidal modulating signal is applied and when the zero-sequence signal is injected, respectively.



Fig. 4.11: Normalized peak-to-peak dc-link voltage ripple amplitude $r_{pp}(\vartheta)$ over the fundamental period $[0, \pi/5]$, when SPWM (left) and SVM (right) are applied, for different modulation indices, m = 1/6, 1/4, 1/3 and 1/2, and power phase angles $\varphi = 0^{\circ}$ (**a**), 30° (**b**), 60° (**c**) and 90° (**d**).

Four power phase angles $\vartheta = 0$, 30° , 60° and 90° have been considered. Four cases that correspond to the operation with m = 1/6, 1/4, 1/3, and 1/2 respectively, are illustrated for each power phase angle. It can be seen from Fig. 4.11 that the dc voltage ripple amplitude generally ranges between 0 (minimum) and 0.2 (maximum). By increasing the power phase angle the peak-to-peak voltage switching ripple amplitude decreases. Also, for all considered values of modulation index the shape of the ripple becomes more flat for higher values of the power phase angles.

4.4.2 Seven-phase inverter

The second multiphase inverter topology which has been analyzed in terms of the dc-link peak-to-peak voltage switching ripple distribution is seven-phase configuration. The investigation of the voltage ripple behavior under the sinusoidal and centered PWM (equivalent to SVM) is shown in the following.

4.4.2.1 Peak-to-peak voltage switching ripple with sinusoidal PWM

In Fig. 4.12 the peak-to-peak dc-link voltage variations Δv_{pp}^k and the instantaneous input current i(t) (red staircase line) are depicted in one switching period. As in the five-phase case, just an example of input current waveform is shown aiming to demonstrate the applied approach, but the *max* function, applied finally to the voltage ripple variations, covers all input current profiles.

Depending on the value of I_{dc} , and if SPWM is applied ($t_0 \neq t_7$), seven different cases can be distinguished:

- case A: when $i_1 \ge I_{dc}$,
- case B: when $i_1 \leq I_{dc} < i_1 + i_2$,
- case C: when $i_1 + i_2 \le I_{dc} < i_1 + i_2 + i_7$,
- case D: when $i_1+i_2+i_7 \le I_{dc} < -(i_4+i_5+i_6)$,
- case E: when $-(i_4+i_5+i_6) \le I_{dc} < -(i_4+i_5)$,
- case F: when $-(i_4+i_5+i_6) \le I_{dc} < -(i_4+i_5)$,
- case G: when $i_1 \ge I_{dc}$.

According to Fig. 4.12, corresponding peak-to-peak dc-link voltage variations can be expressed as:





$$\Delta v_{pp}^{A} = \frac{1}{C} I_{dc} 2t_{0}, \tag{4.44}$$

$$\Delta v_{pp}^{B} = \Delta v_{pp}^{A} + \frac{1}{C} (I_{dc} - i_{1}) 2t_{1}, \qquad (4.45)$$

$$\Delta v_{pp}^{C} = \Delta v_{pp}^{B} + \frac{1}{C} (I_{dc} - i_1 - i_2) 2t_2, \qquad (4.46)$$

$$\Delta v_{pp}^{D} = \Delta v_{pp}^{C} + \frac{1}{C} (I_{dc} - i_1 - i_2 - i_7) 2t_3, \qquad (4.47)$$

$$\Delta v_{pp}^{E} = \Delta v_{pp}^{D} + \frac{1}{C} (I_{dc} + i_4 + i_5 + i_6) 2t_4, \qquad (4.48)$$

$$\Delta v_{pp}^{F} = \Delta v_{pp}^{E} + \frac{1}{C} (I_{dc} + i_{4} + i_{5}) 2t_{5}, \qquad (4.49)$$

$$\Delta v_{pp}^{G} = \frac{1}{C} I_{dc} 2t_{7}.$$
(4.50)

Utilizing (4.12) - (4.19), (4.23) and (4.24), the following equations for each subsector within the first sector are obtained:

$$\Delta v_{pp}^{A} = \frac{7}{2} \frac{I_{o}}{f_{sw}C} m \cos \varphi (1/2 - m \cos(9)), \qquad (4.51)$$

$$\Delta v_{pp}^{B} = \Delta v_{pp}^{A} + 2 \frac{I_{o}}{f_{sw}C} m \sin(\pi/7) \sin(\pi/7 - \vartheta) \left[\frac{7}{2} m \cos\varphi - \cos(\vartheta - \varphi) \right], \qquad (4.52)$$

$$\Delta v_{pp}^{C} = \Delta v_{pp}^{B} + 2 \frac{I_o}{f_{sw}C} m \sin(5\pi/7) \sin(\vartheta) \left[\frac{7}{2} m \cos\varphi - \cos(\vartheta - \varphi) - \cos(\vartheta - 2\pi/7 - \varphi) \right],$$
(4.53)

$$\Delta v_{pp}^{D} = \Delta v_{pp}^{C} + 2 \frac{I_o}{f_{sw}C} m \sin(3\pi/7) \sin(\pi/7 - \vartheta) \left[\frac{7}{2} m \cos\varphi - \cos(\vartheta - \varphi) - \cos(\vartheta - 2\pi/7 - \varphi) - \cos(\vartheta - 12\pi/7 - \varphi) \right],$$
(4.54)

$$\Delta v_{pp}^{E} = \Delta v_{pp}^{D} + 2 \frac{I_o}{f_{sw}C} m \sin\left(3\pi/7\right) \left[\frac{7}{2}m\cos\varphi + \cos\left(\vartheta - 6\pi/7 - \varphi\right) - \cos\left(\vartheta - 8\pi/7 - \varphi\right) + \cos\left(\vartheta - 10\pi/7 - \varphi\right)\right],\tag{4.55}$$

$$\Delta v_{pp}^{F} = \Delta v_{pp}^{E} + 2 \frac{I_{o}}{f_{sw}C} m \sin(5\pi/7) \sin(\pi/7 - \vartheta) \left[\frac{7}{2} m \cos\varphi + \cos(\vartheta - 6\pi/7 - \varphi) + \cos(\vartheta - 8\pi/7 - \varphi) \right],$$
(4.56)

$$\Delta v_{pp}^{G} = \frac{7}{2} \frac{I_o}{f_{sw}C} m \cos \varphi (1/2 + m \cos(9 - 8\pi/7)).$$
(4.57)

The global peak-to-peak dc-link voltage switching ripple amplitude for SPWM method (Δv_{nn}^{SPWM}) is obtained by finding the maximum value of possible seven cases, as:

$$\Delta v_{pp}^{SPWM} = \max\left\{\Delta v_{pp}^{A}, \Delta v_{pp}^{B}, \Delta v_{pp}^{C}, \Delta v_{pp}^{D}, \Delta v_{pp}^{E}, \Delta v_{pp}^{F}, \Delta v_{pp}^{G}\right\}.$$
(4.58)

By applying (3.9), the normalized peak-to-peak voltage ripple amplitude r_{pp}^{SPWM} is defined as well:

$$r_{pp}^{SPWM} = \max\left\{\Delta v_{pp}^{A}, \Delta v_{pp}^{B}, \Delta v_{pp}^{C}, \Delta v_{pp}^{D}, \Delta v_{pp}^{F}, \Delta v_{pp}^{F}, \Delta v_{pp}^{G}\right\}.$$
(4.59)

4.4.2.2 Peak-to-peak voltage switching ripple with space vector modulation

If SVM modulation is applied to seven-phase inverter, the application times t_0 and t_7 (Fig. 4.12) are equal and given by (4.20). Therefore, the evaluation of dc voltage switching ripple is identical in the following five sub-sectors within the first sector: case B, case C, case D, case E and case F for both modulations, SPWM and SVM. The exception is consideration of the total application time of the zero state ($t_0 + t_7$) leading to only one additional case (instead of two cases when SPWM is applied) in the peak-to-peak voltage switching ripple calculations:

- case A: when $i_1 \ge I_{dc}$,

$$\Delta v_{pp}^A = \frac{2}{C} I_{dc} t_0, \tag{4.60}$$

Introducing (4.20) and (4.23) into (4.60) yields to

$$\Delta v_{pp}^{A} = \frac{7}{4} \frac{I_{o}}{f_{sw}C} m \cos \varphi \left[\frac{1 - 2m \left(\sin \left(\frac{\pi}{7} \right) + \sin \left(\frac{3\pi}{7} \right) + \sin \left(\frac{5\pi}{7} \right) \right)}{\left(\sin \left(\frac{\pi}{7} \right) \cos \left(\frac{9}{7} \right) + \left(1 - \cos \left(\frac{\pi}{7} \right) \right) \sin \left(\frac{9}{7} \right) \right)} \right].$$
(4.61)

The global peak-to-peak dc-link voltage ripple amplitude Δv_{pp} is obtained by merging the results corresponding to these six cases:

$$\Delta v_{pp}^{SVM} = \max\left\{\Delta v_{pp}^{A}, \Delta v_{pp}^{B}, \Delta v_{pp}^{C}, \Delta v_{pp}^{D}, \Delta v_{pp}^{F}, \Delta v_{pp}^{F}\right\}.$$
(4.62)

Normalized peak-to-peak voltage ripple amplitude r_{pp}^{SVM} can be again defined by (3.29) with reference to Δv_{pp}^{SVM} as

PhD Thesis

$$r_{pp}^{SVM} = \max\left\{r_{pp}^{A}, r_{pp}^{B}, r_{pp}^{C}, r_{pp}^{D}, r_{pp}^{E}, r_{pp}^{F}\right\}.$$
(4.63)

The normalized peak-to-peak voltage switching ripple amplitude calculated by (4.59) and (4.63), when SPWM and SVM are applied, respectively, is shown in Fig. 4.13.



Fig. 4.13: Normalized peak-to-peak dc-link voltage ripple amplitude $r_{pp}(\vartheta)$ over the fundamental period $[0, \pi/7]$, when SPWM (left) and SVM (right) are applied, for different modulation indices, m = 1/6, 1/4, 1/3 and 1/2, and power phase angles $\varphi = 0^{\circ}$ (**a**), 30° (**b**), 60° (**c**) and 90° (**d**).

Four power phase angles $\vartheta = 0$, 30° , 60° and 90° have been considered. Four cases that correspond to the operation with m = 1/6, 1/4, 1/3, and 1/2 are illustrated for each power phase angle. It can be seen from Fig. 4.13 that the dc voltage ripple amplitude generally ranges between 0 (minimum) and 0.25 (maximum). The peak-to-peak voltage switching ripple amplitude decreases when the power phase angle increases. Also, the shape of the ripple becomes more flat for higher values of the power phase angles for all considered values of modulation index. The effect of applied modulation techniques is not significant and no practical deference has been shown neither in the global maximum nor in the voltage ripple profile between sinusoidal PWM and SVM.

4.5 Voltage switching ripple comparison in multiphase inverters

In order to predict the ripple behaviour and make a comparison between analysed cases, Fig. 4.14 shows normalized function of the dc voltage ripple amplitude for three-, five- and seven- phase VSIs. The evaluation is done on the basis of the analyses presented in the previous sub-sections 3.4.1, 4.4.1 and 4.4.2.

For all considered inverter topologies, the ripple normalization is given according to (3.29). As can be noted, the same output current is assumed. This makes a difference compared to the case when the same apparent power is considered. Thus, the new normalization considering the same apparent power instead of the same output current will be introduced in the next sub-section followed by some remarks on maximum peak-to-peak voltage ripple amplitude behaviour.

Three values of modulation index (m = 1/4, 1/3, and 1/2) and two power phase angles are considered in Fig. 4.14. In particular, $\varphi = 20^{\circ}$ and $\varphi = 70^{\circ}$ have been chosen to approximately represent the usual phase angle range for an induction motor, corresponding to rated and no load conditions, respectively.

The results are shown with reference to both SPWM and SVM (solid and dashed lines, respectively). The global voltage ripple maximum is around 0.2 for all considered cases, and a wide excursion of voltage ripple envelope is noticable. However, it is evident that by increasing the number of phases the profile of the voltage ripple amplitude becomes more flat and uniform. Unlike the three-phase case, in five- and seven- phase case increasing the power phase angle the voltage ripple amplitude is significantly reduced. In presented cases, the amplitude is half reduced and the reduction is better noticable for higher number of phases.

The impact of applied modulation techniques is evident in case of three-phase inverter. Significant reduction in the voltage ripple amplitude can be noted due to the centering performed in the SVM (CPWM), especially for lower power phase angles. It leads to the conclusion that SVM (or CPWM) is preferable modulation for three-phase



inverters from the point of view of the dc-link voltage ripple requirements and the dc-link capacitor sizing.

Fig. 4.14: Normalized peak-to-peak dc-link voltage ripple amplitude $r_{pp}(\vartheta)$ over its period for three-, five-, and seven-phase VSIs, considering three modulation indices, m = 1/4, 1/3, and 1/2, two power phase angles $\varphi = 20^{\circ}$ (left column) and $\varphi = 70^{\circ}$ (right column), with SPWM and SVM (continuous and dashed lines, respectively).

However, no significant influence of SVM (CPWM) on the voltage switching ripple amplitude is shown in case of five- and seven- phase inverters. This is because the

improvement in dc bus utilisation rapidly decreases as the number of phases increases when the centering in the SVM (CPWM) is performed comparing to the pure sinusoidal modulation.

4.5.1 Maximum of the peak-to-peak voltage ripple amplitude

For a fair comparison of inverter topologies with different phase numbers, the same apparent output power should be considered. For this reason, the total output current nI_0 is introduced, and a "per-phase" normalization is defined as

$$\Delta v_{pp} = \frac{nI_o}{f_{sw}C} r_{ppn},\tag{4.64}$$

being $r_{ppn} = \frac{r_{pp}}{n}$ and *n* - number of phases. Maximum of per-phase normalized peak-topeak voltage ripple amplitude r_{ppn} is obtained numerically as a function of modulation index and shown in Fig. 4.15. Four power phase angles $\varphi = 0^{\circ}$, 20°, 45° and 70° are considered in order to better cover the considered range. Because the interest in this sub-section is the impact of the number of phases on the dc-link capacitor design rather than of the applied modulation techniques, only SPWM is considered in the following analysis. Moreover, it was shown before that increasing the number of phases there are no significant benefits on the voltage ripple amplitude by applying CPWM.

The following observations are worth noting on the maximum peak-to-peak voltage ripple amplitude (r_{ppn}) displayed in Fig. 4.15. First, the maximum of dc voltage ripple amplitude decreases when the number of phases increases. The reduction is significant when the number of phases increases from three to five, and less significant when it increases to seven. Finally, no practical difference in the maximum voltage ripple is obtained for the number of phases higher than seven.

Referring to the three-phase case, the maximum of the normalized peak-to-peak voltage ripple amplitude is almost linear function of modulation index. It can be noticed in Fig. 4.15 a slight increase of the global maximum value with the decreasing of the power phase angle. However, for five- and seven-phase case the global maximum of the voltage ripple amplitude slightly reduces when the phase angle increases. No further reduction of maximum voltage ripple is observed for higher number of phases (n > 7).

These diagrams can be useful for the dc-link capacitor design proposed in the following sub-section.



Fig. 4.15: Maximum of peak-to-peak voltage ripple amplitude normalized per total output current r_{ppn}^{max} in multiphase VSIs, as a function of modulation index for power phase angles:

(a)
$$\phi = 0^{\circ}$$
, (b) $\phi = 20^{\circ}$, (c) $\phi = 45^{\circ}$, and (d) $\phi = 70^{\circ}$

According to Fig. 4.15, global maximum r_{ppn}^{max} for different phase numbers and power phase angles is presented in Table 4.1. The values will be used for sizing the dc-link capacitor in the next sub-section.

angle	Phase number (<i>n</i>)							
	3	5	6	7	9	11	12	13
$\phi = 0^{\circ}$	0.0625	0.0384	0.0355	0.0343	0.0323	0.0323	0.0323	0.0323
$\phi = 20^{\circ}$	0.0614	0.0361	0.0335	0.0323	0.031	0.0309	0.0309	0.0309
φ = 45°	0.0656	0.0276	0.0252	0.0237	0.0234	0.0234	0.0234	0.0234
$\phi = 70^{\circ}$	0.0706	0.0177	0.0143	0.0126	0.0116	0.0116	0.0116	0.0116

Table 4.1: Global maximum of r_{ppn}^{max} as a function of number of phases for different phase angles.

It is evident that by considering the same total output current (apparent power) in different multiphase inverter topologies, the maximum value of dc voltage ripple amplitude reduces with the increase of the phase number up to seven, but not for the higher number of phases.

4.5.2 Dc-link capacitor design

In this sub-section, the capacitor size is designed based on the voltage switching ripple requirements Δv_{pp}^* and considering the general assumption applied in this thesis on the dc source impedance (Z_{dc}) and the capacitor reactance ($1/2\pi f_{sw}C$) calculated at the switching frequency (which is at least in order of kHz).

By observing Fig. 4.15, and by considering r_{ppn}^{\max} given in Table 4.1, a simple general formula for the dc-link capacitor design is obtained on the basis of (4.64) and by specifying the desired Δv_{pp}^{*} as:

$$C \ge \frac{nI_o}{f_{sw}} r_{ppn}^{\max} \left(\phi\right) \frac{1}{\Delta v_{pp}^*}.$$
(4.65)

The worst case scenario should be considered for final design of capacitor. According to Table 4.1, it corresponds to unity power factor ($\varphi \approx 0^\circ$) when r_{ppn}^{max} is ranging between 0.0625 \div 0.0323, depending on the considered inverter topology. However, if the load is an AC motor, two values of phase angle $\varphi = 20^\circ$ and $\varphi = 45^\circ$ are of greater interest. The first one approximately corresponds to motor rated condition and the second one represents the half-loaded motor.

One can notice that the expression (4.65) can be used straightforward in case of any multiphase inverter topology where $n \ge 3$.

As an example, five-phase motor with power phase angle $\phi = 45^{\circ}$ is considered as a load. Referring to Table 4.1, the following simplification can be made, and the dc-link capacitance can be calculated as:

$$r_{ppn}^{\max}(\phi) = 0.0276 \rightarrow C \ge 0.138 \frac{I_o}{f_{sw} \Delta v_{pp}^*}.$$
 (4.66)

Focusing on the particular case and observing the Table 4.1. it can be concluded that, from the point of view of the dc-link capacitor size, there are no benefits increasing the number of phases more than seven for a given load (motor) power, since r_{ppn}^{max} saturates at 0.0334.

4.6 Simulation and experimental results

In order to validate theoretical developments proposed in previous sections, simulations and corresponding experimental tests have been performed for five- and seven- phase inverters. Reference is made to two most commonly used modulation techniques – sinusoidal PWM and SVM. Numerical simulations have been carried out by Matlab/Simulink. The simulation circuit parameters, summarized in Table 4.2, are set in order to match the corresponding experimental setup parameters. Multiphase passive loads have been preferred to motor load for a better stability of the measured voltage switching ripple profile. Actually, the only requirement to evaluate the dc-link voltage ripple, with the proposed developments, is to have an output current almost sinusoidal and balanced. The two power phase angles of interest are obtained by using two different sets of passive balanced R-Lload impedances. The parameters of the load are given in Table 4.3.

Parameter	Symbol	Value	
Dc voltage supply	$V_{ m dc}$	300 V	
Dc source resistance	R_{dc}	5.3 Ω	
Dc source inductance	L_{dc}	4.5 mH	
Dc-link capacitance (2x film cap.)	С	200 µF	
Equivalent series resistance	ESR	$10 \text{ m}\Omega$	
Equivalent series inductance	L_s	25 nH	
Fundamental frequency	f	50 Hz	
Switching frequency	f_{sw}	2 kHz	

Table 4.2: The simulation and experimental setup parameters.

Table 4.5 : Passive <i>K</i> - <i>L</i> load parameter

5x, 7x	$\phi = 20^{\circ}$	$\phi = 70^{\circ}$
$R_L(\Omega)$	24	24
$L_L(\mathrm{mH})$	25	204

The experimental setup is shown in Fig. 4.16. It consists of the two-level custommade inverter which has up to eight output legs, and it has been used for the experiments with five- and seven-phase symmetrical *R*-*L* load. Used IGBT module is FS50R12KE3 (Infineon). Inverter was controlled by dSpace ds1006 real-time system. The software code that is running on ds1006 processor board is automatically generated and loaded from the Matlab/Simulink. The switching frequency was set to 2kHz. For control and visualization of the particular Simulink variables, Control Desk has been used as a user interface. Dcbus supply voltage is provided from the external dc source Sorensen SGI 600/25. The Z_{dc} impedance is added between the dc source and the dc-link. Equivalent value of two dc-link film capacitors connected in parallel is 200µF. The dead time is configurable in the hardware and set to 6µs. Tektronix oscilloscope MSO2014 with P5205A differential voltage probe was used for measurement.

The dc voltage ripple waveforms were filtered out using a second-order low pass filter to clean the waveforms and attenuate electromagnetic noise in the signals. In addition, FFT was applied in post-processing of the experimental data to remove small low frequency components. Presence of small low frequency components in the dc-link voltage ripple was the consequence of a non-perfectly balanced load. The impact of slightly unbalanced load on the dc-link variables will be discussed in Chapter5.



Dc voltage source

Fig. 4.16: Experimental setup.

4.6.1 Five-phase inverter

Regarding the two-level five-phase inverter supplying the five-phase symmetrical *R-L* load, simulation and experimental results are shown side by side in Fig. 4.17 and Fig. 4.18 when SPWM is applied, and in Fig. 4.19 and Fig. 4.20 when SVM is applied. The peak-to-peak envelopes are calculated by (4.38) and (4.42) as the half of peak-to-peak dc-link voltage ripple amplitude $\Delta v_{pp}/2(t)$ (red traces) for SPWM and SVM, respectively. The envelopes are shown together with the instantaneous dc-link voltage switching ripple $\Delta v(t)$ (blue trace) over a fundamental period (T = 20 ms). Two values of the power phase angles $\varphi = 20^{\circ}$ (Figs. 4.17 and 4.19) and $\varphi = 70^{\circ}$ (Figs. 4.18 and 4.20) are considered. Two subcases (a) and (b) in each figure correspond to two values of modulation index *m*: 0.25 and 0.5 (top and bottom, respectively).



Fig. 4.17: Dc-link voltage switching ripple in five-phase inverter with SPWM: simulations (left column) and experimental results (right column) with calculated peak-to-peak envelope (red trace) over a fundamental period for $\varphi = 20^\circ$, (a) m = 0.25 and (b) m = 0.5.

Chapter 4 Dc-link current and voltage switching ripple analysis in multiphase inverters



Fig. 4.18: Dc-link voltage switching ripple in five-phase inverter with SPWM: simulations (left column) and experimental results (right column) with calculated peak-to-peak envelope (red trace) over a fundamental period for $\varphi = 70^\circ$, (**a**) m = 0.25 and (**b**) m = 0.5.



Fig. 4.19: Dc-link voltage switching ripple in five-phase inverter with SVM: simulations (left column) and experimental results (right column) with calculated peak-to-peak envelope (red trace) over a fundamental period for $\phi = 20^\circ$, (**a**) m = 0.25 and (**b**) m = 0.5.



Fig. 4.20: Dc-link voltage switching ripple in five-phase inverter with SVM: simulations (left column) and experimental results (right column) with calculated peak-to-peak envelope (red trace) over a fundamental period for $\varphi = 70^\circ$, (**a**) m = 0.25 and (**b**) m = 0.5.

According to the Figs. 4.17-4.20, both, numerical simulations and experimental results are in a good agreement with theoretical developments for all considered cases. A small mismatch in some cases of experimental results, when the dc voltage ripple has a slightly lower absolute amplitude comparing to the calculated envelopes, is due to the filtering performed in post-processing of the experimental data. As an example, Fig. 4.20 sub-case (b) can be taken. In order to justify the slight exceeding of the dc voltage ripple outside of the calculated envelopes, Fig. 4.20 sub-case (a) as an example, further considerations on the dc-link capacitor are introduced.

First, note that an ideal dc-link capacitor has been primarily considered in the simulations. For the additional set of simulations shown below, a real-world capacitor model (a series-connected *RLC* circuit) has been used instead, and the effect of the capacitor's parasitic components on the dc-link voltage ripple is examined. Since the two film capacitors connected in parallel have been used in the experiments, the simulation parameters are set to match the parasitic components given in Table 4.2. In particular, the values of *C* and *ESR* are measured by *Peak Atlas ESR70* Capacitor *ESR* Meter, and *L_s* is obtained from the used *KEMET C4AEGBW6100A3NJ* capacitors datasheet. The total impedance of the capacitor (*Z_c*) is calculated as:

$$Z_{c} = \sqrt{ESR^{2} + \left(2\pi f L_{s} - \frac{1}{2\pi f C}\right)^{2}}.$$
(4.67)

Fig. 4.21 shows the impedance (Z_c) characteristic of the adopted film capacitor for two values of *ESR*.



Fig. 4.21: Impedance vs. frequency characteristic of a real capacitor $(C = 200 \ \mu\text{F}, L_s = 25 \ \text{nH}, ESR_1 = 20 \ \text{m}\Omega \text{ and } ESR_2 = 2 \ \text{m}\Omega).$

It can be noticed in Fig. 4.21 that, in the considered case, the switching frequency is well below the self-resonant frequency of the dc-link capacitor. Hence, its inductive reactance ωL_s is negligible comparing to the capacitive reactance $1/\omega C$. The same applies to *ESR* since it has similar or lower value comparing to sqrt(L_s/C).

This statement is confirmed by numerical simulation results shown in Fig. 4.22 (left) for five-phase case when m = 0.25 and $\varphi = 70^{\circ}$. It corresponds to experimental result shown in Fig. 4.22 (right). Therefore, as commented before for the considered case, the effects of the *ESR* and L_s on the dc-link voltage ripple are negligible. Note that, to attenuate the noise, simulated dc-voltage ripple is filtered in the same way as in the experiments.



Fig. 4.22: Simulation (left column) and experimental results (right column) for five-phase VSI $(m=0.25, \varphi=70^\circ)$ considering ESR of the dc-link capacitor.

The effect of the capacitor's parasitic components can be severe in case of the switching frequency close to the self-resonant frequency of the dc-link capacitor, as shown in Fig. 4.21, but the detail analysis of this is beyond the scope of this thesis. Moreover, note that the results prove that when going for higher number of phases, smaller capacitance can be used, which practically means that instead of large electrolytic capacitors, smaller higher quality capacitors (such as film capacitors) with lower *ESR* can be used.

4.6.2 Seven-phase inverter

In case of two-level seven-phase inverter supplying the seven-phase symmetrical *R*-*L* load, simulations and experimental results were performed and the results are shown in Figs. 4.23-4.26. Figs. 4.23 and 4.24 show simulations (left column) and experimental results (right column) when SPWM is applied, while Figs. 4.25 and 4.26 show simulations (left column) and experimental results (right column) when SVM (equivalent to CPWM) is applied. The peak-to-peak envelopes calculated as the half of peak-to-peak dc-link voltage ripple amplitude $\Delta v_{pp}/2(t)$ (red traces) by (4.58) and (4.62) for SPWM and SVM, respectively, are shown together with the instantaneous dc-link voltage switching ripple $\Delta v(t)$ (blue trace) over a fundamental period (T = 20 ms). Same as before, two values of the power phase angles $\varphi = 20^{\circ}$ (Figs. 4.23 and 4.25) and $\varphi = 70^{\circ}$ (Figs. 4.24 and 4.26) are considered and two sub-cases, (a) and (b), correspond to two values of modulation index *m*: 0.25 and 0.5, respectively.

There is a good matching between the measured dc voltage switching ripple and calculated envelopes that correspond to positive and negative peak value of the measured variable. These results, similar to those of Figs. 4.17-4.20 for a five-phase case, further confirm validity of theoretical developments presented earlier in this chapter.

Chapter 4 Dc-link current and voltage switching ripple analysis in multiphase inverters



Fig. 4.23: Dc-link voltage switching ripple in seven-phase inverter with SPWM: simulations (left) and experimental (right) results with calculated peak-to-peak envelope (red trace) over a fundamental period for $\varphi = 20^\circ$, (**a**) m = 0.25 and (**b**) m = 0.5.



Fig. 4.24: Dc-link voltage switching ripple in seven-phase inverter with SPWM: simulations (left) and experimental (right) results with calculated peak-to-peak envelope (red trace) over a fundamental period for $\phi = 70^\circ$, (**a**) m = 0.25 and (**b**) m = 0.5.



Fig. 4.25: Dc-link voltage switching ripple in seven-phase inverter with SVM: simulations (left) and experimental (right) results with calculated peak-to-peak envelope (red trace) over a fundamental period for $\varphi = 20^{\circ}$, (**a**) m = 0.25 and (**b**) m = 0.5.



Fig. 4.26: Dc-link voltage switching ripple in seven-phase inverter with SVM: simulations (left) and experimental (right) results with calculated peak-to-peak envelope (red trace) over a fundamental period for $\varphi = 70^{\circ}$, (**a**) m = 0.25 and (**b**) m = 0.5.

4.7 Discussion

In this chapter, dc-link current and voltage ripple analysis is presented for two-level multiphase voltage source inverters with an odd number of phases greater than three, considering balanced load conditions. Some general steps in the analysis are described but a special focus has been put on five- and seven-phase inverters. A short review of carrierbased PWM and space vector modulation for aforementioned inverter topologies is provided. Furthermore, the dc-link voltage ripple components are calculated on the basis of corresponding dc-link current components. The voltage switching ripple amplitude has been calculated for both applied modulations as a function of operational conditions: modulation index, the amplitude of phase current and power phase angle. The maximum (peak-topeak) value of voltage ripple amplitude has been evaluated as a function of modulation index for both examined inverter topologies, five- and seven- phase, considering different power phase angles. The comparison of dc-link voltage switching ripple between different phase numbers has been made. Finally, simple and effective guideline for designing the dclink capacitor based on the maximum required dc-link voltage switching ripple amplitude in multiphase inverters has been proposed. The effect of increasing the number of phases on dc-link capacitor sizing has been discussed as well.

Simulations and experimental results for both SPWM and CPWM, considering two power phase angles and different values of modulation index, are given for two presented inverter topologies. Given results are aimed to show the matching between analytically calculated dc-link voltage ripple envelope and measured instantaneous dc-link voltage switching ripple.

References

- [4.1] E. Levi, R. Bojoi, F. Profumo, H. A. Toliyat, and S. Williamson, "Multiphase induction motor drives—A technology status review," *IET Elect. Power Appl.*, vol. 1, no. 4, pp. 489–516, Jul. 2007.
- [4.2] E. Levi, "Multiphase electric machines for variable-speed applications," IEEE Trans. Ind. Electron., vol. 55, no. 5, pp. 1893–1909, May 2008.
- [4.3] E. Levi, "Advances in converter control and innovative exploitation of additional degrees of freedom for multiphase machines," *IEEE Trans. On Ind. Electron*, vol. 63, no. 1, pp. 433-448, May 2015.
- [4.4] F. Barrero, M. J. Duran, "Recent advances in the design, modeling, and control of multiphase machines- Part I," *IEEE Trans. On Ind. Electron*, vol. 63, no. 1, pp. 449-458, June 2015.
- [4.5] M. J. Duran, F. Barrero, "Recent advances in the design, modeling, and control of multiphase machines- Part II," *IEEE Trans. On Ind. Electron*, vol. 63, no. 1, pp. 459-468, Jan 2016.
- [4.6] P. S. N. deSilva, J. E. Fletcher and B. W. Williams, "Development of space vector modulation strategies for five-phase voltage source inverters," *in Proc. of IEE PEMD*, Edinburgh, U.K., 2004, pp. 650-655.
- [4.7] A. Iqbal and E. Levi, "Space vector modulation schemes for a five-phase voltage source inverter," *in Proc. of EPE*, Dresden, Germany, 2005, CD-ROM paper, pp. P1-P.12.
- [4.8] Kelly, J.W., Strangas, E.G., Miller, J.M., (2003), Multi-phase space vector pulse width modulation, *IEEE Trans. on Energy Conversion*, vol. 18, no. 2, pp. 259-264.
- [4.9] D. Dujic, M. Jones, E. Levi, "Generalised space vector PWM for sinusoidal output voltage generation with multiphase voltage source inverters", *Int. J. Industrial Electronics and Drives*, vol.1, no.1, 2009.
- [4.10] D. Dujic, M. Jones, E. Levi, "Analysis of output current ripple rms in multiphase drives using space vector approach," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron*, vol. 24, no. 8, pp. 1926-1938, 2009.
- [4.11] D. Dujic, M. Jones, E. Levi: Analysis of Output Current Ripple rms in Multi-Phase Drives Using Polygon Approach, *IEEE Trans. on Power Electronics*, vol. 25, no. 7, pp. 1838-1849, July 2010.
- [4.12] D. Casadei, M. Mengoni, G. Serra, A. Tani, L. Zarri, "A new carrier-based PWM strategy with minimum output current ripple for five-phase inverters, *in Proc. of the* 14th European Conference on Power Electronics and Applications (EPE), Birmingham UK, 30Aug-1 Sept 2011, pp.1-10.
- [4.13] G. Grandi and J. Loncarski, "Evaluation of current ripple amplitude in five phase PWM voltage source inverters," in Proc. of IEEE EUROCON, Zagreb, Croatia, 2013, pp.1073-1080.
- [4.14] J. Loncarski, O. Dordevic, and G. Grandi, "Experimental verification of current ripple amplitude in five-phase PWM VSIs," in Proc. of IEEE IECON, Vienna, Austria, 2013, pp. 5183–5188.
- [4.15] G. Grandi and J. Loncarski, "Analysis of peak-to-peak current ripple amplitude in seven-phase PWM voltage source inverters," *Energies*, 6, ISSN 1996-1073, 2013. DOI: 10.3390/en6094429.
- [4.16] D. Jiang and F. Wang, "A general current ripple prediction method for the multiphase voltage source converter," *IEEE Trans. Power Electr.*, vol. 29, pp. 2643– 2648, Jun 2014.
- [4.17] P. A. Dahono, Deni, C. P. Akbarifutra, and A. Rizqiawan, "Input ripple analysis of five-phase pulse width modulated inverters," *IET Power Electr.*, vol. 3, pp. 716-723, Sep 2010.
- [4.18] F. Locment, A. Bruyere, E. Semail, X. Kestelyn, A Bouscayrol, and J. M. Dubus, "Comparison of 3-, 5- and 7-leg voltage source inverters for low voltage applications," *in Proc. of IEEE International Electric Machines & Drives Conference*, 2007, pp. 1-6.
- [4.19] R. Bojoi, M.C. Caponet, G. Grieco, M. Lazzari, A. Tenconi, and F. Profumo, "Computation and measurements of the DC link current in six-phase voltage source PWM inverters for AC motor drives," *in Proc. of the Power Conversion Conference*, 2002, pp. 953-958.
- [4.20] N. Rouhaba, E. Semail, and J.F. Duguey, "Impact of PWM strategies on RMS current of the dc-link voltage capacitor of a dual-three phase drive," *in Proc. of IEEE Vehicle Power and Propulsion Conference*, 2014, pp. 1-7.
- [4.21] D. Nurafiat, P. A. Dahono, "Input current ripple analysis of nine-phase PWM Inverters," in Proc. of 37th Annual Conf. of the IEEE Industrial Electronics Society, 2011, pp. 1378-1383.

- [4.22] P. A. Dahono, A. Satria, and D. Nurafiat, "Analysis of DC current ripple in six-legs twelve-devices inverters", in Proc. of IEEE Conf. on Power Engineering and Renewable Energy, 2012, pp.1-6.
- [4.23] A. Muqorobin, P. A. Dahono and A. Purwadi, "Optimum phase number for multiphase PWM inverters," in Proc. of IEEE Conf. on Electrical Engineering, Computer Science and Informatics, 2017, pp. 1-6.
- [4.24] E. Levi, D. Dujic, M. Jones, G. Grandi, "Analytical Determination of DC-bus Utilization Limits in Multi-Phase VSI Supplied AC Drives," *IEEE Trans. on Energy Convers.* vol. 2, no. 2, pp. 433-443, June 2008.
- [4.25] G. Grandi, G. Serra, and A. Tani, "Space vector modulation of a seven-phase voltage source inverter," in Proc. of the International Symposium of Power Electronics, Electrical Drives, Automation and Motion, Taormina, IT, 23-26 May 2006, pp.1149-1156.
- [4.26] D. Dujic, E. Levi, M. Jones, G. Grandi, G. Serra, and A. Tani, "Continuous PWM techniques for sinusoidal voltage generation with seven-phase voltage source inverters," *in Proc. of the Power Electronics Specialists Conference*, Orlando FL, USA, 17-21 June 2007, pp. 47-52.
- [4.27] D. Casadei, D. Dujic, E. Levi, G. Serra, A. Tani and L. Zarri, "General modulation strategy for seven-phase inverters with independent control of multiple voltage space vectors," *IEEE Trans. Ind. Electron.*, vol. 55, no. 5, pp. 1921–1932, May 2008.

Authored papers

- [4.28] M. Vujacic, M. Hammami, O. Dordevic and G. Grandi, "Evaluation of DC-link voltage ripple in five-phase PWM voltage source inverters," in Proc. IEE Conf. on Power Electronics, Machines, and Drives, PEMD, 2018.
- [4.29] M. Vujacic, O. Dordevic and G. Grandi, "Evaluation of DC-link voltage ripple in seven-phase PWM voltage source inverters," *in Proc. of IEEE Intelec*, 2018.

Dc-link low-frequency voltage ripple analysis in threephase and multiphase inverters with unbalanced load

5.1 General considerations of voltage and current unbalance

Any deviation of voltage and current waveforms from symmetric sinusoidal disposition, in terms of magnitude, phase angle, or both, is considered as unbalance. In the literature, the term "asymmetrical" is also used to describe the unbalanced conditions. Depending on the deviation, the unbalance appears as voltage, current or simultaneous voltage and current unbalance. The majority of studies and standards presented in literature discuss voltage unbalance, which appears as a result of unsymmetrical voltage supply among the phases, unsymmetrical line parameters among the phases, or unbalanced loads. A comprehensive survey on the causes of voltage unbalance and the resulting effects on the power system and on equipment, such as induction motors, power converters and drives, is given in [5.1].

The current unbalance and its associated power unbalance appear as a result of unbalanced magnitudes of the phase voltages, angle displacement between the phase voltages or internal impedances of the motor. The impedance unbalance in motor may have been caused by unbalanced heating of the stator [5.2]. Motor unbalance can be also due to a manufacturing problems such as unequal number of turns in the windings, a misaligned rotor or an asymmetric stator. Sometimes, to reduce the time and to lower the costs of the repair process, failed windings are repaired by isolating the failed turn, thus reducing the impedance of the repaired phase. Extreme examples of the current unbalance are faults. Faults usually cause temporary current unbalance. However, if they are not repaired on time, these conditions may cause system instability [5.3].

Most of the power quality standards are related to the supply (grid) voltages and so, they recommend limits for the maximum voltage unbalance. The voltage unbalance is most commonly defined as the ratio of the negative voltage sequence component to the positive voltage sequence component. The American National Standards Institute (ANSI standard C84.1-1995 [5.4]) and European distribution networks (IEC 60038 [5.5]) recommend limits for the maximum voltage unbalance of electrical supply system of 3% and 2%, respectively, when measured at the electric-utility revenue meter under no-load conditions. NE-

MA MG1-1993 "Motors and Generators" standard recommends that for voltage unbalance greater than 1%, AC motors should be derated by the appropriate factor. IEC standards also restrict the allowed voltage unbalance on AC motors up to 1% and require a derating of the machines if unbalance is greater [5.6]. More definitions of voltage/current unbalances will be introduced in the next section.

Although the voltage unbalance has been studied more in the literature, in this thesis current unbalance is of greater interest. Namely, in this chapter, considered configuration is a two-level *n*-phase inverter supplying a star-connected *n*-phase load. Connected load is a standard multiphase ac motor that shows in practice a certain degree of unbalance, in order of a few percent. An example of such a small unbalance in an ac motor is the line-to-line motor resistance which differs up to 2% when compared to the average. As a consequence of the unbalance occurrence, depending on the load power and percentage of the unbalance, the instantaneous power oscillation (at double-fundamental frequency) is introduced and the dc-link capacitor is affected. This reflects in current and voltage low-frequency ripple on the dc-link inverter side. Therefore, not only the switching ripple component but also the double-fundamental one plays a role in sizing the dc-link capacitor properly.

The purpose of this chapter is to study and calculate the amplitude of the lowfrequency dc-link current and voltage ripple components in two level multiphase inverters under slightly unbalanced load conditions. For this reason, Fortescue's and space vector transformations that are commonly used for analyzing multiphase systems have been briefly reviewed. Based on the amplitude of the double-fundamental voltage ripple component simple guideline for designing the dc-link capacitor is proposed. As a simpler but most utilized case, the three-phase inverter is examined first. Furthermore, the extension of the analysis to multiphase inverters is provided as well. Numerical simulations and experimental tests have been carried out for three-, five- and seven- phase inverters. Finally, a brief discussion of presented results is given in the last section.

5.2 Three-phase inverters with unbalanced load

This section presents a background in regard to transformations developed for threephase systems, particularly focusing on Fortescue's and space vector transformations. Different methods for calculating the current sequence components, as well as for estimating the current unbalance level are presented. Furthermore, the methods are adopted, and the amplitude of the low-frequency voltage ripple component is calculated on the basis of the corresponding dc-link current component. Finally, the dc-link capacitor design is proposed taking into account restrictions referred to the low-frequency voltage ripple. Numerical simulations have been carried out to validate analytical developments. Finally, both theoretical and numerical results have been confirmed by experimental tests.

5.2.1 Basic definitions and transformations for three-phase systems

The two-level three-phase inverter supplying a star connected passive- and/or motorload is considered in the following. Configuration of the analyzed topology is shown in Fig. 3.6, Chapter 3. It is assumed that x_k are real quantities, related to the three-phase system (k = 1, 2, 3) with sinusoidal waveforms and the same frequency, expressed as:

$$x_k(t) = \sqrt{2}X_k \cos\left(\omega t - (k-1)\frac{2\pi}{3}\right), \ k = 1, 2, 3.$$
(5.1)

Then, the three phasors \overline{X}_k can be introduced as

$$\left[\bar{X}\right] = \left(\bar{X}_1, \bar{X}_2, \bar{X}_3\right),\tag{5.2}$$

according to

$$x_k(t) = \operatorname{Re}\left[\sqrt{2}\bar{X}_k e^{j\omega t}\right],\tag{5.3}$$

where X_k is the RMS value of $x_k(t)$, and $\mathcal{P}=\omega t$, being $\omega=2\pi/T$ the fundamental angular frequency and *T* the fundamental period.

Applying the Fortescue's transformation [5.7] to (5.2) and introducing the concept of positive and negative sequence component, for the three-phase system the three symmetrical sequence components are obtained:

$$\left[\bar{X}_{S}\right] = \left(\bar{X}_{0}, \bar{X}_{+1}, \bar{X}_{-1}\right).$$

$$(5.4)$$

They can be defined as [5.8]:

$$\bar{X}_{h} = \frac{1}{3} \sum_{k=1}^{3} \bar{X}_{k} \alpha^{h(k-1)}, h = 0, +1, -1.$$
(5.5)

being $\alpha = e^{j\frac{2\pi}{3}}$.

The inverse transformation is given by

$$\bar{X}_{k} = \sum_{h=-1}^{1} \bar{X}_{h} \alpha^{-h(k-1)}, k = 1, 2, 3.$$
(5.6)

The phasor components can be finally obtained from the previous transformations (5.5) and (5.6), in a matrix form, as follows:

PhD Thesis

$$\begin{bmatrix} \bar{X}_{S} \end{bmatrix} = \frac{1}{3} \begin{vmatrix} 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & \alpha & \alpha^{-1} \\ 1 & \alpha^{-1} & \alpha \end{vmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \bar{X} \end{bmatrix},$$
(5.7)

$$\begin{bmatrix} \bar{X} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & \alpha^{-1} & \alpha \\ 1 & \alpha & \alpha^{-1} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \bar{X}_S \end{bmatrix}.$$
(5.8)

It can be noted that the only difference between direct and inverse transformations is in their opposite-sign exponents, and in the scaling coefficient. The product of their normalization factors is required to be 1/3.

Another transformation that can be applied to the real quantities expressed by (5.1) is the space vector transformation. It is formally similar to the Fortescue's symmetrical component transformation, but it is applied to the instantaneous phase quantities instead of phasors, giving the wider generality.

It has been proven that in three-phase system, it is enough to consider only one space vector (\bar{x}_1) and unique zero component (x_0). Space vector transformation is usually defined as:

$$x_0 = \frac{1}{3} \sum_{k=1}^{3} x_k , \qquad (5.9)$$

$$\overline{x}_{1} = \frac{2}{3} \sum_{k=1}^{3} x_{k} \alpha^{k-1} .$$
(5.10)

If sinusoidal waveforms with the same frequency are considered, as it is the case in (5.1), two previously reviewed transformations – symmetrical sequence and space vector transformation can be related. In order to show the relation between them, the quantities given by (5.1) can be rewritten in the following form [5.8]:

$$x_{k} = \frac{\sqrt{2}}{2} \left(\bar{X}_{k} e^{j\omega t} + \bar{X}_{k}^{*} e^{-j\omega t} \right), k = 1, 2, 3.$$
(5.11)

Applying the space vector transformations (5.9) and (5.10) to (5.11), and taking into account the definition of symmetrical sequences given by (5.5), yields:

$$x_0 = \operatorname{Re}\left[\sqrt{2}\bar{X}_0 e^{j\omega t}\right],\tag{5.12}$$

$$\bar{x}_{1} = \sqrt{2}\bar{X}_{+1}e^{j\omega t} + \sqrt{2}\bar{X}_{-1}^{*}e^{-j\omega t}.$$
(5.13)

Equation (5.13) shows that space vector \bar{x}_1 can be decomposed into two counter rotating vectors, a direct and an inverse, with a constant magnitude and opposite angular speed $\pm \omega$. The direct or counter clockwise rotating $e^{j\omega t}$ only exist in \bar{X}_{+1} , while the inverse or clockwise rotating $e^{-j\omega t}$ exist only in \bar{X}_{-1}^* . The magnitude of rotating vectors is equal to sqrt(2) of the magnitude of positive and negative symmetrical components of the same sequence.

Note that the previous definitions are general and can be used for any set of physical variables of the three-phase system, i.e. phase voltages, phase currents etc.

5.2.2 Low-frequency current and voltage ripple analysis

Concerning the three-phase inverters and space vector definition given by (5.10), the instantaneous power can be also written in terms of space vector components as

$$p = 3v_0 i_0 + \frac{3}{2} \overline{v_1} \cdot \overline{i_1} .$$
 (5.14)

It can be noted that only voltage and current components of the same sequence interact and take part in the instantaneous power [5.8].

Since the output voltage of the inverter is assumed to be sinusoidal and symmetrical, only the direct rotating component of the voltage space vector is present. Referring to (5.13) it can be expressed as:

$$\overline{v}_1 = \sqrt{2}\overline{V}_{+1}e^{j\omega t}.$$
(5.15)

Applying (5.13) to the phase current yields

$$\overline{i_1} = \sqrt{2}\overline{I_{+1}}e^{j\omega t} + \sqrt{2}\overline{I_{-1}}e^{-j\omega t} .$$
(5.16)

Introducing (5.15) and (5.16) in (5.14), the instantaneous power becomes

$$p = 3 \left[V_{+1} I_{+1} \cos \varphi_{+} + V_{+1} I_{-1} \cos \left(2\omega t - \varphi_{-} \right) \right].$$
(5.17)

It can be noted that the active power related to the first positive sequence component represents the average value of the instantaneous power related to the corresponding (first) space vector. Also, it is shown that the first negative current sequence component gives the contribution to the instantaneous power oscillation.

Considering input/output power balance over the switching period T_{sw} , as

$$V_{dc}\overline{i} = p , \qquad (5.18)$$

and being

$$V_{+1} = \frac{mV_{dc}}{\sqrt{2}},$$
(5.19)

the averaged input current component can be expressed as

$$\bar{i} = \frac{3}{\sqrt{2}} \Big[m I_{+1} \cos \varphi_{+} + m I_{-1} \cos \left(2\omega t - \varphi_{-} \right) \Big].$$
(5.20)

The dc and the low-frequency input current components can be readily obtained from (5.20) as:

$$I_{dc} = \frac{3}{\sqrt{2}} m I_{+1} \cos \varphi_{+} , \qquad (5.21)$$

$$\tilde{i} = \frac{3}{\sqrt{2}} m I_{-1} \cos(2\omega t - \varphi_{-}).$$
(5.22)

Based on (5.22) the amplitude (or the peak value) of the low-frequency input current component is calculated as:

$$\tilde{I}_{pk} = \frac{3}{\sqrt{2}} m I_{-1} \,. \tag{5.23}$$

The low-frequency dc-link voltage component $\tilde{v}(t)$ can be determined on the basis of the corresponding current component \tilde{i} (5.22) and by considering the equivalent dc-link impedance Z_{2f} . Subscript 2f stands to highlight that the frequency at which the impedance is calculated is double-fundamental (i.e. 100 Hz).

The following equation for the low-frequency voltage ripple component is obtained:

$$\tilde{v} = \frac{3}{\sqrt{2}} m I_{1-} Z_{2f} \cos(2\omega t - \varphi_{-} + \varphi_{Z}).$$
(5.24)

Introducing (5.23) in (5.24) the amplitude of $\tilde{v}(t)$ is given by:

$$\tilde{V}_{pk} = \tilde{I}_{pk} Z_{2f} \,. \tag{5.25}$$

5.2.3 Assessment of current sequence components

In the following, real quantities that are of interest related to the three-phase system are phase currents $i_k(t)$, k = 1 to 3. As it was shown before, the current sequence compo-

nents can be calculated by applying the well-known Fortescue's transformation. Therefore, according to (5.7), the positive and negative sequence current components are given by:

$$\bar{I}_{+1} = \frac{1}{3} \Big(\bar{I}_1 + \alpha \bar{I}_2 + \alpha^{-1} \bar{I}_3 \Big),$$
(5.26)

$$\overline{I}_{-1} = \frac{1}{3} \left(\overline{I}_1 + \alpha^{-1} \overline{I}_2 + \alpha \overline{I}_3 \right), \tag{5.27}$$

where $\alpha = e^{j\frac{2\pi}{3}}$. Considering three-wire three-phase system, in the following analysis the zero-sequence component is equal to zero:

$$\bar{I}_0 = \frac{1}{3} \left(\bar{I}_1 + \bar{I}_2 + \bar{I}_3 \right) = 0.$$
(5.28)

The calculation of the sequence components by (5.26) and (5.27) requires complex mathematical operations and precise instantaneous current measurements, since both - the current phasor's magnitude and angle are involved. That is why many approximated formulas have been proposed in the literature aiming to obtain sequence components from measuring the RMS of the currents and applying only simple mathematics.

The average of three phase RMS currents can be considered as an approximation of the positive current sequence component, as it will be shown in the following, and it is calculated as:

$$I_{+1} \approx I_{avg} = \frac{1}{3} (I_1 + I_2 + I_3).$$
(5.29)

A simple formula giving a good approximation of the negative sequence current component and avoiding the use of complex algebra is proposed in [5.9] and [5.10]. It is expressed as:

$$I_{-1} = \sqrt{\frac{2}{3} \left[\left(I_1 - I_{avg} \right)^2 + \left(I_2 - I_{avg} \right)^2 + \left(I_3 - I_{avg} \right)^2 \right]}.$$
(5.30)

Equations (5.29) and (5.30) can be verified and proved by introducing the small deviations of the current phasors from the symmetric directions. For better understanding of the calculations, Fig. 5.1 shows the (complex) current phasors for a "small" unbalance. The angles β_2 and β_3 represent the deviations of the currents (dashed lines), assuming $\beta_1 = 0$. _



Fig. 5.1: Current phasors for a "small" unbalance.

Considering previous assumptions, the current phasors can be written as:

$$\overline{I}_1 = I_1,$$

$$\overline{I}_2 = I_2 \alpha^{-1} e^{j\beta_2},$$

$$\overline{I}_3 = I_3 \alpha e^{j\beta_3}.$$
(5.31)

Introducing (5.31) into (5.26) and (5.27), the positive and the negative sequence current components are rewritten as:

$$\bar{I}_{+1} = \frac{1}{3} \left(I_1 + e^{j\beta_2} I_2 + e^{j\beta_3} I_3 \right), \tag{5.32}$$

$$\overline{I}_{-1} = \frac{1}{3} \Big(I_1 + \alpha e^{j\beta_2} I_2 + \alpha^{-1} e^{j\beta_3} I_3 \Big).$$
(5.33)

Taking zero sequence component assumption (5.28) into account and considering (5.31), the following equation must be satisfied:

$$I_1 + \alpha^{-1} e^{j\beta_2} I_2 + \alpha e^{j\beta_3} I_3 = 0$$
(5.34)

Introducing the assumption of "small" current unbalance, the exponential functions can be approximated as:

$$e^{j\beta_2} = (1+j\beta_2),$$

 $e^{j\beta_3} = (1+j\beta_3),$
(5.35)

Replacing (5.35) in (5.34), the angles β_2 and β_3 can be calculated as:

$$\beta_2 = -\frac{I_1 + I_2 - 2I_3}{\sqrt{3}I_2}, \qquad (5.36)$$

$$\beta_3 = \frac{I_1 - 2I_2 + I_3}{\sqrt{3}I_3} \quad . \tag{5.37}$$

Introducing (5.36) and (5.37) into (5.32) and (5.33), yields to:

$$\overline{I}_{+1} = \frac{1}{3} \Big[I_1 + I_2 + I_3 - j\sqrt{3} (I_2 - I_3) \Big],$$
(5.38)

$$\bar{I}_{-1} = \frac{1}{3} \Big[2I_1 - I_2 - I_3 + j\sqrt{3} (I_2 - I_3) \Big].$$
(5.39)

The modulus of the two current sequence components (5.38) and (5.39) are:

$$I_{+1} \approx \frac{1}{3} \left(I_1 + I_2 + I_3 \right), \tag{5.40}$$

$$I_{-1} = \frac{2}{3}\sqrt{I_1^2 + I_2^2 + I_3^2 - I_1I_2 - I_1I_3 - I_2I_3}$$
(5.41)

It can be noted that equation (5.38) corresponds to (5.30) by considering (5.29).

Finally, an effort has been made in [5.11] to exactly calculate the positive- and negative- sequence components of a three-phase sinusoidal and unbalanced system on the basis of the RMS values of phase voltages. As said before, the expressions are developed for the voltages but since in this thesis the current sequence components are of interest, the equations are applied to the phase currents instead and shown in the following.

Namely, the positive and negative current sequence components are expressed as [5.11]:

$$I_{+1} = \sqrt{\frac{A_m^2 + \frac{4A_s^2}{\sqrt{3}}}{2}},$$

$$I_{-1} = \sqrt{\frac{A_m^2 - \frac{4A_s^2}{\sqrt{3}}}{2}},$$
(5.42)

where

$$A_m^2 = \frac{I_1^2 + I_2^2 + I_3^2}{3}, \qquad (5.44)$$

$$A_s^2 = \sqrt{p(p - I_1)(p - I_2)(p - I_3)}, \qquad (5.45)$$

$$p = \frac{I_1 + I_2 + I_3}{2} \,. \tag{5.46}$$

It has been confirmed that the exact and approximation formulas agree very closely for an unbalance up to 5%. By using the approximation formula the complex algebra is totally avoided and thus, it is a preferred way for calculating current sequence components. However, when unbalance increases the approximation formulas deviate from the true values and cannot be used for the precise calculations.

5.2.4 Definitions of the current unbalance level

Calculations of the voltage/current sequence components can be used for defining the unbalance level, known also in the literature as "unbalance factor". In the literature, there are four different methods for estimating the unbalance level. To mention again, the definitions usually refer to the voltage unbalance but the same can be applied to the currents what will be the case in following.

The first method requires measurements of both, current phasor's magnitude and angle and hence, the complex mathematical operations have to be performed. The other three are based on simple measurements of the RMS of phase currents and because of that are generally preferred.

The first method named "Symmetrical components method", defines the "true" unbalance factor (UF) as the ratio of the magnitude of the negative current sequence component to the magnitude of the positive current sequence component [5.12]. The percentage UF factor is expressed as:

$$UF(\%) = \frac{I_{-1}}{I_{+1}} \cdot 100 .$$
 (5.47)

The ANSI/NEMA-MG-14.34 standard defines unbalance as the ratio of the maximum (peak) deviation from the average phase RMS current to the average phase RMS current [5.1]. The unbalance factor is expressed as:

$$UF(\%) = \frac{I_{\max} - I_{avg}}{I_{avg}} \cdot 100$$
(5.48)

where I_{max} is the current with the maximum deviation from the average current (5.29).

Another accurate procedure to calculate the level of unbalance comes from CIGRE (International Council on Large Electric Systems) where only RMS values of the phase currents are required. The expression is given by [5.13]:

$$UF(\%) = \sqrt{\frac{1 - \sqrt{3 - 6\beta}}{1 + \sqrt{3 - 6\beta}}} \cdot 100, \qquad (5.49)$$

where

$$\beta = \frac{I_1^4 + I_2^4 + I_3^4}{\left(I_1^2 + I_2^2 + I_3^2\right)^2} \,. \tag{5.50}$$

Equation (5.49) can be used as another approximation of the negative current sequence component as:

$$I_{-1} = \sqrt{\frac{1 - \sqrt{3 - 6\beta}}{1 + \sqrt{3 - 6\beta}}} \cdot I_{+1}.$$
(5.51)

If the unbalance level is up to UF(%) = 5-10%, both expressions (5.41) and (5.51) give the same result for the negative current sequence component.

As the forth method for defining the unbalance level, the following expression is recommended by the IEEE [5.14]:

$$UF(\%) = \frac{I_{\max} - I_{\min}}{I_{avg}} \cdot 100, \qquad (5.52)$$

being I_{max} and I_{min} the maximum and the minimum value among the three-phase currents, respectively.

Unlike the voltage unbalance measurements, where all four definitions give practically the same results, for current unbalanced measurements the choice of definition is more important. It is mostly due to the tendency of the current unbalance to be an order of magnitude larger than voltage unbalance and the tendency of the fundamental current phasors to vary in angle. The final choice of current unbalance definition should be based on the type of the load. ANSI/NEMA definition is preferred in case of electronic loads, however, the symmetrical components definition is preferred in case of inductive or resistive load [5.12].

5.2.5 Simulation and experimental results

To validate the analytical results, numerical simulations and experimental verification have been performed. Reference is made to SPWM with modulation index set to 0.5 and the switching frequency set to 2.5 kHz. Numerical simulations have been carried out by Matlab/Simulink. For experimental tests, the same DSP controlled two-level threephase inverter shown in Fig. 3.12 (Chapter 3, section 3.6) was used. The dc source impedance was added between the external dc source and the dc-link, and has the following parameters: $R_{dc} = 5.5\Omega$ and $L_{dc} = 27$ mH. The dc-link metal film capacitor has the value $C_{dc} =$ 100μ F. Measurements have been taken using two star-connected three-phase induction motors. The parameters of the motors are measured by the LCR meter Agilent 4263B and they are shown in Table 5.1.

Table 5.1: Load parameters.

	0.5 kW 3-phase IM	2.2 kW 3-phase IM
R	26.8 Ω	3.16 Ω
L	103 mH	20 mH

The RMS values of the phase currents are measured by digital clamp meter and the measured values are shown in Table 5.2 together with the dc supply voltages. They are used in (5.34) and (5.35) to calculate the angles β_2 and β_3 , and in (5.39) to calculate the negative sequence current component. Obtained values, summarized in Table 5.3, are set in the simulations and the comparison between analytical, numerical and experimental results has been made.

Table 5.2: Measured current values and dc supply voltages for the two induction motors.

	0.5 kW 3-phase IM	2.2 kW 3-phase IM
	(φ=50°)	(φ=60°)
$V_{dc}\left(\mathrm{V} ight)$	98.8	50.2
$I_1(\mathbf{A})$	0.749	2.241
$I_2(\mathbf{A})$	0.763	2.256
$I_3(\mathbf{A})$	0.768	2.23

	0.5 kW 3-phase IM	2.2 kW 3-phase IM
	(φ=50°)	(φ=60°)
$I_{-1}(\mathbf{A})$	0.011372	0.01507
$I_{+1}(\mathbf{A})$	0.76	2.2423
β_2 (rad)	0.018182	-0.00948
β_3 (rad)	-0.00677	-0.01063

Table 5.3: Calculated current sequence components for the two induction motors.

The first set of measurements was done considering 0.5 kW three-phase induction motor (Table 5.1, left column). Simulation and experimental results are shown in Figs. 5.2 and 5.3, respectively. Fig. 5.4 shows the phase currents measured with the three LEM PR30 current probes for the purpose of verifying the RMS values measured with the digital clamp meter. Note that an accurate measurement procedure is essential to avoid any false readings or falsehoods in further analysis. Measured values are compared and the results are shown in Table 5.2.

Fig. 5.2 shows the instantaneous dc-link voltage with subtracted dc component (blue trace) together with its averaged value over the switching period (red trace). The averaged value is obtained applying moving average filter. Considering measured (Table 5.2) and calculated (Table 5.3) parameter values, the amplitude of the alternating dc-link voltage component corresponds to the one calculated by (5.23). In particular, $\tilde{v} = 0.615V$ for m=0.5. The unbalance factor (UF), calculated by (5.45) and parameters shown in Table 5.3, is: UF=1.5%.



Fig. 5.2: Simulation results: the total instantaneous dc-link voltage ripple with subtracted dc component (blue trace) and its averaged value over T_{sw} (red trace).

Experimental results are shown by Yokogawa DLM 2024 oscilloscope screenshot in Fig. 5.3. The upper (blue) trace presents the total dc-link voltage ripple with subtracted dc

value. It was done by using the "ac coupling" function of the oscilloscope. The bottom (pink) trace presents the low-frequency dc-link voltage ripple component, obtained by filtering the total dc-link voltage ripple with built-in low pass filter of the oscilloscope. The amplitude of the alternating dc-link voltage component is slightly lower comparing to the numerically obtained results. This is due to the small measuring mistake caused by non-ideal measuring equipment.



Fig. 5.3: Experimental results: the total dc-link voltage ripple in three-phase inverter (blue trace) and the low-frequency (filtered) voltage ripple component (pink trace).



Fig. 5.4: Phase currents when the load is 0.5 kW three-phase induction motor.

The second set of measurements was done considering 2.2 kW three-phase induction motor (Table 5.1, right column). Simulation and experimental results are shown in Figs. 5.5 and 5.6, respectively. The waveforms of the measured output currents are shown in Fig. 5.7. The same measuring equipment was used as for the previous case.

Fig. 5.5 shows the instantaneous dc-link voltage with subtracted dc component (blue trace) together with its averaged value over the switching period (red trace). Considering measured (Table 5.2) and calculated (Table 5.3) parameter values, the amplitude of the alternating dc-link voltage component corresponds to the one calculated by (5.39). In particular, $\tilde{v} = 0.81$ V for m=0.5. The unbalance factor (UF), calculated by (5.45) and parameters shown in Table 5.3, is: UF=0.68%.

Chapter 5



Fig. 5.5: Simulation results: the total instantaneous dc-link voltage ripple with subtracted dc component (blue trace) and its averaged value over T_{sw} (red trace).

Experimental results are obtained in the same way as for the first set of measurements. The results are shown in Fig. 5.6. A good matching between experimental, numerical and analytical results is achieved for all considered cases, confirming validity of the theoretical developments.



Fig. 5.6: Experimental results: the total dc-link voltage ripple in three-phase inverter (blue trace) and the low-frequency (filtered) voltage ripple component (pink trace).



Fig. 5.7: Output currents when the load is 2.2 kW three-phase induction motor.

5.3 Multiphase inverters with unbalanced load

The analysis shown in the previous section for three-phase system has been extended for general *n*-phase system with an odd number of phases. Configuration of the analyzed inverter topology is shown in Fig. 4.1, Chapter 4. Firstly, two transformations for multiphase systems are briefly reviewed, and the amplitudes of the low-frequency current and voltage ripple components are calculated. Simulations and experimental results are provided for five- and seven-phase inverters. The dc-link capacitor design has been proposed on the basis of the requirements referred to the double-fundamental voltage ripple component. General conclusion follows the analysis.

5.3.1 Extended transformations for multiphase systems

Let us assume that x_k are real quantities related to the *n*-phase system (k = 1 to *n*) with sinusoidal waveforms and the same frequency. Then, the *n* phasors \overline{X}_k are introduced as

$$\left[\bar{X}\right] = \left(\bar{X}_1, \bar{X}_2, \dots, \bar{X}_n\right),\tag{5.53}$$

according to

$$x_{k}(t) = \sqrt{2}X_{k}\cos(\omega t - \varphi_{k}) = \operatorname{Re}\left[\sqrt{2}\overline{X}_{k}e^{j\omega t}\right],$$
(5.54)

where X_k is the RMS value of $x_k(t)$ over the fundamental period $T=2\pi f$.

If the direct Fortescue's transformation is applied to (5.53), the *n* symmetrical sequence components are obtained:

$$\left[\bar{X}_{S}\right] = \left[\bar{X}_{0}, \bar{X}_{+1}, ..., \bar{X}_{+r}, \bar{X}_{-r}, ..., \bar{X}_{-1}\right],$$
(5.55)

being r = (n-1)/2 (for odd *n*), and the direct transformation defined as [5.8]:

$$\bar{X}_{\pm h} = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=1}^{n} \bar{X}_{k} \alpha^{\pm h(k-1)} , h = 0, 1, \dots, r$$
(5.56)

where $\alpha = e^{j\frac{2\pi}{n}}$.

The inverse transformation is given by:

$$\bar{X}_{k} = \sum_{h=-r}^{r} \bar{X}_{h} \alpha^{-h(k-1)}, k = 1, 2, \dots n .$$
(5.57)

The previous transformations can be rewritten in a compact matrix form as follows

$$\left[\bar{X}_{S}\right] = \left[\alpha\right]^{-1} \left[\bar{X}\right],\tag{5.58}$$

$$\left[\bar{X}\right] = \left[\alpha\right] \left[\bar{X}_{S}\right],\tag{5.59}$$

where,

$$\left[\alpha \right]^{-1} = \frac{1}{n} \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 & 1 & \cdots & 1 \\ 1 & \alpha & \alpha^2 & \cdots & \alpha^{n-1} \\ 1 & \alpha^2 & \alpha^4 & \cdots & \alpha^{n-2} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 1 & \alpha^{n-1} & \alpha^{n-2} & \cdots & \alpha \end{bmatrix},$$
(5.60)
$$\left[\alpha \right] = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 & 1 & \cdots & 1 \\ 1 & \alpha^{-1} & \alpha^{-2} & \cdots & \alpha \\ 1 & \alpha^{-2} & \alpha^{-4} & \cdots & \alpha^2 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 1 & \alpha & \alpha^2 & \cdots & \alpha^{n-1} \end{bmatrix}.$$
(5.61)

Another transformation most commonly used for analysing multiphase systems, due to the wider generality when compared to the Fortescue's, is space vector transformation. For *n*-phase system, space vector transformation and inverse transformation can be defined as [5.8]:

$$x_0 = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=1}^n x_k , \qquad (5.62)$$

$$\overline{x}_{h} = \frac{2}{n} \sum_{k=1}^{n} x_{k} \alpha^{h(k-1)}, h = 1, 2, \dots r,$$
(5.63)

$$x_k = x_0 + \sum_{h=1}^r \overline{x}_h \alpha^{h(k-1)}, k = 1, 2, \dots n.$$
(5.64)

In order to show the relation between two previously reviewed transformations, symmetrical sequence and space vector transformations, for n sinusoidal waveforms with the same frequency, the quantities given by (5.54) are rewritten in the following form [5.8]:

$$x_{k} = \frac{\sqrt{2}}{2} \left(\bar{X}_{k} e^{j\omega t} + \bar{X}_{k}^{*} e^{-j\omega t} \right), k = 1, 2, 3, \dots n.$$
(5.65)

Applying (5.62) and (5.63) to (5.65), and taking into account (5.56), yields

$$x_0 = \operatorname{Re}\left[\sqrt{2}\overline{X}_0 e^{j\omega t}\right],\tag{5.66}$$

$$\bar{x}_{h} = \sqrt{2}\bar{X}_{+h}e^{j\omega t} + \sqrt{2}\bar{X}_{-h}^{*}e^{-j\omega t}, h = 1, 2, \dots r.$$
(5.67)

Equation (5.67) is represented in Fig. 5.8. It is shown that each space vector component \overline{x}_h can be decomposed into two counter-rotating vectors, a direct and an inverse, equal in magnitude to $\sqrt{2}$ of the magnitude of positive and negative symmetrical components of the same sequence, respectively, and with the opposite angular speed $\pm \omega$.



Fig. 5.8: Space vector decomposition in counter rotating components [5.8].

5.3.2 Low-frequency current and voltage ripple analysis

With reference to *n*-phase inverters and space vector definition given by (5.63), the instantaneous power can be expressed in terms of space vector components as [5.8]:

$$p = nv_0 i_0 + \frac{n}{2} \sum_{h=1}^r \overline{v}_h \cdot \overline{i}_h, \ h=1, 2, \dots r.$$
(5.68)

It can be noticed that only the current and voltage components of the same sequence interact. Hence, the instantaneous power can be written as the sum of contributions of each sequence as:

$$p = \sum_{h=0}^{r} p_h , \qquad (5.69)$$

being

$$p_0 = n v_0 \dot{i}_0 \,, \tag{5.70}$$

$$p_h = \frac{n}{2} \overline{v}_h \cdot \overline{i}_h, h = 1, 2, \dots, r.$$
(5.71)

In considered case of sinusoidal and symmetrical phase voltages, only the direct rotating component of the voltage space vector is present, which is equal in magnitude to $\sqrt{2}$ of the magnitude of positive symmetrical component of the first sequence. Referring to (5.67) it can be expressed as:

$$\overline{v}_1 = \sqrt{2}\overline{V}_{+1}e^{j\omega t}.$$
(5.72)

Applying (5.67) to the phase current yields

$$\overline{i}_{h} = \sqrt{2}\overline{I}_{+h}e^{j\omega t} + \sqrt{2}\overline{I}_{-h}^{*}e^{-j\omega t}$$
(5.73)

Because of the interaction between current and voltage components of the same sequence, and due to the existence of only first positive voltage sequence component, the current component which will contribute to the instantaneous power is also the first sequence component. Introducing (5.72) and (5.73) in (5.68), the instantaneous power becomes

$$p = n \Big[V_{+1} I_{+1} \cos \varphi_{+1} + V_{+1} I_{-1} \cos \big(2\omega t - \varphi_{-1} \big) \Big].$$
(5.74)

Considering the input/output power balance as in (5.18), and taking into account (5.19), the averaged input current component can be expressed as

$$\overline{i} = \frac{n}{\sqrt{2}} \Big[m I_{+1} \cos \varphi_{+1} + m I_{-1} \cos \left(2\omega t - \varphi_{-1} \right) \Big].$$
(5.75)

The dc and low-frequency current components can be readily obtained from (5.75):

$$I_{dc} = \frac{n}{\sqrt{2}} m I_{+1} \cos \varphi_{+1}, \qquad (5.76)$$

$$\tilde{i} = \frac{n}{\sqrt{2}} m I_{-1} \cos(2\omega t - \varphi_{-1}).$$
(5.77)

Based on (5.77) and introducing unbalance factor (UF) defined in (5.47), the amplitude of the low frequency dc-link current component can be expressed as:

$$\tilde{I}_{pk} = n I_{+1} m \frac{UF}{\sqrt{2}}$$
 (5.78)

It can be noticed in (5.78) that the amplitude is increasing by increasing the number of phases and if the same output current is assumed. However, for a fair comparison of inverter topologies with different phase numbers, the same apparent output power should be considered. Under such consideration, the amplitude of the double-fundamental dc current ripple is affected only by the unbalance factor.

The low-frequency voltage ripple component can be calculated on the basis of (5.77) and by considering the dc-link equivalent impedance Z_{2f} as:

$$\tilde{v} = Z_{2f} \frac{n}{\sqrt{2}} m I_{-1} \cos\left(2\omega t - \varphi_{-1} + \varphi_{z}\right),$$
(5.79)

The amplitude or the peak value of \tilde{v} can be finally expressed as a function of unbalance factor as:

$$\tilde{V}_{pk} = n I_{+1} m \frac{UF}{\sqrt{2}} Z_{2f}$$
(5.80)

Note that equations (5.75) - (5.80) are practically the same as (5.20) - (5.25) obtained for the three-phase case. The only difference is the coefficient *n* (number of phases). The expression (5.80) is compact, however, comparing to the three-phase case the assessment of current sequence components becomes more complex for multiphase systems. In the following sub-section, some methods for calculating the negative sequence component, which is of interest for final low-frequency voltage ripple calculation, are shown.

5.3.3 Assessment of current sequence components

It has been shown above that the current sequence components can be calculated by applying the well-known Fortescue's transformation using (5.58) and (5.60). The drawbacks of applying such a method are complex mathematical operations and precise instantaneous measurements of current amplitudes and phase angles.

In general, each phase of a multiphase system can exhibit a different impedance on each sequence component of the current. Therefore, knowing the load impedances, the sequence current components \overline{I}_s can be also determined from the voltage sequence components \overline{V}_s and from equivalent impedance of each sequence circuit \overline{Z}_s as:

$$\left[\overline{V}\right] = \left[\overline{Z}\right] \left[\overline{I}\right],\tag{5.81}$$

Applying (5.57) leads to

$$\left[\overline{V}_{S}\right] = \left[\overline{Z}_{S}\right] \left[\overline{I}_{S}\right],\tag{5.82}$$

being $\left[\overline{Z}_{S}\right] = \left[\alpha^{-1}\right] \left[\overline{Z}\right] \left[\alpha\right]$.

Current sequence components can be finally calculated as:

$$\left[\bar{I}_{S}\right] = \left[\bar{Z}_{S}\right]^{-1} \left[\bar{V}_{S}\right]. \tag{5.83}$$

However, analytical calculation of a complex matrix $[\overline{Z}_S]^{-1}$ is cumbersome. More effective way to calculate sequence current components \overline{I}_S knowing the load impedances, and by applying (5.58), is to calculate current phasors by Millman's equation.

If *n*-phase system with a symmetrical star-connected load structure is considered, it can be assumed that load impedances \overline{Z}_k (*k*=1,2,...*n*) terminate in a common junction 0, Millman's theorem states that the voltage drop or potential difference between any point in the network (i.e. '0'') and the point 0 is equal to [5.15]:

$$\bar{V}_{00} = \frac{\sum_{k=1}^{n} \bar{V}_{k} \bar{Y}_{k}}{\sum_{k=1}^{n} \bar{Y}_{k}},$$
(5.84)

where \overline{V}_k is the voltage drop between the terminal k and the point 0 and $\overline{Y}_k = 1/\overline{Z}_k$ is the admittance corresponding to the k-th impedance. As it can be noticed all quantities are

complex numbers. Phasor currents can be further easily calculated from the following equation:

$$\bar{I}_{k} = \left(\bar{V}_{k} - \bar{V}_{00}\right)\bar{Y}_{k}.$$
(5.85)

5.3.4 Simulation and experimental results

In order to validate analytical developments for multiphase inverters with an odd number of phases supplying a slightly unbalanced load, comprehensive numerical simulations and experimental tests are conducted. Tests were performed for two-level five- and seven-phase inverters. Reference is made to SPWM with modulation index of 0.25 and 0.5. Switching frequency was set to 2 kHz. Simulation results have been obtained using Matlab/Simulink and all parameters were adjusted to corresponding values used in experiments. For experimental tests, the same setup shown in Fig. 4.16 (Chapter 4, section 4.6) was used. The two power phase angles (φ =20° and φ =70°) are arranged using *R-L* passive load. Parameters of the load are summarized in Table 4.3. The unbalance was introduced by adding resistor $R_0 = 4.5\Omega$ in one of the phases. The total dc-link capacitance is 209 µF, 0.03 Ω (ESR).

5.3.4.1 Five-phase

In case of five-phase inverter supplying five-phase *R*-*L* load, the dc-link voltage ripple across the dc-link capacitor was measured. Tektronix P5205A, 100 MHz, High Voltage differential probe was used. In order to verify the amplitude of the low-frequency voltage ripple component, the total dc-link voltage was filtered by applying a moving average filter in post-processing of the experimental data. Numerical simulations (pink traces) and experimental results (blue traces) are shown in Figs. 5.9-5.12, presenting the total dc-link voltage ripple and its double-fundamental (filtered) component. Two values of modulation index (*m*=0.25 and *m*=0.5) and two output phase angles (ϕ =20° and ϕ =70°) are considered. The RMS values of the phase currents, and calculated angles β_k $k=1,2, \dots n$ which represent the deviations of the currents from the symmetric directions, are shown in the Tables 5.4-5.7 for corresponding operational conditions. The current sequence components have been calculated by applying Fortescue's transformation. For that purpose, Matlab script has been created. This script produces all current sequence components, their RMS values and angles, and the amplitude of the low-frequency voltage ripple component. Finally, the unbalance factor is calculated. Parameters of interest and analytically calculated amplitudes of the low-frequency voltage ripple component in different operational conditions, are summarized in Table 5.8 together with the corresponding simulations and experimental results. Only the first current sequence components (+ and -) are introduced since they were of interest for the calculations.



Fig. 5.9: The total dc-link voltage ripple (a) and its low-frequency component (b): simulations (blue traces) and experimental results (pink traces) over a fundamental period for $\varphi = 20^\circ$, m = 0.25.





Fig. 5.10: The total dc-link voltage ripple (a) and its low-frequency component (b): simulations (blue traces) and experimental results (pink traces) over a fundamental period for $\varphi = 20^\circ$, m = 0.5.

Table 5.5: Measured phase currents RMS and angles' deviations for $\varphi = 20^{\circ}$ and m = 0.5.

φ= 20°, m=0.5	1	2	3	4	5
<i>I</i> (A)	3.995	3.789	3.757	3.873	3.356
β	0	0.28°	2.44°	3.84°	0.92°



Fig. 5.11: The total dc-link voltage ripple (a) and its low-frequency component (b): simulations (blue traces) and experimental results (pink traces) over a fundamental period for $\varphi = 70^\circ$, m = 0.25.





Fig. 5.12: The total dc-link voltage ripple (a) and its low-frequency component (b): simulations (blue traces) and experimental results (pink traces) over a fundamental period for $\varphi = 70^\circ$, m = 0.5.

Table 5.7: Measured phase currents RMS and angles' deviations for $\varphi = 70^{\circ}$ and m = 0.5.

φ= 70°, m=0.5	1	2	3	4	5
I(A)	1.1524	1.581	1.562	1.539	1.5405
β	0	3.07°	2.25°	2.75°	3.67°

For the reason of comparison, analytical, numerical and experimental results are summarized in Table 5.8. A good matching in the amplitude of the double-fundamental dclink voltage ripple is achieved, for all considered operational conditions, confirming the proposed analytical developments.

Table 5.8: Current sequence components of interest, unbalance factor and comparison within the dc

 voltage ripple amplitudes for different operational conditions.

	φ =	20°	φ =	70°
	m = 0.25 $m = 0.5$		<i>m</i> = 0.25	<i>m</i> = 0.5
$I_{+1}(\mathbf{A})$	2.0427	3.7446	0.7866	1.5489
<i>I</i> - ₁ (A)	0.0742	0.1291	0.0071	0.0225
UF (%)	3.6	3.45	0.91	1.45
Calc. \tilde{I}_{pk}	0.065	0.228	0.0063	0.04
Calc. \tilde{V}_{pk}	0.423	1.479	0.04	0.25
Sim. \tilde{V}_{pk}	0.42	1.48	0.04	0.25
Exp. \tilde{V}_{pk}	0.4	1.4	0.043	0.24

5.3.4.2 Seven-phase

In case of seven-phase inverter supplying seven-phase *R*-*L* load, the dc-link voltage ripple across the dc-link capacitor has been measured. Measurements are taken and the experimental data are post-processed in the same way as explained before for five-phase inverter. Numerical simulations (pink traces) and experimental results (blue traces) are shown in Figs. 5.13-5.16, presenting the total dc-link voltage ripple and its filtered double-fundamental component. Four different operational conditions are considered. The RMS values of the phase currents, and calculated angles $\beta_{k, k}=1,2, \dots n$, are shown in the Tables 5.9-5.12 for corresponding cases. For a sake of comparison, parameters of interest and the calculated and measured amplitudes of the low-frequency voltage ripple component in different operational conditions are summarized in Table 5.13.



Fig. 5.13: The total dc-link voltage ripple (a) and its low-frequency component (b): simulations (blue traces) and experimental results (pink traces) over a fundamental period for $\varphi = 20^\circ$, m = 0.25.





Fig. 5.14: The total dc-link voltage ripple (a) and its low-frequency component (b): simulations (blue traces) and experimental results (pink traces) over a fundamental period for $\varphi = 20^{\circ}$, m = 0.5.

Table 5.10: Measured phase currents RMS and angles' deviations for $\phi = 20^{\circ}$ and m = 0.5.

φ= 20°, m=0.5	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
$I(\mathbf{A})$	3.772	3.702	3.646	3.636	3.663	3.727	3.272
β	0	0.48°	0.073°	0.884°	1.656°	1.927°	1.45°



Fig. 5.15: The total dc-link voltage ripple (a) and its low-frequency component (b): simulations (blue traces) and experimental results (pink traces) over a fundamental period for $\varphi = 70^{\circ}$, m = 0.25.





Fig. 5.16: The total dc-link voltage ripple (a) and its low-frequency component (b): simulations (blue traces) and experimental results (pink traces) over a fundamental period for $\varphi = 70^{\circ}$, m = 0.5.

Table 5.12: Measured phase currents RMS and angles' deviations for $\phi = 70^{\circ}$ and m = 0.5.

φ= 70°, m=0.5	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
$I(\mathbf{A})$	1.51	1.563	1.5606	1.5464	1.5344	1.5316	1.5397
β	0	3.49°	2.95°	2.73°	3.006°	3.377°	3.82°

Analytically calculated dc low-frequency voltage ripple amplitudes are shown together with simulations and experimental results in Table 5.13. Also, the first current sequence components and unbalance factor are calculated for all considered operational conditions. A satisfactory matching is achieved between the results confirming the analytical developments.

	φ =	20°	φ=	70°
	m = 0.25 $m = 0.5$		<i>m</i> = 0.25	<i>m</i> = 0.5
$I_{+1}(\mathbf{A})$	2.0474	3.6306	0.7842	1.5405
<i>I</i> - ₁ (A)	0.042	0.0693	0.0083	0.0157
UF (%)	2.05	1.91	1.06	1.02
Calc. \tilde{I}_{pk}	0.052	0.1715	0.0103	0.0388
Calc. \tilde{V}_{pk}	0.33	1.11	0.05	0.25
Sim. \tilde{V}_{pk}	0.35	1.1	0.048	0.25
Exp. \tilde{V}_{pk}	0.3	1	0.047	0.024

Table 5.13: Current sequence components of interest, unbalance factor and comparison within the dc voltage ripple amplitudes for different operational conditions.

5.4 Dc-link capacitor design based on low-frequency voltage ripple component

In this section, design of the dc-link capacitor in multiphase inverters is proposed considering requirements referred to the amplitude of the double-fundamental frequency dc voltage ripple component calculated in the previous sections.

According to (5.80), the dc-link low-frequency voltage ripple component depends on the total dc link impedance calculated at the double-fundamental frequency and on the unbalanced factor. The total dc-link impedance is the equivalent of parallel dc source impedance and the reactance of the dc-link capacitor. In this thesis the dc-link equivalent impedance is modelled in the same way for all analyzed voltage source inverter topologies and the expression is given by (2.13) in Chapter 2 (sub-section 2.3.1). Therefore, the amplitude of the corresponding dc-link voltage ripple is expressed as:

$$\tilde{V}_{pk} = \frac{n}{\sqrt{2}} m I_{+1} UF \frac{1}{2\omega C} \sqrt{\frac{R^2 + (2\omega L)^2}{R^2 + \left(2\omega L - \frac{1}{2\omega C}\right)^2}},$$
(5.86)

where *R* and *L* are the dc source resistance and inductance, respectively, *C* is the dc-link capacitance, and $\omega = 2\pi f$, *f* is the fundamental frequency.

The expression given by (5.86) can be used for dc-link capacitor sizing. However, it is a rather bulky calculation. As already discussed in Chapter 2, a reasonable simplification can be introduced having a high dc source impedance. In such a case the dc link equivalent impedance can be simplified and expressed as:

$$Z_{2f} \approx \frac{1}{2\omega C} . \tag{5.87}$$

Therefore, under the aforementioned assumption for a dc source, the amplitude of the double-fundamental dc voltage ripple (5.86) can be simplified as:

$$\tilde{V}_{pk} = \frac{n}{\sqrt{2}} m I_{+1} UF \frac{1}{2\omega C} .$$
(5.88)

Finally, given \tilde{V}_{pk} and the unbalance factor as a condition, the dc-link capacitor can be designed using the following expression:

$$C \ge \frac{n}{\sqrt{2}} m I_{+1} UF \frac{1}{2\omega \tilde{V}_{pk}} \quad .$$

$$(5.89)$$

It can be concluded that from the point of view of the dc-link capacitor sizing, if the same apparent power is considered within compared multiphase inverter topologies, there are no benefits in increasing the number of phases because the amplitude of the low-frequency voltage ripple component depends only on the level of unbalance (UF).

5.5 Discussion

In this chapter, a small degree of unbalance that is present in practice in every standard multiphase ac motor has been discussed and its effect on the dc-link variables has been studied. Namely, the unbalance in the load, although it is in order of a few percent in considered cases, introduces a double-fundamental frequency instantaneous power oscillation. This reflects in current and voltage low-frequency ripple on the dc-link inverter side. Therefore, the amplitudes of the two low-frequency ripple components are calculated. For the reason of analytical developments Fortescue's and space vector transformations are briefly reviewed.

Based on the amplitude of corresponding voltage ripple component simple guideline for designing the dc-link capacitor is proposed. As a simpler but more utilized case, the analysis are firstly carried out for the three-phase inverter. Further on, the extension to multiphase inverters with an odd number of phases is provided as well. The numerical simulations and experimental tests have been performed for five- and seven-phase inverters considering different operational conditions. Correctness of analytical developments and calculations is confirmed for all the cases.

References

- [5.1] A. von Jouanne, B. Banerjee, "Assessment of Voltage Unbalance," *IEEE Trans. on Power Delivery*, vol. 16, pp. 782-790, 2001.
- [5.2] J. D. Kueck, D. A. Casada, and P. J. Otaduy, "A comparison of two energy efficient motors," *IEEE Trans. Energy Conversion*, vol. 13, no. 2, pp. 140–146, June 1998.
- [5.3] M. H. Albadi, A. S. Al Hinai, A. H. Al-Badi, M. S. Al Riyami, S. M. Al Hinai, and R. S. Al Abri, "Unbalance in power systems: Case study", *in Proc. of IEEE International Conference on Industrial Technology, ICIT*, Mar 2015, Seville, Spain.
- [5.4] ANSI C84.1: American National Standard for Electric Power Systems and Equipment - Voltage Ratings (60 Hz), 2006.
- [5.5] IEC 60038: IEC standard voltages, 2002.
- [5.6] V. B. Bhavaraju, P. N. Enjeti, "An active line conditioner to balance voltages in a three-phase system," IEEE Trans. On Industry Applications, vol. 32, no. 2, pp. 287-292, March/April 1996.
- [5.7] C. L. Fortescue, "Method of symmetrical co-ordinates applied to the solution of polyphase networks," *Trans. Amer. Inst. Electr. Eng.*, vol. 37, no. 2, pp. 1027–1140, Jul. 1918.
- [5.8] G. Grandi, G. Serra, and A. Tani, "General analysis of multi-phase systems based on space vector approach," in Proc. of IEEE 12th Int. Power Electronics and Motion Control Conference, PEMC, Sept. 2006, Portoroz, Slovenia.
- [5.9] P. Pillay and M. Manyage, "Definitions of voltage unbalance," *IEEE Power Eng. Rev. Mag.*, vol. 5, pp. 50-51, May 2001.
- [5.10] P. Pillay, P. Hofman and M. Manyage, "Derating of induction motors operating with a combination of unbalanced voltages and over- or undervoltages," *IEEE Trans. on Energy Conversion*, vol. 17, no. 4, Dec. 2002.
- [5.11] J. A. L. Ghijselen and A. P. M. Van den Bossche, "Exact voltage unbalance assessment without phase measurements," *IEEE Trans. on Power Systems*, vol. 20, no. 1, Feb. 2005.
- [5.12] A. McEachern, "A brief discussion of unbalance definitions," *PSL Application Note AN 2009-04*, May 2009.
- [5.13] A. Robert and J. Marquet, "Assessing Voltage Quality with relation to Harmonics, Flicker and Unbalance," *WG 36.05, Paper 36-203, CIGRE 92.*

- [5.14] A. de L. F. Filho, M. A. de Oliveira, and M. G. da S. Pinto, "A computational tool to analyze, quantify and classify voltage imbalance in electrical power systems," in Proc. of IEEE/PES Transm. & Distrib. Conference and Exposition: Latin America, pp. 1-6, 2006.
- [5.15] J. Millman, "A useful network theorem," *in Proc. of the IRE*, vol. 28, no. 9, Sept. 1940, pp. 413-417.

Chapter 6 Conclusion and Outlook

6.1 Summary and conclusions

This thesis deals with the analysis, development, numerical and experimental verifications of dc-link low-frequency and switching frequency voltage ripple components in two-level single-phase and multiphase voltage source inverters. The analysis is carried out under balanced and slightly unbalanced load conditions. Two most popular PWM techniques, sinusoidal and space vector, are considered for the multiphase inverters with an odd number of phases. Although some general steps in the dc-link current and voltage ripple analysis are described, single-, three-, five- and seven- phase cases are specifically considered for theoretical findings.

Based on the literature survey, the analysis of the dc-link inverter variables in all examined inverter topologies is mostly based on the RMS calculations. However, there was a lack of analysis related to the peak-to-peak dc voltage ripple behavior. In this thesis, the peak-to-peak dc-link voltage ripple envelopes are calculated as a function of operational conditions: modulation index, the amplitude of output current, and power phase angle. The analysis has been based on the corresponding dc current components and by considering a non-ideal dc source. Maximum of the peak-to-peak voltage ripple amplitude is determined as a function of modulation index for different output phase angles and, based on it, the dclink capacitor design is proposed. Obtained equations for dc-link capacitor sizing are simple and can be readily applied. Furthermore, they allow the more stringent requirements on the dc-link capacitor size reduction to be met.

The comparison between different two-level multiphase inverter topologies in terms of the peak-to-peak voltage switching ripple envelope has been carried out. It has been found that, from the point of view of the dc-link capacitor size and by considering the same apparent power among compared inverters, there are no benefits in increasing the number of phases greater than seven since the maximum peak-to-peak value of the dc voltage switching ripple amplitude saturates for the higher number of phases.

It has been verified that theoretically balanced loads, such as multiphase ac motors, show in practice a certain degree of current unbalance, in order of a few percent, introducing a small instantaneous power oscillation at double-fundamental frequency. This reflects in current and voltage low-frequency ripple on the dc-link inverter side. For the reason of analyzing this ripple component, the current sequence components are calculated. Based on the negative current sequence component and by considering the equivalent dc-link impedance calculated at the dominant double-fundamental frequency, the amplitude of the corresponding dc-link voltage ripple component is calculated. The investigation is firstly done for three-phase inverters, but the extension to the general *n*-phase inverters is provided as well. Finally, the design of the dc-link capacitor in multiphase inverters is proposed considering requirements referred to dc voltage ripple at double-fundamental frequency.

For all theoretical developments, numerical and experimental verifications are provided, showing always a good matching between measured dc voltage ripple and the estimated amplitude.

6.2 Outlook

As a future research perspective, the complete extension of the dc-link analysis to multilevel inverter topologies can be considered. Some preliminary analysis has been already developed within the working group for neutral point clamped (NPC) and flying capacitors (FC) configurations. The attention has been mostly paid to the low-frequency voltage ripple component. However, it would be of interest to relate the size of the capacitors to the corresponding voltage switching ripple component, for the reasons given in previous chapters, and by following the methodology presented in this thesis.

The analysis related to the dc-link inverter variables can be extended considering also discontinuous and/or asymmetrical modulation techniques, and their possible effect on the maximum peak-to-peak voltage ripple amplitude can be examined.

As another possible future work direction, the extension of the proposed analysis to voltage source inverters which comprise rectifiers or switching dc supplies, could be also considered. In that case, the analysis becomes more complex since the dc-link ripple components introduced by both converters are interfering. Therefore, their mutual contribution should be taken into consideration.

Although the contribution of the dc-link capacitor's parasitic elements was found to be almost negligible for the considered cases in this thesis, in certain applications and types of the capacitor, the effect of above mentioned elements on capacitor's performance can be significant. Therefore, in such applications, the analysis of the dc-link variables should be extended taking into consideration the equivalent series resistance and/or the equivalent series inductance.

Finally, further research should also attempt to simplify the calculation of the current sequence components in multiphase systems. Although the sequence components can be calculated by applying the well-known Fortescue's transformation, the mathematical
operations are complex and precise instantaneous current measurements are required. It would be interesting to find a simpler way for calculating the sequence components, enabling a more effective analysis of multiphase inverters under unbalanced load conditions.